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INTRODUCTION  

 
 Following the declaration of the ówar on terrorô in September 2001, the U.S.  government 

led the way in constructing a global system of detention, kidnapping and prisoner transfers 

(extraordinary rendition), and torture.  The system involved the detention and torture, in secret, 

of hundreds of detainees, in scores of detention sites around the world.   Many, perhaps most 

citizens are not aware of this program, but it is a system that in fact existed, was always contrary 

to international and domestic laws, and the dissemination of knowledge about the program is one 

step on the way to taking responsibility for it and for ways to prevent it in the future. 

Extraordinary renditions between detention sites in a range of countries have been carried 

out using a variety of aircraft supplied by private contractors.  The narratives of the victims of 

torture and cruel, inhuman, or degrading treatment that follow in this compilation were 

extraordinary rendered on airplanes operated by Aero Contractors, headquartered in North 

Carolina, and that flew out of Johnston County Airport, a political subdivision of the state of 

North Carolina, and the North Carolina Global Transpark, a state-created industrial 

transportation park. 

The detention system relied upon by the government was outside the law.  The 

extraordinary rendition and prison transfers facilitated by airplanes that flew out of North 

Carolina were illegal.  Torture is illegal. 

These narratives were compiled with the hope that the revelation of circumstances and 

egregious violations suffered by the victims would yield transparency, repair and restoration as 

required by the law. 

 



 

2 
  

Abu óAbdallah 

 
I. Introduction  

1. The CIA has closely guarded information regarding Abu óAbdallahôs rendition and 

detention. As a result, little is known for certain about his ordeal in American custody.1 

Nonetheless, given the information that is available about the Rendition, Detention, and 

Interrogation (RDI) program in general, it is likely that óAbdallah was subjected to torture as 

well as extralegal detention and extraordinary rendition.  

II. Detention 

A. Possible Capture and Detention in Iraq 

2. Another detainee, Khaled al-Maqtari,2 has testified about a prisoner named Abu 

óAbdallah al-Saudi.3 If the man he described is the same person as óAbdallah, and his testimony 

is correct, óAbdallah was captured in Iraq in February 2004. He was then held in secret detention 

in Iraq until his extraordinary rendition.4 

B. Rendition from Iraq to Afghanistan 

3. Al -Maqtari has stated that óAbdallah arrived at the secret prison DETENTION SITE 

COBALT 6-8 weeks after he did, so in March-April 2004. This time frame matches the dates 

that the Senate Select Committee on Intelligenceôs Torture Report suggests that óAbdallah 

entered CIA custody, which lends support to the theory that the man al-Maqtari described is the 

same óAbdallah who appears in the Torture Report.5 

                                                      
1 RENDITION PROJECT, Abu Abdallah. https://www.therenditionproject.org.uk/prisoners/abu-abdallah.html. 
2 Al -Maqtari is also profiled in this briefing book. 
3 RENDITION PROJECT, supra note 1. 
4 Id. 
5 Id. 
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4. Based on this information, the Rendition Project identified a flight on 12 March 2004 that 

rendered óAbdallah from Iraq to Afghanistan.6 

5. The plane that rendered óAbdallah was registered as N313P and operated by Aero 

Contractors, a company headquartered in Johnston County, North Carolina. N313P left its home 

base, Kinston Regional Airport, in the evening on 6 March 2004. From there, it flew to 

Washington Dulles International Airport and then to Tripoli, Libya.7 Before rendering óAbdallah, 

it completed the rendition of two Libyan dissidents from Thailand to Libya.8 After that tripïïand 

a 48-hour stay in a five-star hotel for its crewïïthe aircraft flew to Baghdad, Iraq, where it 

picked up óAbdallah and two other detainees and transported them to Afghanistan.9 

C. Secret Detention 

6. óAbdallah was detained in the CIAôs secret prison system for well over two years.10 

Khaled al-Maqtariôs testimony indicates that at least some of that time was spent at 

DETENTION SITE COBALT in Afghanistan.11 However, the U.S. government has not released 

any further details about his detention or treatment.12  If, in fact, the government has no 

information on the condition or whereabouts of óAbdallah, a person the CIA captured, 

extraordinarily rendered, and detained without due process of law, it is an additional indication 

of the governmentôs total lack of regard for its international human rights obligations and the 

most rudimentary concerns about the inherent dignity of human life. 

D. Possible Transport to Saudi Arabia 

                                                      
6 Id. 
7 RENDITION PROJECT, Rendition Circuit: 6-14 March 2004. 

https://www.therenditionproject.org.uk/flights/renditions/N313P-040306.html. 
8 The dissidents, Abdel Hakim Belhadj and Fatima Bouchar, are also profiled in this briefing book.  
9 RENDITION PROJECT, supra note 7. 
10 SENATE SELECT COMMITTEE ON INTELLIGENCE, Committee Study of the Central Intelligence Agencyôs Detention 

and Interrogation Program 460 (2014). 
11 RENDITION PROJECT, supra note 1. 
12 Id. 
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7. If óAbdallah is indeed the man described by al-Maqtari, he was likely transported back to 

Saudi Arabia, his home country, when he left CIA custody. A flight from Afghanistan to Saudi 

Arabia between 29 July and 1 August 2006, by an aircraft registered as N17D, may have brought 

óAbdallah to Saudi Arabia. 13 

8. Apart from this possibility, nothing is publicly known about óAbdallahôs location or fate.  

E. Likelihood of Torture 

9. The CIA has refused to release information about óAbdallahôs treatment and the human 

rights violations undoubtedly inflicted on him during his time in its custody. Furthermore, if he 

has survived his ordeal, it must be assumed that óAbdallah has not been capable of discussing the 

details of his suffering; experts on the psychological consequences of torture have noted that the 

extremely traumatic nature of torture undermines victimsô ability to speak about their 

experiences. In the face of government silence and the psychological impact of torture, therefore, 

public knowledge about óAbdallahôs abuse is limited. 

10. However, the public documentation that does exist demonstrates that each and every case 

of extraordinary rendition entailed torture, abuse, humiliation, and suffering. Based on the known 

practices and protocols of the RDI program, it is justifiable to conclude that óAbdallah was 

subjected to walling, isolation, stress positions, extremes of temperature, sleep deprivation, and 

beatings. 

III. Laws Condemning Extraordinary Rendition, Torture, and Detention 

11. As noted above, in spite of the CIAôs failure to properly disclose the details of 

óAbdallahôs detention, available knowledge about the RDI program strongly indicates that he 

suffered egregious rights violations, including torture.  Based on the pattern and practices of the 

                                                      
13 Id. 



 

5 
  

CIAôs extraordinary rendition program, the following section proceeds with the assumption that 

óAbdallah suffered the tortures and other rights violations typically experienced by CIA 

detainees.  

A. International Law Violations 

12. The prohibition on torture, which is considered ñone of the most universally recognized 

human rights,ò 14 was violated by óAbdallahôs treatment. The prohibition on torture is a 

peremptory norm; as such, all states must adhere to it in all circumstances. Refusal to comply 

cannot be justified by appeals to the fact that a state did not consent to uphold the prohibition or 

that a particular situation warranted an exception to the rule. 15 Whatever the United Statesô 

intelligence and security concerns, therefore, they do not legitimize derogation from the 

prohibition on torture. 

13. The United States has also ratified a number of treaties that forbid torture, including the 

Universal Declaration of Human Rights (UDHR), the International Covenant on Civil and 

Political Rights (ICCPR), and the Convention Against Torture (CAT). All of these treaties have 

been violated by the United Statesô abuse of óAbdallah. 

14. According to both the UDHR and the ICCPR, ñNo one shall be subjected to torture or to 

cruel, inhuman or degrading treatment or punishment.ò16 The ICCPR further dictates that states 

must adhere to the prohibition on torture at all circumstances, even during public emergency. 

óAbdallahôs torture was a violation of both of these treaties. 

                                                      
14 INTERNATIONAL JUSTICE RESOURCE CENTER, Torture, http://www.ijrcenter.org/thematic-research-guides/torture/. 
15 Id. 
16 Universal Declaration of Human Rights, G.A. Res. 217A (III), U.N. Doc. A/810 at 71 (1948), at art. 5. 

[Hereinafter UDHR]; International Covenant on Civil and Political Rights, art. 4, Dec. 16, 1966, S. Treaty Doc. No. 

95-20, 6 I.L.M. 368 (1967), 999 U.N.T.S. 171. [Hereinafter ICCPR]. 
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15. The CAT, which the U.S. ratified in 1994, 17 also prohibits torture.18 It further states that 

the prohibition holds even in ñexceptionalò circumstances.19 Once again, this treaty has been 

violated by the torture of óAbdallah.  

16. Other provisions of the CAT have also been violated by óAbdallahôs treatment. For 

example, the CAT requires the United States to  

take effective legislative, administrative, judicial, or other measures to prevent 

acts of torture in any territory under its jurisdiction and that no state that is a party 

to it may expel, return, or extradite a person to another state where there are 

substantial grounds for believing that he would be in danger of being subjected to 

torture.20 

 

17. As a result of this provision, the United States is obliged to prevent both torture within its 

borders and the extradition of people to be tortured in other countries. 21  

18. Moreover, the Supremacy Clause of the U.S. Constitution dictates that each individual 

state must adhere to treaties ratified by the United States. North Carolina is therefore bound by 

the CAT to take appropriate measures to prevent torture, regardless of whether it is inflicted 

inside or outside of the United States. 22 

19. The CAT refers to ñadministrativeò preventative measures, and these represent the course 

of action that North Carolina must take. In particular, the stateôs political entities and 

subdivisions must revoke or discontinue Aero Contractorsô ñflying permits, licenses, and 

                                                      
17 UNITED NATIONS, Status of Treaties: Convention Against Torture and Other Cruel, Inhuman or Degrading 

Treatment or Punishment, https://treaties.un.org/Pages/ViewDetails.aspx?src=IND&mtdsg_no=IV-

9&chapter=4&lang=en. 
18 Convention against Torture and Other Cruel, Inhuman or Degrading Treatment or Punishment art. 1, Dec. 10, 

1984, 1465 U.N.T.S. 113 [hereinafter CAT]. 
19 CAT, supra note 18, at art. 2. 
20 CAT, supra note 18, at art. 2. 
21 Deborah M. Weissman et al., Obligations and Obstacles: Holding North Carolina Accountable for Extraordinary 

Rendition and Torture, UNC SCH. L. IMMIGRATION &  HUM. RTS. POL. CLINIC 1, 37 (2013), 

http://www.law.unc.edu/documents/clinicalprograms/obligationsandobstaclesncreport.pdf [hereinafter Weissman et 

al., Obligations and Obstacles]. 
22 Weissman et al., Obligations and Obstacles, supra note 21. 



 

7 
  

leases.ò23 Because Aero facilitated the extradition of people to be tortured, North Carolina is 

required to take those measures pursuant to the CAT. 

20. In addition to torture, óAbdallah was subjected to extraordinary rendition, a process 

wherein he was abducted and transported without his consent or any legal proceedings. This act 

violated another treaty ratified by the United States, the Protocol to Prevent, Suppress, and 

Punish Trafficking in Persons, Especially Women and Children, Supplementing the United 

Nations Convention Against Transnational Organized Crime, (ñthe Protocolò).24 The Protocol 

bans ñtrafficking in persons,ò which it defines as: 

the recruitment, transportation, transfer, harboring or receipt of persons, by means 

of the threat or use of force or other forms of coercion, of abduction, of fraud, of 

deception, of the abuse of power or of a position of vulnerability or of the giving or 

receiving of payments or benefits to achieve the consent of a person having control 

over another person, for the purpose of exploitation. Exploitation shall include, at 

a minimum, the exploitation of the prostitution of others or other forms of sexual 

exploitation, forced labor or services, slavery or practices similar to slavery, 

servitude or the removal of organs. 25 

 

21. óAbdallahôs extraordinary rendition violated the Protocolôs prohibition on human 

trafficking. 

22. Other provisions of the Protocol have also been violated. One such provision describes 

human trafficking victimsô entitlements, which include ñthe provision of: (a) Appropriate 

housing; (b) Counselling and information, in particular as regards their legal rights, in a language 

that the victims of trafficking in persons can understand; (c) Medical, psychological and material 

assistance; and (d) Employment, educational and training opportunities.ò26 óAbdallah, who is 

                                                      
23 Id. 
24 UNITED NATIONS, Status of Treaties: a Protocol to Prevent, Suppress and Punish Trafficking in Persons, 

Especially Women and Children, supplementing the United Nations Convention against Transnational Organized 

Crime. https://treaties.un.org/pages/ViewDetails.aspx?src=TREATY&mtdsg_no=XVIII-12-

a&chapter=18&clang=_en. 
25 U.N.T.S. vol. 2237, Doc. A/55/383, p. 319, https://www.osce.org/odihr/19223?download=true.  
26 U.N.T.S. vol. 2237, Doc. A/55/383, supra note 25, at 3-4. 

https://www.osce.org/odihr/19223?download=true
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owed these entitlements as a victim of human trafficking, has been denied them. This is a 

violation of international law.  

23. In addition, the Protocol dictates, ñEach State Party shall ensure that its domestic legal 

system contains measures that offer victims of trafficking in persons the possibility of obtaining 

compensation for damage suffered.ò27 óAbdallah has not had the opportunity to seek 

compensation for his suffering; this is a violation of the Protocol. 

B. Federal Law Violations 

24. Pursuant to the Supremacy Clause, any international treaty ratified by the United States is 

equivalent to a federal statute. The international law violations described above, therefore, are 

also federal law violations. 28 

25. Several other federal laws were violated by the United States and Aero Contractors. For 

instance, the Eighth Amendment of the U.S. Constitution prohibits ñcruel and unusual 

punishments,ò 29 a category which certainly includes torture. óAbdallahôs treatment was therefore 

in violation of the Constitution. 

26. The lack of accountability for óAbdallahôs torture is also a federal crime. The Federal 

Torture Statute (FTS) mandates that anyone who ñcommits or attempts to commit tortureò 

outside the United States ñshall be fined under this title or imprisoned not more than 20 years, or 

bothò.30 No American public official has ever been prosecuted for óAbdallahôs torture, which is a 

violation of the FTS. 

27. Some federal laws provide mechanisms to achieve accountability for óAbdallahôs ordeal. 

For example, under the Alien Tort Statute (ATS), non-U.S. citizens who are the victims of 

                                                      
27 U.N.T.S. vol. 2237, Doc. A/55/383, supra note 25, at 4. 
28 Weissman et al., supra note 21, at 36. 
29 U.S. CONST. amend VIII 
30 18 U.S. Code § 2340A. 
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egregious human rights violations can sue government officials and private actors in U.S. courts, 

even if the violations did not occur in the U.S. 31 In 2010, five former detainees used the ATS as 

grounds to sue the United States and Jeppesen Dataplan,32 a company that provided ñflight 

planning and logistical support services to the aircraft and crew on all of the flights transporting 

each of the five plaintiffs among the various locations where they were detained and allegedly 

subjected to torture.ò33 A precedent therefore exists for using the ATS to prosecute both the 

United States and Aero Contractors for their respective roles in the RDI program. 

28. The Torture Victims Protection Act (TVPA) of 1991 is another potential path to 

accountability for óAbdallahôs abuse. The TVPA was established to help fulfill the United Statesô 

obligations under the UN Charter and other mechanisms for the protection of international 

human rights by implementing ña civil action for recovery of damages from an individual who 

engages in torture or extrajudicial killing.ò34 The TVPA grants óAbdallah the capacity to seek 

compensation for the damages he suffered in U.S. custody.  

C. North Carolina Law Violations 

29. In operating the plane that extraordinarily rendered óAbdallah, Aero Contractors 

participated in the violation of a number of state laws. As a result, North Carolina is in the 

unique position of being able to hold the company accountable on a state level for its egregious 

violations of human rights. 

                                                      
31 CTR. CONST. RTS. The Alien Tort Statute: Protecting the Law that Protects Human Rights, para. 1 (2013), 

https://ccrjustice.org/home/get-involved/tools-resources/fact-sheets-and-faqs/alien-tort-statute-protecting-law-

protects [https://perma.cc/2P93-APSH]. 
32 The five individuals who stood as the Plaintiffs-Appellants in the 9th Circuit opinion were Binyam Mohamed, 

Abou Elkassim Britel, Ahmed Agiza, Mohamed Farag Ahmad Bashmilah, and Bisher Al-Rawi. Narratives written 

about all of them, with the exception of Agiza, have also been included in this collective report. See Brief of 

Plaintiffs-Appellants, Mohamed et al., v. Jeppesen Dataplan, No. 08-15693 (9th Cir. Sept. 8, 2010).  
33 Id. at 13526.  
34 Torture Victim Protection Act of 1991, Pub. L. No. 102-256, pmbl., 106 Stat. 73, 73 (1992).  
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30. Aeroôs contribution to the RDI program violated several provisions of the North Carolina 

Constitution. For example, Article I, Ä 19, states, ñno person shall be taken, imprisoned, or 

disseized of his freehold, liberties or privileges, or outlawed, or exiled, or in any manner 

deprived of his life, liberty, or property . . .ò35 Other provisions of the Constitution prohibit 

kidnapping, involuntary servitude, trafficking, and criminal conspiracy. Aero Contractors 

directly participated in or facilitated all of these crimes by operating planes used for 

extraordinary rendition.36 The company, therefore, engaged in multiple violations of the North 

Carolina Constitution. 

31. Section 14-39 of the North Carolina General Statutes criminalizes both kidnapping37 and 

ñserious bodily harm to or terrorizing the personò who has been kidnapped.38 Furthermore, the 

North Carolina legislature has established that ñfirst degree kidnapping,ò wherein the abducted 

individual is not transported to a safe place or has been ñseriously injured or sexually 

assaulted,ò39 is a particularly serious crime. The extralegal abduction and disappearance of 

óAbdallah violates NCGS Ä 14-39ôs prohibition on kidnapping, and óAbdallahôs torture violates 

NCGS § 14-39ôs ban on causing harm to or terrorizing the kidnapped person. Moreover, 

transporting óAbdallah to the CIAôs abusive secret prison systemïïcertainly not a ñsafe placeòïï

makes óAbdallahôs abduction ñfirst degree kidnapping,ò a severe violation of NCGS Ä 14-39.  

IV.  Conclusion 

32. Despite the secrecy maintained by the United States, it is clear that óAbdallahôs rendition 

and detention were illegal on international, federal, and state levels. It is now incumbent on the 

                                                      
35 N.C. CONST. art. 1, § 19. 
36 See N.C. GEN. STAT. § 14-39 (2016) (ñKidnappingò); see also N.C. GEN. STAT. § 14-2.4 (2016) (ñPunishment for 

conspiracy to commit a felonyò). 
37 N.C. GEN. STAT., supra note 36, at § 14-39(a)(2). 
38 N.C. GEN. STAT., supra note 36, at § 14-39(a)(3). 
39 N.C. GEN. STAT., supra note 36, at § 14-39(b). 
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U.S. government to fully investigate and recognize the crimes committed against him. It is 

critical, too, that the entities that perpetrated and facilitated those crimesïïnamely, the United 

States of America, North Carolina and its political subdivisions, and Aero Contractorsïïprovide 

redress for their violation of óAbdallahôs fundamental human rights. 

33. The current lack of acknowledgement and accountability surrounding óAbdallahôs ordeal 

demonstrates a reprehensible acceptance of torture. This attitude not only severely undermines 

the United Statesô international standing but also encourages future human rights violations. The 

knowledge that torture can be committed with absolute impunity, evidenced by the U.S. 

governmentôs failure to act in defense of óAbdallahôs rights, can only lead to more acts of torture. 

Accountability now both ensures justice for óAbdullah and promotes the safety of innumerable 

future victims.  
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Omar al-Faruq 

I. Introduction  

1. In early June 2002,1 Omar al-Faruq was seized by Indonesian authorities2 in Bogor, 

Indonesia.3 Following his capture, al-Faruq was subjected to secret detention in CIA custody.4 

He was ultimately rendered to Bagram airbase where he reportedly suffered abuse at the hands of 

guards.5 He was detained there until his escape in July 2011.6  Little is known about the human 

rights violations he suffered due to the failure of the CIA and U.S. government to disclose 

information about his capture, detention, and torture. 

II. Detention 

A. Capture in Indonesia 

2. Omar al-Faruq, an Iraqi citizen raised in Kuwait,7 was captured in Indonesia in early June 

2002.8 

B. Detention in CIA Secret Prisons 

3. Al -Faruq was rendered from Indonesia to Egypt, via Diego Garcia, on 15 September 

2002. He was transported on a Gulfstream V jet registered as N379P, operated by Aero 

Contractors, headquartered in Johnston County, North Carolina.9 

                                                      
1 RENDITION PROJECT, Umar Faruq. https://www.therenditionproject.org.uk/prisoners/faruq.html. 
2 Alicia A. Caldwell, ñPentagon: Top al-Qaida Operative Escaped,ò ASSOCIATED PRESS (1 November 2005). 

http://www.truth-out.org/archive/component/k2/item/58325:pentagon-top-alqaida-operative-escaped. 
3 OPEN SOCIETY JUSTICE INITIATIVE , Globalizing Torture: CIA Detention and Extraordinary Rendition 39 (2013). 
4 Id. 
5 Alicia A. Caldwell, supra note 2. 
6 RENDITION PROJECT, supra note 1. 
7 OPEN SOCIETY JUSTICE INITIATIVE , supra note 3, at 39. 
8 RENDITION PROJECT, supra note 1. 
9 RENDITION PROJECT, Rendition Circuit Index. 
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4. He spent 13-14 months in the CIAôs secret prison network.10 The CIA has refused to 

disclose the details of his location and treatment during this time. 

C. Detention at Bagram Airbase 

5. Between 29 October 2003 and 22 November 2003, al-Faruq was transferred out of CIA 

custody. It was likely at this time that he entered Department of Defense custody at Bagram 

Airbase.11   

6. It is alleged that, while at Bagram airbase, al-Faruq was subjected to walling, a torture 

method wherein the victim is slammed against a wall.12 Al -Faruq was prepared to testify in a 

lawsuit against the soldier who inflicted the abuse on him.13 

7. However, before he could testify, al-Faruq escaped from Bagram Airbase on 10 July 

2005 along with three others.14  

D. Death 

8. On 25 September 2006, UK troops took part in an operation to arrest al-Faruq which 

ended in his being shot dead.15 

E. Likelihood of Torture 

9. The U.S. government has refused to disclose any details about al-Faruqôs treatment by 

the CIA and his detention at Bagram. However, based on the publicly available information both 

about al-Faruqôs alleged mistreatment and the ubiquity of torture in the Rendition, Detention, 

and Interrogation (RDI) program in general, it is justifiable to assume that al-Faruq was 

                                                      
10 SENATE SELECT COMMITTEE ON INTELLIGENCE, Committee Study of the Central Intelligence Agencyôs Detention 

and Interrogation Program [hereinafter SSCI Report] 458 (2014). 
11 Rendition Project  
12 Alicia A. Caldwell, supra note 2. 
13 Id. 
14 Id. 
15 BBC NEWS, ñProfile: Omar al-Farouqò (26 September 2006). 

http://news.bbc.co.uk/2/hi/middle_east/5379604.stm. 
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subjected to torture. Given the typical torture methods used by the United States, one must 

further conclude that al-Faruq experienced walling, isolation, stress positions, sleep deprivation, 

extremes of temperature, and beatings. 

III. Laws Condemning Extraordinary Rendition, Torture, and Detention  

10. As stated above, despite the CIAôs refusal to reveal the details of al-Faruqôs treatment 

during his detention, it is reasonable to conclude that he suffered egregious rights violations, 

including torture.  Based on the pattern and practices of the CIAôs extraordinary rendition 

program, the following legal claims on behalf of al-Faruq are asserted. 

A. International Law Violations 

11. First, al-Faruqôs treatment violates ñone of the most universally recognized human 

rightsò: the prohibition on torture.16 The prohibition on torture is a peremptory norm. As such, it 

applies to every state, even those who have not committed to uphold it, and in every situation, 

even emergencies. 17 The United Statesô security concerns, therefore, do not make al-Faruqôs 

torture acceptable. 

12. However, even if the prohibition on torture was not a peremptory norm, the U.S.ô conduct 

would still be illegal. This is because the United States has agreed to uphold the prohibition in a 

variety of treaties, including the Declaration of Human Rights (UDHR), the International 

Covenant on Civil and Political Rights (ICCPR), and the Convention Against Torture (CAT). 

Each of these treaties has been violated by the torture inflicted on al-Faruq. 

                                                      
16 INTERNATIONAL JUSTICE RESOURCE CENTER, Torture, http://www.ijrcenter.org/thematic-research-guides/torture/. 
17 Id. 
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13. The UDHR and the ICCPR both mandate that ñno one shall be subjected to torture or to 

cruel, inhuman or degrading treatment or punishment.ò18 The ICCPR further requires that states 

uphold the prohibition on torture in all circumstances, even during public emergencies. Al-

Faruqôs torture was a violation of both of these treaties. 

14. The CAT, ratified by the U.S. in 1994, 19 also forbids torture, 20 including in 

ñexceptionalò circumstances.21 Al -Faruqôs torture violated this provision, which represents the 

fundamental purpose of the CAT. 

15. Al -Faruqôs treatment further violated several other provisions of the CAT. For example, 

the CAT dictates that parties must ñensure that education and information regarding the 

prohibition against torture [are provided to all personnel] involved in a custody interrogation, or 

treatment of any individual to any form of arrest, detention, or imprisonment.ò22 The United 

States violated the CAT by failing to properly educate and train the personnel who actually 

inflicted torture on al-Faruq. 

16. Furthermore, the CAT obliges parties to take measures to prevent torture. It states that the 

United States must 

take effective legislative, administrative, judicial, or other measures to prevent 

acts of torture in any territory under its jurisdiction and that no state that is a party 

to it may expel, return, or extradite a person to another state where there are 

substantial grounds for believing that he would be in danger of being subjected to 

torture.23 

 

                                                      
18 Universal Declaration of Human Rights, G.A. Res. 217A (III), U.N. Doc. A/810 at 71 (1948), at art. 5. 

[Hereinafter UDHR]; International Covenant on Civil and Political Rights, art. 4, Dec. 16, 1966, S. Treaty Doc. No. 

95-20, 6 I.L.M. 368 (1967), 999 U.N.T.S. 171. [Hereinafter ICCPR]. 
19 UNITED NATIONS, Status of Treaties: Convention Against Torture and Other Cruel, Inhuman or Degrading 

Treatment or Punishment, https://treaties.un.org/Pages/ViewDetails.aspx?src=IND&mtdsg_no=IV-

9&chapter=4&lang=en. 
20 Convention against Torture and Other Cruel, Inhuman or Degrading Treatment or Punishment art. 1, Dec. 10, 

1984, 1465 U.N.T.S. 113 [hereinafter CAT]. 
21 CAT, supra note 18, at art. 2. 
22 CAT, supra note 18, at art. 2. 
23 CAT, supra note 18, at art. 2. 
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17. This provision requires the United States to not merely end torture within its borders, but 

also ascertain that none of its states or territories extradites individuals to states where they are in 

danger of being tortured.24 

18. Pursuant to the Supremacy Clause of the U.S. Constitution, each individual state is bound 

to follow treaties ratified by the United States. Thus, North Carolina must also take appropriate 

preventative measures to stop torture within the United States and the extradition of individuals 

to places where they could be tortured. 25 

19. The ñadministrativeò measures to which the CAT refers present a particularly clear path 

to the fulfillment of North Carolinaôs responsibilities under international law. In response to 

Aero Contractorsô critical contribution to the RDI program, North Carolinaôs political entities 

and subdivisions can and must take administrative steps, namely, revoking or discontinuing Aero 

Contractorsô ñflying permits, licenses, and leases.ò 26 Failure to do so, given the role Aero played 

in the extradition of al-Faruq and other detainees to be tortured, is a violation of the CAT. 

20. In addition to the torture to which he was subjected, al-Faruq suffered extraordinary 

rendition. This act, wherein he was seized and transported without his consent or any legal 

justification, violated another treaty ratified by the United States: the Protocol to Prevent, 

Suppress, and Punish Trafficking in Persons, Especially Women and Children, Supplementing 

the United Nations Convention Against Transnational Organized Crime, (ñthe Protocolò).27 The 

Protocol prohibits ñtrafficking in persons,ò which it defines as: 

                                                      
24 Deborah M. Weissman et al., Obligations and Obstacles: Holding North Carolina Accountable for Extraordinary 

Rendition and Torture, UNC SCH. L. IMMIGRATION &  HUM. RTS. POL. CLINIC 1, 37 (2013), 

http://www.law.unc.edu/documents/clinicalprograms/obligationsandobstaclesncreport.pdf [hereinafter Weissman et 

al., Obligations and Obstacles]. 
25 Id. at 36. 
26 Id. 
27 UNITED NATIONS, Status of Treaties: a Protocol to Prevent, Suppress and Punish Trafficking in Persons, 

Especially Women and Children, supplementing the United Nations Convention against Transnational Organized 
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the recruitment, transportation, transfer, harboring or receipt of persons, by means 

of the threat or use of force or other forms of coercion, of abduction, of fraud, of 

deception, of the abuse of power or of a position of vulnerability or of the giving or 

receiving of payments or benefits to achieve the consent of a person having control 

over another person, for the purpose of exploitation. Exploitation shall include, at 

a minimum, the exploitation of the prostitution of others or other forms of sexual 

exploitation, forced labor or services, slavery or practices similar to slavery, 

servitude or the removal of organs. 28 

 

21. The extraordinary rendition of al-Faruq was a violation of the Protocolôs prohibition on 

human trafficking. 

22. Al -Faruqôs ordeal violated a number of other provisions of the Protocol, which discuss 

the entitlements of victims of human trafficking. These entitlements include ñthe provision of: 

(a) Appropriate housing; (b) Counselling and information, in particular as regards their legal 

rights, in a language that the victims of trafficking in persons can understand; (c) Medical, 

psychological and material assistance; and (d) Employment, educational and training 

opportunities.ò29 Due to his status as a victim of human trafficking, al-Faruq was entitled to these 

forms of assistance; however, he never received them. 

23. The Protocol further states, ñEach State Party shall ensure that its domestic legal system 

contains measures that offer victims of trafficking in persons the possibility of obtaining 

compensation for damage suffered.ò30 Al -Faruq never had the opportunity to obtain 

compensation for his suffering, which violates international law. 

B. Federal Law Violations 

                                                      
Crime. https://treaties.un.org/pages/ViewDetails.aspx?src=TREATY&mtdsg_no=XVIII-12-

a&chapter=18&clang=_en. 
28 U.N.T.S. vol. 2237, Doc. A/55/383, p. 319, https://www.osce.org/odihr/19223?download=true.  
29 U.N.T.S. vol. 2237, Doc. A/55/383, supra note 25, at 3-4. 
30 U.N.T.S. vol. 2237, Doc. A/55/383, supra note 25, at 4. 

https://www.osce.org/odihr/19223?download=true
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24. Pursuant to the Supremacy Clause of the Constitution, U.S. states must consider 

international treaties the country ratifies as equivalent to federal statutes. Therefore, the 

international law violations described above also constitute violations of federal law.31 

25. In addition to these violations, both the United States and Aero Contractors violated 

federal laws that are not derived from international treaties. For instance, the Eighth Amendment 

of the U.S. Constitution prohibits ñcruel and unusual punishments.ò32 The torture methods 

utilized throughout the RDI program were both cruel and unusual; al-Faruqôs experience was 

therefore a violation of the Constitution. 

26. Furthermore, the absence of accountability regarding al-Faruqôs torture violates the 

Federal Torture Statute (FTS), which dictates that anyone who ñcommits or attempts to commit 

tortureò outside the United States ñshall be fined under this title or imprisoned not more than 20 

years, or bothò.33 The fact that no American public official has been prosecuted for al-Faruqôs 

torture violates the FTS. 

27. Other federal laws provide opportunities to seek accountability for Mohammedôs abuse. 

For example, the Alien Tort Statute (ATS) offers victims of egregious human rights violations 

who do not have U.S. citizenship the capacity to sue government officials and private actors in 

U.S. courts, regardless of whether the rights violation occurred in the United States.34 In 2010, 

five former detainees used the ATS as grounds to sue the United States and Jeppesen Dataplan,35 

                                                      
31 Weissman et al., supra note 21, at 36. 
32 U.S. CONST. amend VIII 
33 18 U.S. Code § 2340A. 
34 CTR. CONST. RTS. The Alien Tort Statute: Protecting the Law that Protects Human Rights, para. 1 (2013), 

https://ccrjustice.org/home/get-involved/tools-resources/fact-sheets-and-faqs/alien-tort-statute-protecting-law-

protects [https://perma.cc/2P93-APSH]. 
35 The five individuals who stood as the Plaintiffs-Appellants in the 9th Circuit opinion were Binyam Mohamed, 

Abou Elkassim Britel, Ahmed Agiza, Mohamed Farag Ahmad Bashmilah, and Bisher Al-Rawi. Narratives written 

about all of them, with the exception of Agiza, have also been included in this collective report. See Brief of 

Plaintiffs-Appellants, Mohamed et al., v. Jeppesen Dataplan, No. 08-15693 (9th Cir. Sept. 8, 2010).  
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a company that provided ñflight planning and logistical support services to the aircraft and crew 

on all of the flights transporting each of the five plaintiffs among the various locations where 

they were detained and allegedly subjected to torture.ò36 There is therefore a precedent for using 

the ATS to prosecute the United States and Aero Contractors.37 

28. The 1991 Torture Victims Protection Act (TVPA) is another potential path to 

accountability for al-Faruqôs torture. Established as a mechanism to fulfill the United Statesô 

responsibilities under the UN Charter and other international structures for the protection of 

human rights, the TVPA constitutes ña civil action for recovery of damages from an individual 

who engages in torture or extrajudicial killing.ò Had al-Faruq lived, the TVPA would have 

allowed him to seek restitution for the abuse he suffered. 

C. North Carolina Law Violations 

29. Aero Contractors violated several state laws by operating the plane that rendered al-

Faruq. As a result of these violations, North Carolina is in the unique position of being able and, 

indeed, legally obliged to hold the company accountable on a state level for its egregious 

violations of international human rights. 

30. Aero Contractors violated numerous provisions of the North Carolina Constitution. 

Article I, Ä 19, dictates, ñno person shall be taken, imprisoned, or disseized of his freehold, 

liberties or privileges, or outlawed, or exiled, or in any manner deprived of his life, liberty, or 

property . . .ò38 Other provisions forbid kidnapping, involuntary servitude, trafficking, and 

                                                      
36 Id. at 13526.  
37 It should be noted that although the Jeppesen Dataplan case was dismissed on the basis of the ñState Secrets 

Doctrine,ò such legal defense is likely no longer available to the government given the ongoing declassification of 

documents related to the CIAs Extraordinary Rendition and Torture program. See e.g., Irving. Figueroa, et al., 

Assessing Recent Developments: Achieving Accountability for Torture (2016) 

http://www.law.unc.edu/documents/academics/humanrights/tortureaccountability.pdf,  
38 N.C. CONST. art. 1, § 19. 

http://www.law.unc.edu/documents/academics/humanrights/tortureaccountability.pdf
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criminal conspiracy. Aero Contractors directly participated in or facilitated all of these crimes 

through its contribution to the RDI program.39  

31. Section 14-39 of the North Carolina General Statutes also prohibits kidnapping,40 and 

further identifies ñserious bodily harm to or terrorizing the personò who has been kidnapped as a 

crime.41 In addition, the North Carolina legislature has classified ñfirst-degree kidnapping,ò 

wherein the abducted individual is not transported to a safe place or has been ñseriously injured 

or sexually assaulted,ò as a particularly serious crime.42 The extralegal capture and forced 

disappearance of al-Faruq constitutes kidnapping, and his torture constitutes ñterrorizingò him 

and causing him ñserious bodily harm.ò Moreover, the secret prison system where al-Faruq was 

detained was certainly not a ñsafe placeò given the torture that habitually occurred there. NCGS 

§ 14-39 has therefore been violated. 

IV. Conclusion 

32. Omar al-Faruq was subjected to extralegal capture, detention without legal justification, 

and torture. As outlined above, all of these acts against him were illegal according to state, 

national, and international standards. Moreover, the United States has maintained a shameful 

silence on these crimes.  

33. It is critical that the entities responsible for al-Faruqôs ordealïïnamely, the United States, 

North Carolina and its political subdivisions, and Aero Contractorsïïrecognize their respective 

roles in the violation of al-Faruqôs fundamental human rights and provide redress for his 

suffering. Their continuing failure to do so amounts to an endorsement of torture. Such an 

                                                      
39 See N.C. GEN. STAT. § 14-39 (2016) (ñKidnappingò); see also N.C. GEN. STAT. § 14-2.4 (2016) (ñPunishment for 

conspiracy to commit a felonyò). 
40 N.C. GEN. STAT., supra note 36, at § 14-39(a)(2). 
41 N.C. GEN. STAT., supra note 36, at § 14-39(a)(3). 
42 N.C. GEN. STAT., supra note 36, at § 14-39(b). 
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attitude toward this reprehensible human rights violation is not only morally indefensible; it also 

ensures that future perpetrators will feel entitled to inflict brutal acts with the security of 

impunity. Achieving justice now is crucial both for todayôs victims, including al-Faruq, and for 

countless victims in the future.  
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Sharqawi Abdu Ali Al Hajj  

I. Introduction  

1. Sharqawi Abdu Ali Al Hajj (known by other names including Riyadh Mr. Al Hajj or 

Shergawi) is a Yemeni citizen, born in April 1974in the city of Taôizz, Yemen.1 

2. Mr. Al Hajj complete primary, middle and secondary education and then attended Taez 

University.2 In 1994, he traveled to Bosnia, serving with the Bosnian army on the side of the 

United States and its allied.  In 1995, he returned to Yemen.3  

3. In 2000, Mr. Al Hajj traveled to Afghanistan and then fled to Pakistan after the U.S. bombing 

campaign began.  He arrived in Karachi, Pakistan and in February 20002, he was then 

captured after his arrest by American and Pakistani forces.4   

4. Currently, Mr. Al Hajj is being been held in the ñcommunalò camp (ñCamp 6ò)at 

Guantanamo with most of the remaining detainees who are being held without charge.5  He 

has described his motives for traveling as relating to his desire to provide assistance to 

refugees and other poor and oppressed individuals and has disavowed the accusations that he 

                                                      
1 Ali Al-Hajj al-Sharqawi, The Rendition Project, (hereinafter the Rendition Project), https://www.therendition 

project.org.uk/prisoners/sharqawi.html; Double Jeopardy, Hum. Rts. Watch, 23 (Apr. 7 2008), https:// 

www.hrw.org/sites/default/files/reports/jordan0408_1.pdf.  Additional clarifying information has been provided by 

Mr. Al Hajjôs current attorneys as of October 2017. 
2 See The Guantánamo Docket, Abdu Ali al Haji Sharqawi 2, N.Y. Times, 

https://www.nytimes.com/interactive/projects/guantanamo/detainees/1457-abdu-ali-al-haji-sharqawi 

(last visited Nov. 11, 2017).  As the New York Times notes, ñThese documents include some assertions that cannot 

be independently verified. Many allegations have been contested by detainees and their lawyers, and some have 

been undercut by other evidence.ò 
3 Andy Worthingon, 29th Periodic Review Board at Guantánamo ï for Sharqawi Ali Al-Hajj, Alleged Al-Qaeda 

Facilitator, Mar. 22, 2016, at  

http://www.andyworthington.co.uk/2016/03/22/29th-periodic-review-board-at-guantanamo-for-sharqawi-ali-al-hajj-

alleged-al-qaeda-facilitator/.  
4 Id.  Declaration of Petitioner Sharqawi Abdu Ali Al-Haag (ISN 1457)(2010), Civil Action No. 1:09-cv-00745.  

Additional clarifying information provided by Mr. Al-Hajjôs current attorneys as of October 2017. 
5 Information provided by Mr. Al-Hajjôs current attorneys as of October 2017. 

https://www.therenditionproject.org.uk/prisoners/sharqawi.html
https://www.therenditionproject.org.uk/prisoners/sharqawi.html
https://www.hrw.org/sites/default/files/reports/jordan0408_1.pdf
https://www.hrw.org/sites/default/files/reports/jordan0408_1.pdf
http://www.andyworthington.co.uk/2016/03/22/29th-periodic-review-board-at-guantanamo-for-sharqawi-ali-al-hajj-alleged-al-qaeda-facilitator/
http://www.andyworthington.co.uk/2016/03/22/29th-periodic-review-board-at-guantanamo-for-sharqawi-ali-al-hajj-alleged-al-qaeda-facilitator/
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was involved with any extremist organizations.6  He has never been accused of taking up 

arms against the United States or involvement in any act of violence. 

II. Initial Rendition to Jordan  

5. On February 7, 2002 Mr. Al Hajj was arrested during a raid on a ñsuspected al-Qaeda safe 

houseò in Karachi, Pakistan.7 The raid was executed under a joint operation between the U.S. 

and Pakistanôs Inter-Service Intelligence Directorate forces.8 Of the 500 individuals detained 

at the Guantanamo Bay detention camps, Mr. Al Hajj was part of the 86% of individuals 

captured by Pakistan or Northern Alliance forces and handed over to the United States at a 

time when the United States offered large bounties for the capture of suspected enemies.9 

6. After he was captured, Mr. Al Hajj wHajj was held in solitary confinement in Pakistan for 

three weeks, where he was questioned and told that if he cooperated he would be sent 

home.10  He cooperated, but was instead subjected to more torture and cruelty.11  

7. Mr. Al Hajj was held in solitary confinement for over three weeks until midnight of February 

10, 2002 when unidentified individuals placed a hood over his head, cuffed his hands 

together, and placed him into a car.12 Throughout the car ride, none of the individuals told 

                                                      
6 Worthington, supra note 3. 
7 Hum. Rts. Watch, supra note 1, at 23; Depôt. of Def., supra note 2, at 4, 23; Amrit Singh, Globalizing Torture, 

Open Socôy. Found., 57 (2013), https://www.opensocietyfoundations.org/sites/default/files/ globalizing-torture-

20120205.pdf.; The Rendition Project, supra note 1; Craig Whitlock, Jordan's Spy Agency: Holding Cell for the 

C.I.A., Wash. Post (Dec. 1, 2007), http://www.washingtonpost.com/wp-dyn/content/article/2007/11/30/AR200 

7113002484.html; U.S. Crimes and Impunity, Amnesty Intôl., 10 (Apr. 21, 2015), https://www.amnestyusa.o 

rg/wp-content/uploads/2017/04/cia_torture_report_amr_5114322015.pdf; Comm. Study of the C.I.A.ôs Detention 

and Interrogation Program, U.S.S. Select Comm. on Intelligence, (hereinafter the USSCI Exec. Summ.) 384, 

footnote 2185 (Declassification Revisions Dec. 3, 2014), https://fas.org/irp/congress/2014_rpt/ssci-rdi.pdf; Al-Hajj 

v. Obama, 800 F. Supp. 2d 19, 21 (D.D.C. 2011). 
8 Hum. Rts. Watch, supra note 1, at 23. 
9 Mark & Joshua Denbeaux, Rep. on Guantanamo Detainees, A Profile of 517 Detainees through Analysis of Depôt 

of Def. Data, The Guantanamo Detainees: The Govôt.ôs Story, Seton Hall Univ. Sch. of Law, 3-4 (last visited Jun. 2, 

2017), http://law.shu.edu/publications/guantanamoReports/guantanamo_report_final_2_08_06.pdf.  
10 Declaration of Petitioner Sharqawi Abdu Ali Al-Haag (ISN 1457) (2010), Civil Action No. 1:09-cv-00745, ¶ 3. 
11 Id. 
12 Hum. Rts. Watch, supra note 1, at 23. 

https://www.opensocietyfoundations.org/sites/default/files/globalizing-torture-20120205.pdf
https://www.opensocietyfoundations.org/sites/default/files/globalizing-torture-20120205.pdf
http://www.washingtonpost.com/wp-dyn/content/article/2007/11/30/AR2007113002484.html
http://www.washingtonpost.com/wp-dyn/content/article/2007/11/30/AR2007113002484.html
https://www.amnestyusa.org/wp-content/uploads/2017/04/cia_torture_report_amr_5114322015.pdf
https://www.amnestyusa.org/wp-content/uploads/2017/04/cia_torture_report_amr_5114322015.pdf
https://fas.org/irp/congress/2014_rpt/ssci-rdi.pdf
http://law.shu.edu/publications/guantanamoReports/guantanamo_report_final_2_08_06.pdf
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Mr. Al Hajj where they were taking him.13 Instead, they played loud music and upon arriving 

at an undisclosed airport, and records suggest that they drove directly beside a CIA-owned 

Gulfstream V jet aircraft under tail number N379P, operated by Aero Contractors based in 

Johnston County, NC.14 The individuals then removed Mr. Al Hajj from the car and boarded 

him onto the aircraft through what appeared to him as a back entrance.15 He was then placed 

into a dark compartment within the aircraft where he was held down tightly around his neck 

and placed onto a chair with guards surrounding him.16 It was then that one of the guards 

notified him that he would be returning to his home country of Yemen.17  

8. Some time from approximately February 11-15, 2002, Mr. Al Hajj was instead transported to 

Amman, Jordan.18 When he asked why he had been sent to Jordan instead of Yemen, as he 

was told, a guard replied, ñYou are with your Brothers in Amman,ò and advised him not to 

ask any further questions.19  

III. Detention and Torture in Jordan 

9. Mr. Al Hajj was then taken to and held as a detainee in the General Intelligence Department 

(GID) Headquarters in Wadir Sir, Amman, Jordan from February 2002 to January 2004, over 

twenty-three months.20 Mr. Al Hajj was held alongside fellow detainee Hassan bin Attash, a 

Saudi-born Yemeni, for the majority of his detention at the GID Headquarters.21 

                                                      
13 Id.  
14 Hum. Rts. Watch, supra note 1, at 14, 23; The Rendition Project, supra note 8; Partial List of Detainees Secretly 

Transported by Aero Contractors of N.C. for Torture by or for the C.I.A., N.C. Stop Torture Now (last visited Jun. 2, 

2017), http://ncstn.org/content/wp-content/uploads/2015/05/partial-list-of-detainees.pdf (citing Stephen Grey, Ghost 

Plane (2006) as primary source of info.). 
15 Hum. Rts. Watch, supra note 1, at 23.; USSCI Exec. Summ., supra note 8, at 384, footnote 2185. 
16 Id.  
17 Id.  
18 Hum. Rts. Watch, supra note 1, at 14; N.C. Stop Torture Now, supra note 14. 
19 Hum. Rts. Watch, supra note 1, at 23. 
20 Hum. Rts. Watch, supra note 8, at 24.  
21 Id.  

http://ncstn.org/content/wp-content/uploads/2015/05/partial-list-of-detainees.pdf
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10. For the next twenty-three months, Mr. Al Hajj was subjected to continuous torture and 

interrogation.22 He began documenting his ordeal around October 2002 in a handwritten note, 

marked with his thumbprint and titled, ña short summary of my sufferings.ò23 In his note, he 

describes his experience with GID interrogators:  

ñWhen I told them the truth, I was tortured and beaten. They threatened me with 

electricity . . . with snakes and dogs . . .. [They said] weôll make you see death .... 

They threatened to rape me.ò24  

11. When representatives of the International Committee of the Red Cross (ICRC) visited the 

GID facility, Mr. Al Hajj was hidden from them.25 When an ICRC representative arrived at 

the Headquarters, guards would move Mr. Al Hajj to the soldierôs lecture room, where he 

would remain until the representative had finally left the facility.26 

12. When he was later transferred to Guantanamo Bay in 2004, Mr. Al Hajj notified his attorneys 

that the GID interrogators in Jordan had also performed falaqa on him, a Jordanian torture 

method in which prisoners are given extended beatings on the bottoms of their feet, causing 

excruciating pain.27 

13. In April  2006, Mr. Al Hajj further elaborated on his treatment at the GID Headquarters 

ñI was being interrogated all the time, in the evening and in the day. I was shown 

thousands of photos, and I really mean thousands, I am not exaggerating .... And 

in between all this you have the torture, the abuse, the cursing, humiliation. They 

had threatened me with being sexually abused and electrocuted. I was told that if I 

wanted to leave with permanent disability both mental and physical, that that 

could be arranged. They said they had all the facilities of Jordan to achieve that. I 

was told that I had to talk, I had to tell them everything. They beat me in a way 

                                                      
22 Id. at 23-25. 
23 Joanne Mariner, ñWeôll Make You See Death,ò Salon Media Grp. Inc. (Apr. 10, 2008), http://www.salon.com 

/2008/04/10/jordan_rendition/S; Hum. Rts. Watch, supra note 1, at 2, 23; Open Socôy. Found., supra note 8, at 23, 

57; The Rendition Project; supra note 8. 
24 Hum. Rts. Watch, supra note 1, at 2, 23; Craig Whitlock, supra note 7. (This same note was later smuggled out of 

the facility by another detainee in 2003. 
25 Hum. Rts. Watch, supra note 1, at 3. 
26 Id. at 3, 14. 
27 Id. at 2-3. 

http://www.salon.com/2008/04/10/jordan_rendition/S
http://www.salon.com/2008/04/10/jordan_rendition/S


 

26 
  

that does not know any limits. They threatened me with electricity, with snakes 

and dogs. They say weôll make you see death. They threatened to rape me.ò28 

 

14. In 2010, Mr. Al Hajj testified before the U.S. District Court for the District of Columbia that 

during his time at the GID Headquarters in Jordan, he was placed on the ground during 

interrogations, with the interrogator in a chair above him with his foot on his face.29 

15. After prolonged torture, Mr. Al Hajj began to confess to allegations made by his 

interrogators, and manufactured facts in order to make the torture stop.30 

16. Mr. Al Hajj refused to sign a report with statements that he had never uttered.  His captors 

told him that he would be subject to further interrogation and that someone would ñpluckò 

his beard.  After the culmination of his ordeal and additional threats, Mr. Al Hajj signed the 

statement.31 

17. Mr. Al Hajjôs accounts of his treatment at the GID detention facility have been corroborated 

through the testimony of other detainees held at such facility around the same time period, 

most of whom were subjected to similar abusive treatment.32 One detainee in particular 

alleged that Mr. Al Hajj had received harsher abuses when compared to other detainees.33 

Mr. Al Hajjôs overall detainment at the GID Headquarters in Jordan has also been 

corroborated by the CIA, identifying him as Riyadh the Facilitator in the Senate Select 

Intelligence Committee report on CIA Torture.34 The torture he suffered in Jordan would not 

                                                      
28 Human Rts. Watch, supra note 1, at 24, Mariner, supra note 23.   
29 Al-Hajj, 800 F. Supp. 2d at 21. 
30 Declaration of Kristin B. Wilhelm In Support of Petitionerôs Petition for Release and Other Relief Under Detainee 

Treatment Act of 2005, May 23, 2007, Case 1:09-cv-00745-RCL,  
31 Declaration of Petitioner Sharqawi Abdu Ali Al -Haag (ISN 1457) (2010), Civil Action No. 1:09-cv-00745 RCL). 
32 Hum. Rts. Watch, supra note 1, at 3, 43. 
33 Id. at 3. 
34 USCCI Exec. Summ., supra note 7, at 386, note 2185. 
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have occurred but for his having been extraordinarily rendered on a plane operated by Aero 

Contractors located in Johnston County, NC. 

IV. Rendition from Jord an to Afghanistan 

18. At 11:00 P.M. G.M.T. on January 7, 2004, Mr. Al Hajj was taken out of his cell and placed 

into a car with a black hood over his head.35 Guards cut off his clothes and performed a body 

search on him, including a search of his rectal cavity 36 He was then given a diaper, shorts, a 

sleeveless shirt and plastic handcuffs to wear.37 Guards then tied Mr. Al Hajj to the wall of a 

room where he would stand for over an hour in handcuffs.38 This methodical and deviously 

constructed protocol during the transport process has been determined to be aimed at forcing 

a state of learned helplessness upon detainees and has been ruled by the European Court of 

Human Rights to constitute a form of torture.39 

19.  When the guards returned for him, they tied his hands and feet together, and carried him to 

another location.40 He was eventually thrown by the guards like a sack onto a CIA-owned 

Boeing 737, under tail number N313P operated by Aero Contractors, based in Johnston 

County, NC, where he landed on top of another detainee, who today is presumed to have 

been Hassan bin Attash.41  

20. On January 8, 2004 at 1:39 P.M. G.M.T. Mr. Al Hajj was placed into the CIAôs Detention 

and Interrogation Program when he was flown out of Afghanistan on the CIA-owned Boeing 

                                                      
35 Hum. Rts. Watch, supra note 1, at 25, footnote 45 (citing Mr. Al Hajj lawyerôs notes).  
36 Id. 
37 Id. 
38 Id. 
39 James E. Pfander, Const. Torts & The War on Terror, 35 (2017); El-Masri v. Macedonia, Eur. Ct. Hum. Rts., No. 

39630/09 (2012). 
40 Hum. Rts. Watch, supra 1, at 24. 
41 Id. at 25; N.C. Stop Torture Now, supra note 18.  
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737, under tail number N313P, operated by Aero Contractors which thus further facilitated 

his detention and torture in Afghanistan.42  

V. Detention and Torture in Afghanistan 

21. The flight arrived in Kabul, Afghanistan, where Mr. Al Hajj was then transferred to the 

CIAôs Dark Prison nearby.43 Throughout his detainment at such facility, guards kept his cell 

in complete darkness and subjected him to continuous loud music.44 The cell was filthy, the 

food was extremely bad, and on occasions, prison guards force-fed Mr. Al Hajj when he 

refused to eat.45 In his 2006 statement, Mr. Al Hajj described the Dark Prison as ña pitch dark 

place, with extremely loud scary sounds.ò46 On some rare occasions, guards let him sit on a 

chair in front of a high wall once a week, where he would notice snow cover.47 The torture he 

suffered at the Dark Prison in Afghanistan would not have occurred but for his having been 

extraordinarily rendered on a plane operated by Aero Contractors located in Johnston 

County, NC. 

22. Another detainee by the name of Khaled al-Maqtari created a detailed list of each detainee, 

and the cell they were held in at the Dark Prison, for the first few months of 2004, along with 

a floor plan of the facility.48 This information has been corroborated through similar 

descriptions of such facilities during that time period within the testimonies of detainees 

                                                      
42 Hum. Rts. Watch, supra note 1, at 24; USSCI Exec. Summ., supra note 7, at 383, footnote 2160, 386, 390; U.S. 

Crimes and Impunity, supra note 7, at 54; N.C. Stop Torture Now, supra note 18.  
43 Open Socôy. Found., supra note 7, at 57. 
44 Id.; Al-Hajj, 800 F. Supp. 2d at 21; U.S. Crimes and Impunity, supra note 7, at 10. 
45 Al-Hajj, 800 F. Supp. 2d at 21-22. 
46 The Rendition Project, supra note 1. 
47 U.S.: A Case to Answer, From Abu Ghraib to Secret C.I.A. Custody: The Case of Khaled al-Maqtari, Amnesty 

Intôl., 24 (Mar. 2008), https://www.therenditionproject.org.uk/pdf/PDF%2033%20[AI 200803REP%20U 

SA%20A%20Case%20to%20Answer].pdf  
48 The Rendition Project, supra note 1. 

https://www.therenditionproject.org.uk/pdf/PDF%2033%20%5bAI%20200803REP%20USA%20A%20Case%20to%20Answer%5d.pdf
https://www.therenditionproject.org.uk/pdf/PDF%2033%20%5bAI%20200803REP%20USA%20A%20Case%20to%20Answer%5d.pdf
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Mohammed al-Shoroeiya, Khalid al-Sharif, and Mohamed Bashmilah.49 A rendering of such 

list and floor plan has been attached to this document within the Appendix.  

VI. Rendition from Dark Prison  to Bagram Air Base to Guantanamo Bay 

23. Around May 10-16, 2004, guards transported Mr. Al Hajj to the Bagram Air Base 

(hereinafter referred to as ñBagramò), a location known to host some of the worst torture 

atrocities during the Global War on Terror, especially during its early years.50  

24.  Upon arrival, Mr. Al Hajj was told Bagram was ña base belonging to the American Army."51 

For two and a half months at Bagram, Mr. Al Hajj was placed in solitary confinement in a 

two foot by three-foot wooden cage with no toilet.52 He was interrogated by an investigator 

who continued to interrogate him at Guantanamo.53 In another instance, he was beaten by 

two guards.54 

25. Mr. Al Hajj remained at the Bagram facility in U.S. Military custody for a total of 

approximately four months.55 On September 19, 2004, he was transported to Guantanamo 

Bay, Cuba on a United States military aircraft with call-sign RCH948y.56 He was 

accompanied by fellow detainees Hassan bin Attash, Binyam Mohamed and al-Kazimi.57  

26. In 2009, President Barack Obama established the Guantanamo Review Task Force; however, 

Mr. Al Hajj was not approved for transfer as a result of this process.  In 2011, President 

                                                      
49 Id. 
50 Open Socôy. Found., supra note 8, at 56; Craig Whitlock, supra note 7; The Rendition Project, supra note 8; U.S. 

Crimes and Impunity, supra note 8, at 55; Al-Hajj, 800 F. Supp. 2d at 22; Tim Golden, In U.S. Report, Brutal 

Details of 2 Afghan Inmatesô Deaths, N.Y. Times (May 20, 2005), http://www.nytimes.com/2005/05/20 

/world/asia/in-us-report-brutal-details-of-2-afghan-inmates-deaths.html?_r=0. 
51 Al-Hajj, 800 F. Supp. 2d at 22. 
52 Id.  
53 Motion by Petitioner Sharqawi Abdu Ali Al-Haag To Strike Statements in the Factual Return, No. 09-cv-745 

(D.D.C.) (filed Dec. 15, 2010), at 3. 
54 Al-Hajj, 800 F. Supp. 2d at 22. 
55 The Rendition Project, supra note 1. 
56 Craig Whitlock, supra note 7; USSCI Exec. Summ., supra note 7, at 4; The Rendition Project, supra note 1; U.S. 

Crimes and Impunity, supra note 7, at 55. 
57 The Rendition Project, supra note 1; U.S. Crimes and Impunity, supra note 7, at 55. 

http://www.nytimes.com/2005/05/20/world/asia/in-us-report-brutal-details-of-2-afghan-inmates-deaths.html?_r=0
http://www.nytimes.com/2005/05/20/world/asia/in-us-report-brutal-details-of-2-afghan-inmates-deaths.html?_r=0
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Obama issues an Executive Order establishing the Periodic Review Board (PRB)to review 

the status of detainees who had not been approved for transfer.  On April 19, 2013, the 

Periodic Review Board within the Department of Defense identified Mr. Al Hajj as eligible 

for review.58  He had PRB hearings in 2016 and 2017, as the result of which he was again 

designated for continuing detention. His next PRB hearing is scheduled for 2020, 18 years 

after his capture and his detention appears to be indefinite.59 As of such date, Mr. Al Hajj 

continues to remain at Guantanamo Bay, making it a total of 15 years since he has been held 

in custody at the behest of the United States custody, and has been in Guantanamo for 12 of 

those years.60 One of Mr. Al Hajjôs attorneys, John Chandler, commented on Mr. Al Hajjôs 

current condition, ñHis health is ruined by his treatment by or on behalf of our country. He 

can eat little but yogurt. He weighs perhaps 120 pounds. The United States of America has 

lost its way.ò61 

27. The United States District Court has held that, ñIn Jordan, petitioner [Mr. Al Hajj] 

experienced patent coercion during interrogations -- including intimidation, regular beatings, 

and threats of electrocution and violence. In Kabul, he was forced to endure complete 

darkness and continuous loud music. The Court thus finds that petitioner was subject to 

physical and psychological coercion in Jordan and Kabul.ò62 

28. Mr. Al Hajjôs treatment was not uncommon. Multiple authorities have documented numerous 

instances of such actions against individuals, indicating a systematic effort by the U.S. to 

                                                      
58 71 Guantanamo Detainees Determined Eligible for Receive a Periodic Rev. Bd. as of April 19, 2013, Depôt. of 

Def. (last visited Jun. 2, 2017), https://upload.wikimedia.org/wikipedia/commons/1/12/71_Gu 

antanamo_Detainees_Determined_Eligible_to_Receive_a_Periodic_Review_Board_as_of_April_19%2C_2013.pdf.  
59 Unclassified Summ. of Final Determination, Periodic Rev. Secretariat, Depôt. of Def., 1 (Mar. 30, 2017), 

http://www.prs.mil/Portals/60/Documents/ISN1457/FullReview1/20170330_U_ISN1457_FINAL_ 

DETERMINATION_PUBLIC.pdf.   
60  The Rendition Project, supra note 1; Depôt. of Def., supra note 2, at 1. 
61  Worthington, supra note 3. 
62 Al -Hajj v. Obama, 800 F. Supp. 2d at 23. 

https://upload.wikimedia.org/wikipedia/commons/1/12/71_Guantanamo_Detainees_Determined_Eligible_to_Receive_a_Periodic_Review_Board_as_of_April_19%2C_2013.pdf
https://upload.wikimedia.org/wikipedia/commons/1/12/71_Guantanamo_Detainees_Determined_Eligible_to_Receive_a_Periodic_Review_Board_as_of_April_19%2C_2013.pdf
http://www.prs.mil/Portals/60/Documents/ISN1457/FullReview1/20170330_U_ISN1457_FINAL_DETERMINATION_PUBLIC.pdf
http://www.prs.mil/Portals/60/Documents/ISN1457/FullReview1/20170330_U_ISN1457_FINAL_DETERMINATION_PUBLIC.pdf
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deprive detainees of their rights. Amnesty International published a report on March 6, 2006 

documenting consistent denial of counsel to detainees and denial of access to communication 

with families and others. This report further documented Geneva Convention violations of 

detaineesô rights via exposure to extreme cold, heat, and use of unlawful restraint and 

physical contact. A United Nations Human Rights report published shortly after the Amnesty 

report mirrored Amnestyôs findings, and further documented deprivation of food, medical 

treatment, and hygiene. An ICRC report documents mistreatment via extended isolation, 

hooding, physical threats, denial of food and water, and the use of prolonged exposure to 

loud noise and music. 

VII.  Sharqawi Al Hajjôs Current Condition 

29. In recent months, Mr. Al Hajj has suffered increasing despair with regard to his failing health 

and chronic and deteriorating conditions.  He recently ñescalatedò his hunger strike because 

of his health issues and his indefinite detention, and in July 2017 he reported that he ñstopped 

being fed through a tube or drinking Ensure.ò63 

30. As a result of his hunger strike, his health has further deteriorated.  On one occasion, he lost 

consciousness and was taken to the hospital under emergency circumstances.  The medical 

team informed him that his blood sugar had dropped so low and had ñreached a point of 

danger.ò64 

31. Mr. Al Hajjôs condition, both physical and mental, has been of great concern to his current 

attorneys, one of whom stated in support of an emergency motion seeking an independent 

                                                      
63 Declaration of Pardiss Kebriaei In Support of Petitioner Sharqawi Al Hajjôs Emergency Motion, September 6, 

2017, Case No. 09-cv-745 (RCL) hereinafter Kebriaei Declaration. 
64 Id. 
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medical evaluation and his medical records that he was noticeably failing, appearing ñfrail, 

gauntò and without energy and concentration.65   

32. Mr. Al Hajj further described suffering from frequent and severe abdominal pains.  He has 

also suffered from severe bouts of jaundice.  He reported that his weight, as of August 2017, 

was 104 pounds.66 

33. Mr. Al Hajjôs physical and mental condition have deteriorated to the point where it has 

interfered with his ability to consult with counsel or to attend habeas or Periodic Review 

Board meetings as he finds it too physically demanding to be moved from his cell. 

34. Dr. Jess Ghannam, an expert Professor of Psychiatry who is also a licensed psychologist for 

over twenty years, and has served as an expert consultant to in cases of Military Commission 

proceedings at Guantanamo assessed Mr. Al Hajjôs current physical and mental condition 

based on information from his counsel, and his experience based on working with current 

and former detainees at Guantanamo.  He opines that his medical condition that pre-dates his 

hunger strike could be life-threatening.67 

35. Dr. Ghannam set forth his ñsignificant concerns about his health and potential for decline and 

a medically emergent collapse.ò  He expressed great concern about the ñfunctioning of his 

liver, the appearance of jaundice, and lack of treatment,ò which may fail to comply with the 

accepted standard of care for his condition.68   

36. Dr. Ghannam also opines that Mr. Al Hajj suffers from a condition known as ñGuantanamo 

Syndromeò suffered by individuals ñsubjected to severe torture in Pakistan, Afghanistan, and 

                                                      
65 Id. 
66 Id. 
67 Declaration of Dr. Jess Ghannam In Support of Petitioner Sharqawi Al Hajjôs Emergency Motion, Au. 29, 2017, 

Case No. 09-cv-745 (RCL).  Mr. Al Hajj was diagnosed with Hepatitis B prior to his detention.  Id. 
68 Id. 
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Jordan.ò He describes these conditions as ñdebilitating and disabling.ò  The symptoms 

include ñsleep difficulties, cognitive difficulties, gastro-intestinal difficulties, chronic pain, 

chronic headaches, fatigue, and general physical impairment.ò He further explains that these 

symptoms are present in individuals who are not on a hunger strike.  He offers his opinion, 

ñwith reasonable medical probability, that Mr. Hajj may very well be on the precipice of total 

bodily collapse.ò69 

37. Mr. Al Hajj has been detained for over 16 years with no prospects for transfer or release, 

contributing, if not causing his current grave health crisis.  Moreover, his frail and 

debilitating condition interferes with his ability to access judicial relief.70 

VIII. Violations of Law  

A. International Law 

38. Mr. Al Hajjôs treatment was in violation of the following international regulations:  

a. Article 3 of the Universal Declaration guarantees the ñright to life, liberty and 
security of person.ò71  

b. Article 5 of the Universal Declaration of Human Rights (UDHR), which states: ñNo 
one shall be subjected to torture or to cruel, inhuman or degrading treatment or 

punishment.ò72 

c. Article 8 guarantees ñthe right to an effective remedy by the competent national 

tribunals for acts violating the fundamental rights granted him by the constitution or 

by law.ò73 

d. Common Article 3 of the Geneva Conventions prohibits inhumane treatment of 

detainees.74 

e. Article 7 of the International Covenant on Civil and Political Rights (ICCPR), which 

states: ñNo one shall be subjected to torture or to cruel, inhuman or degrading 

                                                      
69 Id. 
70 See Petitionerôs Emergency Motion for an Independent Medical Evaluation and Medical Records, Sept. 6, 2017, 

Case No. 09-cv-745 (RCL). 
71 Universal Declaration of Hum. Rts. (hereinafter UDHR), art. 3, G.A. Res. 217A(III), U.N. GAOR, 3d Sess., 1st 

Plen. Mtg. U.N. Doc. A/810 (Dec. 12, 1948). 
72 Id at art 5. 
73 Id at art. 8.  
74 Convention Relative to the Treatment of Prisoners of War, Aug. 12, 1949, art. 2, 6 U.S.T. 3316, 75 U.N.T.S. 135, 

136. 

https://1.next.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=Y&serNum=1956056356&pubNum=0006792&originatingDoc=I220c2aa15caa11dbbe1cf2d29fe2afe6&refType=CA&originationContext=document&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.Search)
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treatment or punishment.ò75 In addition, the Human Rights Committee, the 

overseeing and interpretive body of the ICCPR,76 has stated that ñStates parties must 

not expose individuals to the danger of torture or cruel, inhuman or degrading 

treatment or punishment upon return to another country by way of their extradition, 

expulsion or refoulement.ò77 Thus, the extradition, by the United States, of an 

individual to an area where it is known that they will be tortured by other parties is 

virtually no different than if the United States tortured the individual itself. 

 

39. Mr. Al Hajjôs treatment was in violation of various provisions within the Convention against 

Torture (CAT) which defines torture as ñany act by which severe pain or suffering, whether 

physical or mental, is intentionally inflicted on a person for such purposes as obtaining from 

him or a third person information or a confession, punishing him for an act he or a third 

person has committed or is suspected of having committed, or intimidating or coercing him 

or a third person, or for any reason based on discrimination of any kind, when such pain or 

suffering is inflicted by or at the instigation of or with the consent or acquiescence of a public 

official or other person acting in an official capacity. It does not include pain or suffering 

arising only from, inherent in or incidental to lawful sanctions.ò78 The provisions in violation 

include: 

i. Article 2(1) which states, ñEach State Party shall take effective legislative, 

administrative, judicial or other measures to prevent acts of torture in any 

territory under its jurisdiction.ò79  

ii.  Article 3(1) which states, ñNo State Party shall expel, return ("refouler") or 
extradite a person to another State where there are substantial grounds for 

believing that he would be in danger of being subjected to torture.ò80 

 

                                                      
75 International Covenant on Civil and Political Rights (hereinafter ICCPR), art. 7, opened for signature Dec. 16, 

1966, S. Exec. Doc. C, D, E, F, 95-2 (1978)., 999 U.N.T.S. 171.  
76 See Office of the United Nations High Commissioner for Human Rights, Human Rights Committee (May 28, 

2017), http://www2.ohchr.org/english/bodies/hrc/.  
77 U.N. Human Rights Comm., General Comment No. 20, ¶ 9, U.N. Doc. A/47/40 (1992). 
78 Convention against Torture and Other Cruel, Inhuman or Degrading Treatment or Punishment (hereinafter CAT), 

art. 1(1), opened for signature Dec. 10, 1984, S. Treaty Doc. No. 100-20 (1988) [hereinafter CAT], 1465 U.N.T.S. 

85. 
79 Id at art. 2(1). 
80 Id at art. 3(1). 

http://www2.ohchr.org/english/bodies/hrc/
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40. In a document titled ñ"Legal Authority and Policy for Enteral Feeding at JTF-GTMO", an 

attorney from the Department of Defense admitted that ñinternational law and certain 

medical ethical standards holds that the 'forced feeding' of a mentally competent person 

capable of making an informed decision is never acceptable.ò81  

41. The treaties outlined above are all binding at all levels, including federal, the state, of North 

Carolina and its political subdivisions. The ñSupremacy Clause,ò the second clause of the 

United States Constitution, states that ñall Treaties made, or which shall be made, under the 

Authority of the United States, shall be the supreme Law of the Land; and the Judges in 

every State shall be bound thereby, any Thing in the Constitution or Laws of any State to the 

Contrary notwithstanding.ò82 

42. On February 7, 2002, Mr. Al Hajj was deprived of the guarantees to the ñright to life, liberty 

and security of personò as provided under Article 3 of the UDHR when he was arrested and 

subsequently detained by the joint operation including the United States. These violations 

include the processes of extraordinary rendition in and of themselves and which further 

facilitated and perpetuated such violations with every rendition from the GID Headquarters 

in Jordan, the Dark Prison in Afghanistan, the Bagram Air Base, to the Guantanamo 

Detention Camps where he currently resides.  

43. Moreover, Mr. Al Hajj was deprived of his right to life, liberty and security of person without 

the right to an effective remedy by the competent national tribunals for acts violating the 

fundamental rights granted him by the constitution or by law as required under Article 8 of 

the UDHR when he was summarily detained, extraordinarily rendered without any process, 

                                                      
81 Jason Leopold, ñThe Military Admitted Force-Feeding Gitmo Detainees Violates International Law and Medical 

Ethicsò, Vice (Jan. 29, 2015), https://news.vice.com/article/how-a-military-memo-could-save-the-nurse-who-

refused-to-force-feed-guantanamo-detainees.  
82 U.S. CONST. art. VI, cl. 2. 

https://news.vice.com/article/how-a-military-memo-could-save-the-nurse-who-refused-to-force-feed-guantanamo-detainees
https://news.vice.com/article/how-a-military-memo-could-save-the-nurse-who-refused-to-force-feed-guantanamo-detainees
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and prohibited from seeking any counsel until his rendition to Guantanamo Bay in May 

2004. Most telling is the fact that prison guards at the GID Headquarters continuously hid 

Mr. Al Hajj from ICRC whenever officials visited the facility.  

44. The United States exposed Mr. Al Hajj to the danger of torture or cruel, inhuman or 

degrading treatment or punishment of foreign nations through the rendition of Mr. Al Hajj to 

the GID Headquarters in Jordan after its joint operation with Pakistani forces in Pakistan, his 

subsequent rendition to the Dark Prison in Afghanistan, and Bagram Air Base also in 

Afghanistan, in violation of Article 7 of the ICCPR, and Article 3(1) of CAT. At all of these 

locations, Mr. Al Hajj was transported under aircrafts known to be owned by the CIA and 

operated by Aero Contractors based in Johnston County, NC. The facilities to which he was 

transferred to were known to be torture facilities.  

45. In permitting the CIA and Aero Contractors to perform its extraordinary rendition program, 

with the breadth of discretion it held, the United States, the state of North Carolina and its 

political subdivisions, also failed to take effective legislative, administrative, judicial or other 

measures to prevent acts of torture in any territory under its jurisdiction in violation of 

Article 2(1) of CAT. The transportation of detainees internationally, and the detainees held at 

the CIA owned Dark Prison and Bagram Air Base are all operations performed within the 

jurisdiction of the United States.  

46. Most importantly, Mr. Al Hajj was subjected to torture or to cruel, inhuman or degrading 

treatment or punishment during his ñarrestò and subsequent detainment in patent violation of 

Article 5 of the UDHR, Article 7 of the ICCPR and CAT. Upon his capture, he was placed 

into a car, a hood was placed over his head, and his hands were cuffed together for the 

purposes of extraordinary rendition to torture accomplished through his kidnapping aboard 
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Aero Contractor operated planes. Throughout his detention at the GID Headquarters in 

Jordan he was subjected to continuous torture and interrogation including beatings on the 

bottoms of his feet, guards stepping on his face, and receiving threats of the use of force 

through electricity, murder, and rape against him. Upon his rendition to the CIAôs Dark 

Prison in Afghanistan, he was stripped naked, penetrated in his anus, and left standing alone 

in handcuffs for over an hour. During his actual detention at the Dark Prison, he was subject 

to loud music, complete darkness, and was force-fed whenever he refused to eat. At the 

Bagram Air Base, Mr. Al Hajj was confined to a two foot by three-foot wooden cage with no 

toilet, and at times was beaten by two guards. All of these acts are sufficient to constitute acts 

of torture as provided under the UDHR and CAT.  

B. United States Federal Law 

47. Mr. Al Hajjôs treatment was in violation of the U.S. Constitution, including the Fifthe, 

Eighth, and Fourteenth Amendment and numerous federal laws, including: 

a. Torture Victims Protection Act of 1991, which states: ñAn individual who, under 
actual or apparent authority, or color of law, of any foreign nationð subjects an 

individual to torture shall, in a civil action, be liable for damages to that individual.ò83 

 

b. 18 U.S. Code Ä2340A which states ñWhoever outside the United States commits or 
attempts to commit torture shall be fined under this title or imprisoned not more than 

20 years.ò84 Torture under this statute is defined as ñan act committed by a person 

acting under the color of law specifically intended to inflict severe physical or mental 

pain or suffering (other than pain or suffering incidental to lawful sanctions) upon 

another person within his custody or physical controlò. 

 

c. War Crimes Act of 1996, prohibiting acts of torture, defined as, ñAn act specifically 
intended to inflict severe physical or mental pain or suffering (other than pain or 

suffering incidental to lawful sanctions) upon another person within his custody or 

physical control for the purpose of obtaining information or a confession, 

punishment, intimidation, coercion, or any reason based on discrimination of any 

kind.ò85 

                                                      
83 Torture Victim Protection Act of 1991 1992 Enacted H.R. 2092, 102 Enacted H.R. 2092, 106 Stat. 73. 
84 18 U.S. Code § 2340A. 
85 18 U.S. Code § 2441. 
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48. The acts performed against Mr. Al Hajj of which are sufficient to constitute acts of torture 

under the definitions provided under Article 5 of the UDHR, Article 7 of the ICCPR and 

CAT, are also sufficient to constitute acts of torture as defined under Torture Victims 

Protection Act of 1991, 18 U.S. Code §2340A, and War Crimes Act of 1996. Therefore, the 

United States as well as Aero Contractors are liable to Mr. Al Hajj for the acts of torture 

committed against him during his detainment beginning on February 7, 2002. In addition, the 

guards who performed such acts of torture can be held criminally liable for the actions under 

18 U.S. Code §2340A.  

C. North Carolina State Law 

49. The Rendition process, and detention of Mr. Al Hajj was in violation the North Carolina 

Constitution, which states ñ"No person shall be taken, imprisoned, or disseized of his 

freehold, liberties, or privileges, or outlawed, or exiled, or in any manner deprived of his life, 

liberty, or property, but by the law of the land.ò86  

50. This process was also violation of North Carolina General Statute §14-39 regarding 

Kidnapping and Abduction, which states: ñAny person who shall unlawfully confine, 

restrain, or remove from one place to another, any other person 16 years of age or over 

without the consent of such person, . . . shall be guilty of kidnapping.ò87 This statute extends 

liability to private companies in violation as well and includes conspiracy to commit such 

acts.  

51. Similar to the reasoning provided under part A and B, the acts performed upon Mr. Al Hajj, 

constituting acts of torture under International and Federal law, are sufficient to constitute 

                                                      
86 N.C. Const. art. 1, §19. 
87 N.C. Gen. Stat. § 14-39. 
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acts of kidnapping act provided under of North Carolina General Statute §14-39, and the 

deprivation of the Due Process right guaranteed under the North Carolina Constitution.   

IX.  Conclusion 

52. Mr. Al Hajj was illegally kidnapped and extraordinarily rendered via a process outside of the 

law and without any legal protections to a country with the full knowledge and intent that he 

would be tortured there. Mr. Al Hajj endured terrifying kidnapping, detention and torture, all 

of which was in patent violation of international, federal, and North Carolina state laws. As a 

result, he has suffered and will continue to suffer severe lifelong distress, and has been 

irreparably harmed. It is incumbent upon the United States, North Carolina and its political 

subdivisions, as well as Aero Contractors to admit wrongdoing via Congressional and other 

action, and take responsibility for the atrocities committed against Mr. Al Hajj and the 

countless other individuals that were harmed through acts of torture and extradition.  
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Mohammed al-Asad 

I. Introduction  

1. Mohammed al-Asad, a Yemeni national,1 was living in Tanzania when he was arrested 

and flown to a secret prison in Djibouti.2 He was later transferred into the CIAôs secret prison 

system.3 During his detention, he was subjected to torture that included solitary confinement, 

sensory overload in the form of constant loud music, punitive dietary manipulation, artificial 

light twenty-four hours a day, exposure to cold weather,4 and beatings.5 After apparently 

realizing that al-Asad was not involved in terrorist activity, the CIA eventually transferred him to 

Yemen.6  Al -Asad was ultimately released; he passed away in 2016 without any evidence of 

recovery or restitution for the torture he suffered.7  

II. Detention 

A. Background 

2. Al -Asad is a citizen of Yemen.8 In 1985, he moved to Tanzania, where he established a 

family and a successful business.9 Seeking to facilitate his residential and business endeavors, al-

Asad acquired a forged Tanzanian passport and birth certificate.10 

                                                      
1 OPEN SOCIETY JUSTICE INITIATIVE , Globalizing Torture: CIA Detention and Extraordinary Rendition 32 (2013). 
2 Sudarsan Raghavan and Julie Tate, ñAfrican Commission Asked to Take Case Challenging CIA Rendition 

Program,ò WASHINGTON POST 1 (28 February 2011). http://www.washingtonpost.com/wp-

dyn/content/article/2011/02/28/AR2011022803848.html. 
3 HUMAN RIGHTS WATCH, CIA Secret Prisons: A Decade Later, Justice in Africa? (2013). 

https://www.hrw.org/news/2013/11/01/cia-secret-prisons-decade-later-justice-africa. 
4 Communication 383/10: Mohammed Abdullah Saleh al-Asad v. The Republic of Djibouti [hereinafter Al-Asad v. 

Djibouti] 2-3 (2014). http://www.achpr.org/files/sessions/55th/comunications/383.10/achpr55_383_10_eng.pdf. 
5 HUMAN RIGHTS WATCH, supra note 3. 
6 Id. 
7 OPEN SOCIETY JUSTICE INITIATIVE , supra note 1; Matt Apuzzo et al., How U.S. Torture Left a Legacy of Damaged 

Minds, N.Y. Times, Oct. 9, 2016, at https://www.nytimes.com/2016/10/09/world/cia-torture-guantanamo-bay.html. 
8 OPEN SOCIETY JUSTICE INITIATIVE , supra note 1. 
9 Al-Asad v. Djibouti, supra note 4, at 1. 
10 Id. 
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3. In 1994, the Islamic foundation Al-Haramain rented office space at one of al-Asadôs 

properties.11 

B. Capture, Detention, & Rendition in Tanzania 

4. Two men who spoke Swahili and appeared to be Tanzanian arrested Al-Asad in his home 

in Dar es Salaam, Tanzania, at around 9:00 PM on 26 December 2003.12 They blindfolded and 

bound him.13 

5. Al -Asad was brought to an apartment where he was interrogated for approximately five 

hours.14 Authorities questioned him about his immigration status in Tanzania and his acquisition 

of a Tanzanian passport.15  

6. In the early hours of 27 December 2003, al-Asad was again blindfolded and 

handcuffed.16 He was taken to an airport, where he was forced to enter a small aircraft and sit in 

a passenger seat. When he asked his destination, guards responded, ñWe canôt tell you. We are 

just following orders. We have nothing to do with this. People in charge know where we are 

taking you. We are just following orders.ò17 He also heard people speaking English at the front 

of the aircraft.18 The flight took several hours.19 

C. Detention in Djibouti  

                                                      
11 Lauren Walker, ñFor One Detainee, the CIA Torture Report Was a Victory,ò NEWSWEEK (11 December 2014). 

http://www.newsweek.com/man-wrongfully-detained-cia-sees-acknowledgement-torture-report-291121. 
12 Al-Asad v. Djibouti, supra note 4, at 1. 
13 Id. 
14 Id. 
15 Id. 
16 Id. 
17 RENDITION PROJECT, Mohammed al-Asad. https://www.therenditionproject.org.uk/prisoners/asad.html. 
18 Id. 
19 Al-Asad v. Djibouti, supra note 4, at 2. 
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7. When al-Asad landed, he was pushed into a motor vehicle20 and driven for 20-3021 

minutes to a detention facility, where he would be held in isolation for two weeks.22 

8. It is generally acknowledged that this facility was in Djibouti. The media has reported 

that 800 U.S. personnel who were part of a counterterrorism task force were stationed in Djibouti 

in late 2002, at a base for the CIAôs unmanned predator planes,23 and sources in Tanzania have 

confirmed that al-Asad was brought to this base.24 In addition, a picture of the President of 

Djibouti was hanging on the wall of the room where al-Asad was interrogated.25 

9. Upon his arrival, al-Asadôs handcuffs were removed but his blindfold remained. 

Someone speaking Arabic ordered him to sit down, and at that point he removed his blindfold.26 

He saw that he was being kept in a dirty, old, unfurnished room with bits of cardboard box on the 

floor.27 

10. Ten minutes later, al-Asad was transferred to a larger, cleaner room containing only an 

old sponge mattress, a toilet, a tap, and a plastic water basin.28 The room had windows that let in 

mosquitos at night and prevented him from sleeping.29 

11. During al-Asadôs first week of detention, he was not interrogated. He also had no 

opportunities to exercise.30 

                                                      
20 Id. 
21 Sources differ on the exact time al-Asadôs drive took. See RENDITION PROJECT, supra note 17; Al-Asad v. 

Djibouti, supra note 4, at 1. 
22 Sudarsan Raghavan and Julie Tate, supra note 2. 
23 AMNESTY INTERNATIONAL, United States of America: Below the Radar: Secret Flights to Torture and 

ñDisappearanceò 11 (2006). 
24 Id. 
25 Id. 
26 RENDITION PROJECT, supra note 17. 
27 Id. 
28 Id. 
29 Al-Asad v. Djibouti, supra note 4, at 2. 
30 RENDITION PROJECT, supra note 17. 
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12. During the second week of detention, al-Asad was interrogated three times,31 for about an 

hour each time.32 His interrogators were U.S. officials, one man and one woman, who told him 

they were from the FBI.33 An Arabic language interpreter who looked Syrian or Lebanese and, 

occasionally, a third man who said he was from Djibouti were also present at interrogations.34  

13. Al -Asad was interrogated about Al-Haramain, ties to alleged terrorism suspects, and 

specific individuals in Tanzania.35 According to his lawyers, ñHe truly thought that once they 

realized he was innocent that he would be sent home.ò36 Instead, he was told that he would be 

transferred to another place in a few days.37 Thinking that this was a threat, he tried to speak 

calmly, but he says the interpreter responded by shouting and behaving threateningly. Al-Asad 

was afraid the guards would abuse him, and they sometimes threatened his wife and children.38 

D. Extraordinary Rendition to Afghanistan 

14. On January 8th, 2004, al-Asad was extraordinarily rendered from Djibouti to Afghanistan 

on N313P, a Boeing 737 operated by the North Carolina-based company Aero Contractors 

headquartered in Johnston County.39 It was at this point that he formally entered CIA custody40 

for the period noted by the Senate Select Committee on Intelligence (SSCI)ôs report.41 

15. Authorities blindfolded al-Asad and bound his hands with cloth. He was then driven for 

about 20 minutes to an airport.42 Upon arrival, he was pulled out of the car with some force.43 He 

                                                      
31 Al-Asad v. Djibouti, supra note 4, at 2. 
32 RENDITION PROJECT, supra note 17. 
33 AMNESTY INTERNATIONAL, supra note 23, at 11. 
34 RENDITION PROJECT, supra note 17. 
35 Id. 
36 Lauren Walker, supra note 11. 
37 RENDITION PROJECT, supra note 17. 
38 Id. 
39 RENDITION PROJECT, Rendition Circuit Index (2017) [Unpublished data]. 
40 RENDITION PROJECT, supra note 17. 
41 SENATE SELECT COMMITTEE ON INTELLIGENCE, Committee Study of the Central Intelligence Agencyôs Detention 

and Interrogation Program 460 (2014). 
42 RENDITION PROJECT, supra note 17. 
43 Id. 
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saw approximately five men concealing their faces with balaclavas.44 In preparation for his 

extraordinary rendition on the Aero plane, the men tore off his clothing, shoved a finger into his 

rectum, photographed him naked, put him in a diaper, and dressed him in a Western-style short-

sleeved shirt and a pair of trousers. They also plugged his ears with cotton, placed headphones 

and a hood over his head, and tightly taped around his head. His hands, waist, and feet were 

chained.45 Al -Asad remembered, ñI was blind, deaf, and could barely walk. I was in severe pain 

and felt deeply humiliated and weak.ò46 He was so debilitated that he had to be half-carried to the 

aircraft. 47 

16. Once on the aircraft, al-Asad was forced to lie on his back on the floor. He was strapped 

down at the waist and legs. This state, he says, caused him considerable pain because it 

aggravated a previous back injury, but he was unable to shift to a less painful position. When he 

asked for help, there was no response.48 

17. The flight lasted multiple hours and had a short 30-minute stop. Periodically, something 

he suspected was a pulse oxymeter was clamped onto his finger.49 Eventually, he arrived in an 

unknown location, later confirmed to be Afghanistan,50 which he described as ñcold and 

muddy.ò51 

E. Detention in Afghanistan 

                                                      
44 Al-Asad v. Djibouti, supra note 4, at 2. 
45 Id. 
46 RENDITION PROJECT, supra note 17. 
47 Id. 
48 Id. 
49 Id. 
50 Sudarsan Raghavan and Julie Tate, supra note 2, at 1. 
51 AMNESTY INTERNATIONAL, supra note 23, at 12. 



 

47 
  

18. In Afghanistan, al-Asad was held in two different detention facilities.52 They were 

approximately 20-40 minutes apart by car over unpaved roads.53 His cell at the first facility was 

large and dirty, with a rug and a high, narrow window; at the second facility, his cell was smaller 

and darker, and graffiti covered the walls.54 

19. Al -Asad is diabetic, and he says that he was not given necessary medication during this 

period of detention. As a result, he was often dizzy or ill.55 

F. Extraordinary Rendition to Third Facility 

20. In April 2004, likely around the 24th, al-Asad was once again prepared for transfer using 

a method similar to the one inflicted on him previously.56 According to Amnesty International, 

he and the prisoners transferred with him 

were stripped naked before being given absorbent plastic underpants, a pair of knee 

length cotton trousers to wear over them, a cotton shirt, and a pair of blue overalls. 

They were handcuffed and their hands were strapped to a belt around their waist, 

their legs were shackled together and to the belt. Foam earplugs were inserted in 

their ears. They were blindfolded and had their mouths covered with a surgical 

facemask, presumably to prevent them from talking. They were then hooded, and 

tape or a bandage was wrapped around the hood to prevent movement. Finally, a 

pair of heavy, sound-deadening headphones were placed over the hood.57 

 

21. After a flight that al-Asad remembers being longer than four hours, the plane landed, and 

he was made to wait for about an hour. He was then thrown roughly into a helicopter with 

several other prisoners and flew for 2.5-3 hours. When the helicopter landed, he was taken to a 

new detention facility by car.58 

G. Detention in Third Facility, Likely Eastern Europe 

                                                      
52 Al-Asad v. Djibouti, supra note 4, at 2. 
53 AMNESTY INTERNATIONAL, supra note 23, at 12. 
54 Id. 
55 Id. 
56 Id. 
57 Id. 
58 Id. 
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22. Al -Asad spent 13 months in the final secret facility.59 Though its location is 

unconfirmed,60 it is believed that the facility was in Eastern Europe.61 Flight times, food 

offerings, weather patterns, and the variation in the hour of sunset all provide evidence for this 

conclusion.62 

23. This facility was new or refurbished, well-staffed and resourced, and highly organized.63 

In addition, Amnesty International reports that it was ñcarefully designed and operated to ensure 

maximum security and secrecy, as well as disorientation, dependence and stress for the 

detainees.ò64 

24. During his detention at this facility, al-Asad was never permitted to go outside or to look 

through a window.65 Artificial light was typically kept on for 24 hours per day, and when it 

failed the cells were pitch black.66 

25. All of the guards and officials at the facility were Americans. The director of the prison, 

one of the few people detainees saw unmasked, told al-Asad in 2004 that he was ñat the top of 

the listò to be returned home.67 

H. Torture During Detention 

26. During his detention in Djibouti, Afghanistan, and a third unconfirmed location, al-Asad 

was subject to numerous forms of torture. These included solitary confinement, constant loud 

                                                      
59 Id. 
60 Id. 
61 Sudarsan Raghavan and Julie Tate, supra note 2, at 1. 
62 AMNESTY INTERNATIONAL, supra note 23, at 13-15. 
63 Id. at 13. 
64 Id. 
65 Id.  
66 Id. at 14. 
67 Id. at 13. 
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music, dietary manipulation, artificial light 24 hours per day, denial of adequate medical care, 

and exposure to cold weather.68 

I. Transfer to Yemen & Ultimate Release 

27. On 5 May 2005, al-Asad was transferred to Yemeni custody.69 He was transported in 

what was likely a small military jet.70 

28. The US Embassy had informed Yemeni officials of al-Asadôs impending arrival the 

previous day. Yemeni officials received no information about evidence or charges against him, 

but were told to keep him in custody until his case file was transferred to Yemen. No case file 

arrived.71 

29. After nine months of detention in Yemen, al-Asad was brought to trial for obtaining a 

false travel document. He pled guilty and was released on the basis of time served on 14 March 

2004. This occurred about two and a half years after his initial arrest. At no point was al-Asad 

ever charged for any terrorism-related crime.72 

30. Upon his release, al-Asad told Amnesty International, ñFor me now, it has to be a new 

life, because I will never recover the old one.ò73 He lost his business and was not permitted to 

return home to Tanzania; instead, he was forced to re-establish a life in Yemen along with his 

wife and five children, the fifth of whom was born while he was in detention.74 

J. Search for Justice 

31. In 2009, British and American human rights lawyers confidentially filed legal documents 

at the African Commission on Human and Peopleôs Rights on al-Asadôs behalf, requesting that 

                                                      
68 Al-Asad v. Djibouti, supra note 4, at 2-3. 
69 Id. at 3. 
70 AMNESTY INTERNATIONAL, supra note 23, at 15. 
71 Id. at 15-16. 
72 Id. at 16. 
73 Id. at 16. 
74 Lauren Walker, supra note 11. 
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the government of Djibouti be held accountable for the abuses it committed.75 They made the 

case public in 2011, apparently to put pressure on the body to move forward with the case.76 

32. In 2014, the African Commission on Human and Peopleôs Rights rejected al-Asadôs case 

on the grounds that there was not sufficient evidence that he was detained in Djibouti.77 Months 

later, leaks from the still-classified SSCI torture report executive summary revealed that, 

contrary to its previous denials, Djibouti played a significant role in the CIAôs Rendition, 

Detention, and Interrogation (RDI) program. Based on this new evidence, al-Asadôs lawyers 

have submitted a request for the Commission to reconsider its decision.78 

III . Laws Condemning Extraordinary Rendition, Torture, and Detention 

A. International Law Violations 

33. Al -Asadôs abuse was a serious violation of ñone of the most universally recognized 

human rightsò :79 the prohibition on torture. The prohibition on torture is a peremptory norm. 

This status means that all states, including those that have not officially agreed to adhere to it, 

must uphold the prohibition. In addition, no situation justifies derogating from it.80 There is, 

therefore, no circumstance that could have legitimized al-Asadôs abuse. 

34. Beyond being a peremptory norm, the prohibition on torture is a pillar of the United 

Statesô human rights policy. The country has upheld it in numerous treaties, including the 

Universal Declaration of Human Rights (UDHR), the International Covenant on Civil and 

                                                      
75 Sudarsan Raghavan and Julie Tate, supra note 2, at 1. 
76 Id. at 2. 
77 Al-Asad v. Djibouti, supra note 4, at 37. 
78 CENTER FOR HUMAN RIGHTS AND GLOBAL JUSTICE, Press Release: Rendition Victim Seeks Second Chance at 

Justice, NEW YORK UNIVERSITY SCHOOL OF LAW (2014). http://chrgj.org/rendition-victim-seeks-second-chance-at-

justicecase-against-djibouti-demonstrates-urgent-need-for-transparency-about-cia-rendition-program/. 
79 INTERNATIONAL JUSTICE RESOURCE CENTER, Torture, http://www.ijrcenter.org/thematic-research-guides/torture/. 
80 Id. 
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Political Rights (ICCPR), and the Convention Against Torture (CAT). Each one of these treaties 

was violated by al-Asadôs torture. 

35. The UDHR and the ICCPR both require that ñno one shall be subjected to torture or to 

cruel, inhuman or degrading treatment or punishment.ò81 Furthermore, the ICCPR reinforces the 

fact that no situationïïnot even public emergencyïïjustifies making an exception to the 

prohibition. The torture inflicted on al-Asad violated both of these treaties. 

36. The CAT, which was ratified by the U.S. in 1994,82 also prohibits torture. 83 Like the ICCPR, 

it additionally states that the prohibition holds even in ñexceptional circumstances.ò 84 The U.S. 

violated both of these provisions of the CAT by torturing al-Asad. 

37.  The U.S. also violated the CAT by failing to adequately train the personnel who inflicted 

the abuse on al-Asad. The CAT states that parties must ñensure that education and information 

regarding the prohibition against torture [are provided to all personnel] involved in a custody 

interrogation, or treatment of any individual to any form of arrest, detention, or imprisonment.ò85 

The fact that al-Asad was tortured demonstrates that this obligation was not fulfilled. 

38. The CAT was once more violated by the United Statesô failure to implement adequate 

measures to prevent torture. The CAT requires the United States to 

take effective legislative, administrative, judicial, or other measures to prevent 

acts of torture in any territory under its jurisdiction and that no state that is a party 

to it may expel, return, or extradite a person to another state where there are 

                                                      
81 Universal Declaration of Human Rights, G.A. Res. 217A (III), U.N. Doc. A/810 at 71 (1948), at art. 5. 

[Hereinafter UDHR]; International Covenant on Civil and Political Rights, art. 4, Dec. 16, 1966, S. Treaty Doc. No. 

95-20, 6 I.L.M. 368 (1967), 999 U.N.T.S. 171. [Hereinafter ICCPR]. 
82 UNITED NATIONS, Status of Treaties: Convention Against Torture and Other Cruel, Inhuman or Degrading 

Treatment or Punishment, https://treaties.un.org/Pages/ViewDetails.aspx?src=IND&mtdsg_no=IV-

9&chapter=4&lang=en. 
83 Convention against Torture and Other Cruel, Inhuman or Degrading Treatment or Punishment art. 1, Dec. 10, 

1984, 1465 U.N.T.S. 113 [hereinafter CAT]. 
84 CAT, supra note 18, at art. 2. 
85 CAT, supra note 83. 
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substantial grounds for believing that he would be in danger of being subjected to 

torture.86 

 

39. According to this provision, the United States must go beyond prohibiting torture within 

its borders by ensuring that no U.S. state or territory extradites an individual to a country where 

they could be tortured.87 The U.S. did not adhere to this directive. 

40. Pursuant to the Supremacy Clause of the U.S. Constitution, individual states also have 

this obligation. North Carolina is thus bound by law to ascertain that appropriate measures are 

taken to prevent torture, irrespective of where it occurs. 

41. The way for North Carolina to uphold this responsibility is by taking ñadministrativeò 

measures as described in the CAT. Specifically, North Carolinaôs political entities and 

subdivisions must revoke or discontinue Aeroôs ñflying permits, licenses, and leases.ò 88 Given 

Aero Contractorsô critical contribution to the RDI program and the torture it entailed, failure to 

do so would be a violation of the CAT.  

42. Torture was not the only crime perpetrated against al-Asad. His extraordinary rendition 

also violated international law, namely, the Protocol to Prevent, Suppress, and Punish 

Trafficking in Persons, Especially Women and Children, Supplementing the United Nations 

Convention Against Transnational Organized Crime, (ñthe Protocolò).89 The purpose of the 

Protocol is to eradicate ñtrafficking in persons,ò which it defines as 

the recruitment, transportation, transfer, harboring or receipt of persons, by means 

of the threat or use of force or other forms of coercion, of abduction, of fraud, of 

                                                      
86 CAT, supra note 72, at art. 2, 114. 
87 Deborah M. Weissman et al., Obligations and Obstacles: Holding North Carolina Accountable for Extraordinary 

Rendition and Torture, UNC SCH. L. IMMIGRATION &  HUM. RTS. POL. CLINIC 1, 37 (2013), 

http://www.law.unc.edu/documents/clinicalprograms/obligationsandobstaclesncreport.pdf [hereinafter Weissman et 

al., Obligations and Obstacles]. 
88 Id. 
89 UNITED NATIONS, Status of Treaties: a Protocol to Prevent, Suppress and Punish Trafficking in Persons, 

Especially Women and Children, supplementing the United Nations Convention against Transnational Organized 

Crime. https://treaties.un.org/pages/ViewDetails.aspx?src=TREATY&mtdsg_no=XVIII-12-

a&chapter=18&clang=_en. 
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deception, of the abuse of power or of a position of vulnerability or of the giving or 

receiving of payments or benefits to achieve the consent of a person having control 

over another person, for the purpose of exploitation. Exploitation shall include, at 

a minimum, the exploitation of the prostitution of others or other forms of sexual 

exploitation, forced labor or services, slavery or practices similar to slavery, 

servitude or the removal of organs. 90 

 

43. The multiple extraordinary renditions suffered by al-Asad violate the Protocolôs ban on 

human trafficking. 

44. His ordeal violated other provisions of the Protocol, as well. For instance, the Protocol 

dictates that victims of human trafficking are entitled to ñthe provision of: (a) Appropriate 

housing; (b) Counselling and information, in particular as regards their legal rights, in a language 

that the victims of trafficking in persons can understand; (c) Medical, psychological and material 

assistance; and (d) Employment, educational and training opportunities.ò91 Al -Asad has not 

received any of these forms of assistance, despite being entitled to them as a victim of human 

trafficking. This state of affairs violates international law. 

45. In addition, the Protocol dictates that ñeach State Party shall ensure that its domestic legal 

system contains measures that offer victims of trafficking in persons the possibility of obtaining 

compensation for damage suffered.ò92 Al -Asad has not been offered any path in the United 

Statesô legal system to obtain compensation for the abuses he suffered, which is a violation of the 

Protocol. 

B. Federal Law Violations 

                                                      
90 U.N.T.S. vol. 2237, Doc. A/55/383, p. 319, https://www.osce.org/odihr/19223?download=true.  
91 U.N.T.S. vol. 2237, Doc. A/55/383, supra note 25, at 3-4. 
92 U.N.T.S. vol. 2237, Doc. A/55/383, supra note 25, at 4. 

https://www.osce.org/odihr/19223?download=true
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46. Pursuant to the Supremacy Clause, treaties ratified by the United States are legally 

equivalent to federal statutes. In consequence, the international law violations outlined above 

constitute federal law violations as well. 93  

47. Al -Asadôs abuse violated additional federal laws beyond these treaties. For instance, the 

Eighth Amendment prohibits ñcruel and unusual punishments.ò 94 The torture inflicted on al-

Asad violates this clause of the Constitution. 

48. The failure to seek accountability for al-Asadôs torture also violates federal law. The 

Federal Torture Statute (FTS) states that anyone who ñcommits or attempts to commit tortureò 

outside the United States ñshall be fined under this title or imprisoned not more than 20 years, or 

bothò.95 No American public official has ever been prosecuted for al-Asadôs abuse; this violates 

the FTS.  

49. Additional federal laws offer potential paths to accountability for al-Asadôs torture. For 

example, the Alien Tort Statute (ATS) provides non-U.S. citizens who are the victims of 

egregious human rights violations with the capacity to sue government officials and private 

actors in U.S. courts. They can do so regardless of where the human rights violations in question 

occurred. In 2010, five former detainees used the ATS as grounds to sue the United States and 

Jeppesen Dataplan,96 a company that provided ñflight planning and logistical support services to 

the aircraft and crew on all of the flights transporting each of the five plaintiffs among the 

various locations where they were detained and allegedly subjected to torture.ò 97 This case sets a 

                                                      
93 Weissman et al., supra note 87, at 36. 
94 U.S. CONST. amend VIII 
95 18 U.S. Code § 2340A. 
96 The five individuals who stood as the Plaintiffs-Appellants in the 9th Circuit opinion were Binyam Mohamed, 

Abou Elkassim Britel, Ahmed Agiza, Mohamed Farag Ahmad Bashmilah, and Bisher Al-Rawi. Narratives written 

about all of them, with the exception of Agiza, have also been included in this collective report. See Brief of 

Plaintiffs-Appellants, Mohamed et al., v. Jeppesen Dataplan, No. 08-15693 (9th Cir. Sept. 8, 2010).  
97 Id. at 13526.  
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precedent demonstrating that both the United States and Aero Contractors can be prosecuted 

under the ATS. 

50. The Torture Victims Protection Act (TVPA) of 1991 can also be used to seek 

accountability for the United Statesô and Aeroôs crimes against al-Asad. Established to help 

fulfill the United Statesô obligations under the UN Charter and other mechanisms for the 

protection of international human rights, the TVPA implemented a ñcivil action for recovery of 

damages from an individual who engages in torture or extrajudicial killing.ò98 The TVPA 

provides al-Asad with grounds to seek compensation for the abuse inflicted on him. 

C. North Carolina Law Violations 

51. In operating the planes used for the RDI program, Aero Contractors violated numerous 

North Carolina state laws. These violations place the state in the unique position of being able to 

achieve accountability for international human rights violations on a state level.      

52. Many such violations were committed against the North Carolina Constitution. Under 

Article I, Ä 19 of the North Carolina Constitution, for instance, ñno person shall be taken, 

imprisoned, or disseized of his freehold, liberties or privileges, or outlawed, or exiled, or in any 

manner deprived of his life, liberty, or property . . .ò99 Kidnapping, involuntary servitude, 

trafficking, and criminal conspiracy are addressed in other provisions of the Constitution; Aero 

Contractors facilitated or directly participated in all of those crimes by operating planes used for 

torture and extraordinary rendition. 100 The company therefore violated the North Carolina 

Constitution. 

                                                      
98 Torture Victim Protection Act of 1991, Pub. L. No. 102-256, pmbl., 106 Stat. 73, 73 (1992).  
99 N.C. CONST. art. 1, § 19. 
100 See N.C. GEN. STAT. § 14-39 (2016) (ñKidnappingò); see also N.C. GEN. STAT. § 14-2.4 (2016) (ñPunishment for 

conspiracy to commit a felonyò). 
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53. Aero Contractors also violated section 14-39 of the North Carolina General Statutes. This 

section criminalizes kidnapping101 and additionally forbids ñserious bodily harm to or terrorizing 

the personò who has been abducted.102 Furthermore, the North Carolina legislature has 

established the crime of ñfirst-degree kidnapping,ò wherein the kidnapped individual is not 

transported to a safe place, or has been ñseriously injured or sexually assaulted.ò103 Al -Asadôs 

extraordinary rendition entailed kidnapping, and his torture constitutes ñserious bodily harmò and 

ñinjury.ò NGCS § 14-39 has thus been violated. 

 IV. Conclusion 

54. According to state, domestic, and international law, the things al-Asad was forced to 

experienceïïincluding extraordinary rendition, extralegal detention, and tortureïïwere illegal. 

As the entities responsible for these crimes, the United States, North Carolina and its political 

subdivisions, and Aero Contractors are legally bound to provide redress for al-Asadôs suffering. 

The ICCPR and the CAT even identify specific forms that redress might take, such as official 

acknowledgment, remedial action, and compensation for any damages incurred by victims. 104   

 The continued failure to provide redress to al-Asad sends an unacceptable message: that 

the United States endorses torture and allows it to be committed with impunity. This attitude 

conveys not only an abhorrent indifference to human rights, but also an assurance to potential 

perpetrators of torture that their crimes can be committed without fear of justice.

                                                      
101 N.C. GEN. STAT., supra note 36, at § 14-39(a)(2). 
102 N.C. GEN. STAT., supra note 36, at § 14-39(a)(3). 
103 N.C. GEN. STAT., supra note 36, at § 14-39(b). 
104 See ICCPR, supra note 81; see also Convention Against Torture, supra note 83. 
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Salah Nasir Salim Ali Qaru 

I. Introduction  

1. Salah Nasir Salim Ali Qaru is a Yemeni national who was wrongfully detained in the 

CIAôs secret prison system for approximately 2 years,1 despite the fact that evidence against him 

was at best speculative.2 After his 2003 arrest in Indonesia, Qaru was detained and tortured for 

several days in Jordan.3 From Jordan, Qaru was rendered to a secret prison in Afghanistan on a 

jet airplane operated by Aero Contractors headquartered in North Carolina,4 and then imprisoned 

for some time in a detention facility thought to be in Eastern Europe.5 Eventually, he was flown 

to Yemen, where, despite the submission of any proof against him, he pled guilty in February 

2006 to obtaining a forged travel document and was released on the basis of time served.6 

II. Detention 

A. Detention in Indonesia 

2. In August 2003, Qaru was taken into custody by Indonesian immigration officials, 

purportedly for questioning about his visa.7 However, Amnesty International reports that 

detaining people to question them about their immigration status is a common tactic in 

intelligence investigations by which to justify questioning and holding individuals,8 and it seems 

                                                      
1 OPEN SOCIETY JUSTICE INITIATIVE , Globalizing Torture: CIA Detention and Extraordinary Rendition 52 (2013). 
2 SENATE SELECT COMMITTEE ON INTELLIGENCE, Committee Study of the Central Intelligence Agencyôs Detention 

and Interrogation Program 16 (2014). 
3 RENDITION PROJECT, Salah Qaru. https://www.therenditionproject.org.uk/prisoners/qaru.html. 
4 RENDITION PROJECT, Rendition Circuit Index. [Unpublished.] 
5 AMNESTY INTERNATIONAL, United States of America: Below the Radar: Secret Flights to Torture and 

ñDisappearanceò 12-13 (2006). https://www.therenditionproject.org.uk/documents/RDI/060405-Amnesty-Below-

the-Radar.pdf. 
6 OPEN SOCIETY JUSTICE INITIATIVE , supra note 1, at 52. 
7 AMNESTY INTERNATIONAL, United States of America/Yemen: Secret Detention in CIA ñBlack Sitesò 6 (2005). 

(Salah Nasir Salim Ali Qaru is referred to in this report as Salim óAli), at 

https://www.therenditionproject.org.uk/documents/RDI/051108-Amnesty-CIA-Black-Sites.pdf. 
8 Id. at 5. 
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that this was the true purpose of Qaruôs detention. Despite the fact that his detention was 

ostensibly related to his immigration status, Qaru was held in an intelligence services center.9 

3. At the intelligence services center, Qaru was chained to a wall for three days without 

food.10 His wife Aisha was tried to see him three times, but she was denied access. Qaru knew 

that she was attempting to call him because his cell phone was left right outside of his cell, 

slightly beyond his reach, and it rang repeatedly until its batteries failed.11   

4. After the intelligence services center, Qaru was held in a deportation center for three 

weeks.12 He was eventually given a plane ticket to Yemen via Thailand and Jordan. Aisha, an 

Indonesian citizen, could not travel with him because she was in her last month of pregnancy.13 

B. Detention in Jordan 

5. In Jordan, Qaru was removed from the plane and questioned by the Jordanian General 

Intelligence Department (GID), who asked him if he had ever been in Afghanistan. Qaru, who 

had a stamp from Afghanistan on his passport, answered affirmatively and was taken into 

custody. 14   

6.  The GID interrogated Qaru about ñjihad in Afghanistanò for 10 days, which confused 

him because the questions had no relevance to the time period he had spent in Afghanistan. Qaru 

was ñtortured horriblyò during interrogations.15 

7. For example, Qaru described 

being suspended from the ceiling and having the soles of his feet beaten so badly 

that when they took him down from the hooks he had to crawl back to his cell. He 

was stripped and beaten by a ring of masked soldiers with sticks. óWhen one got 

tired of hitting me, they would replace him,ô he told Amnesty International. óThey 

                                                      
9 Id. at 6. 
10 Id. 
11 Id. at 6-7. 
12 Id. at 7. 
13 Id. 
14 Id. 
15 Id. 
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tried to force me to walk like an animal, on my hands and feet, and I refused, so 

they stretched me out on the floor and walked on me and put their shoes in my 

mouth.ô Another time, he said, a guard noticed he had a bad foot, and forced him 

to stand on it throughout the night while they interrogated him: sometimes during 

interrogation they held plates of food near his face while they ate, although he was 

not fed; sometimes they put out cigarettes on his arm.16  

 

C. Rendition from Jordan to Afghanistan 

8. On 9 September,17 after 10 days of detention in Jordan, Qaru was hooded and shackled, 

had foam stuffed into his ears, and was put on a plane. He was forced onto his back and his arms 

were chained to the floor during the flight that lasted 3-4 hours.18 

9. The plane that transported Qaru to Afghanistan was a Gulfstream V jet registered as 

N379P. The plane was operated by Aero Contractors, a company based in North Carolina that 

flew out of Johnston County airport.19 

D. Detention in Afghanistan 

10. At the facility, which was likely the secret prison known as DETENTION SITE 

COBALT,20 other detainees communicated to Qaru that he was in Afghanistan.21 Qaru was held 

at this facility for 7 months.22 

11. The guards at the prison were always covered and wore masks and gloves.23 However, 

Qaru was able to identify that all the guards and interrogators were American.24 

                                                      
16 Id. 
17 RENDITION PROJECT, Rendition Circuit Index (2017) [Unpublished]. 
18 RENDITION PROJECT, supra note 3. 
19 RENDITION PROJECT, Rendition Circuit Index (2017) [Unpublished]. 
20 Id. 
21 AMNESTY INTERNATIONAL, supra note 5, at 10. 
22 RENDITION PROJECT, supra note 3. 
23 AMNESTY INTERNATIONAL, supra note 5, at 10. 
24 Id. at 10. 
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12.  Qaru and the other prisoners at the facility were held in complete isolation in cells that 

were approximately 2 meters by 3 meters. In addition, they were constantly shackled to a ring 

attached to the floor and were monitored at all times by two cameras in the cells.25 

13. Whenever Qaru left his cellïïfor example, for a shower or interrogationïïthe guards 

required him to follow a specific routine. As the guard opened the door, Qaru was forced to turn 

his back to the door and place his hands on the wall opposite. He would then be hooded and 

handcuffed with his arms behind his back before his shackles were removed. Amnesty 

International reports that the hoods used in the prison ñhad a kind of noose that could be 

tightened around the neck if the detainee did not move fast enough or in the right direction.ò26  

14. Qaru was allowed outside for 20 minutes once a week. During this time, he was brought 

to a courtyard with very high walls and forced to sit in a chair facing the wall. His hood would 

not be removed until he was seated. He was not allowed to look left or right, and a guard behind 

the chair would ñenforce the rules.ò27  

E. Rendition from Afghanistan to Unknown Location 

15. In April 2004, likely around the 24th, Qaru was underwent preparations for another 

rendition.  

 

He was stripped naked before being given absorbent plastic underpants, a pair of 

knee length cotton trousers to wear over them, a cotton shirt, and a pair of blue 

overalls. [He and the men with whom he was transported] were handcuffed and 

their hands were strapped to a belt around the waist, their legs were shackled 

together and to the belt. Foam earplugs were inserted in their ears. They were 

blindfolded and had their mouths covered with a surgical facemask, presumably to 

prevent them from talking. They were then hooded, and tape or a bandage was 

wrapped around the hood to prevent movement. Finally, a pair of heavy, sound-

deadening headphones were placed over the hood. A similar process was described 

by Swedish police officers who witnessed a US-led renditions team preparing two 

                                                      
25 Id. at 11. 
26 Id. 
27 Id. 
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men for transfer in December 2001; the renditions team told them that the 

procedures had become policy for transporting terrorist suspects ñpost 9/11ò.28 

 

16. Qaru remembers being transported on a plane for three to four hours and then by 

helicopter for approximately two and a half to three hours. After that, he was taken to a new 

detention facility by car.29 

17. The CIA has refused to reveal the location of this detention facility, and different sources 

have speculated that it could be in different places. The Rendition Project believes that the 

facility was DETENTION SITE ORANGE,30 which is also located in Afghanistan.31 However, 

Amnesty International provides extensive evidence suggesting that the facility was in Eastern 

Europe.32 

F. Detention in Unknown Location (Possibly Eastern Europe) 

18. Qaru was imprisoned in this detention facility for 13 months.33 The facility was ñnew or 

refurbished, and carefully designed and operated to ensure maximum security and secrecy, as 

well as disorientation, dependence and stress for the detainees.ò34 All of the guards and officials 

at the facility were Americans.35 

19. Upon arrival, Qaru was examined by a doctor or medic, who photographed him naked 

and noted wounds and marks on his body on a medical record. He was also weighed on a scale 

that measured only in pounds.36 

                                                      
28 Id. at 12. 
29 Id. 
30 RENDITION PROJECT, supra note 3. 
31 Crofton Black and Sam Raphael, Revealed: The Boom and Bust of the CIAôs Secret Torture Sites, BUREAU OF 

INVESTIGATIVE JOURNALISM (14 October 2015). https://www.thebureauinvestigates.com/stories/2015-10-

14/revealed-the-boom-and-bust-of-the-cias-secret-torture-sites. 
32 AMNESTY INTERNATIONAL, supra note 5, at 12-15. 
33 RENDITION PROJECT, supra note 3. 
34 AMNESTY INTERNATIONAL, supra note 5, at 13. 
35 Id. 
36 Id. 
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20. During his time at the detention facility, Qaru was never allowed to go outside or even 

look out a window.37 Artificial light kept the cells bright 24 hours per day, and in the winter the 

cells were colder than anything he had ever experienced.38 

G. Detention in Yemen 

21. Between 1-7 May 2005, after more than 19 months in CIA secret detention, Qaru was 

flown to Yemen alongside two other Yemeni detainees.39 

22. The U.S. Embassy in Yemen had informed Yemeni officials that Qaru and two other men 

would be transferred to Yemeni custody. The U.S. did not offer any information on their charges 

or evidence against them and instructed Yemeni officials to keep them in custody until their case 

files were transferred from Washington, D.C. No such files were ever transferred, and Qaru was 

held in arbitrary detention in Yemen for more than nine months. 40 

23. On 13 February 2006, approximately two and a half years since his arrest, Qaru was 

brought to trial for ñforgery in connection with obtaining a false travel document for personal 

use.ò41 The alleged forgery was not produced as evidence. Nonetheless, Qaru pled guilty and was 

sentenced to two years in prison. Including the time he had spent in secret detention, he had 

already served his time, so a judge ordered his release.42 

24. Qaru was released in Aden on either 27 or 28 March. He was directed to report to 

political security every month and not to leave Aden without permission.43 

H. Aftermath of Detention 

                                                      
37 Id. 
38 Id. at 14 
39 RENDITION PROJECT, supra note 3. 
40 AMNESTY INTERNATIONAL, supra note 5, at 15-16. 
41 Id. at 16. 
42 Id. 
43 Id. 
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25. Qaruôs ordeal has not ended with his release from arbitrary detention. Amnesty 

International describes what the lives of Qaru and Muhammad Basmilah, who was detained 

alongside him, are like now: 

The prospects areébleak for Muhammad Bashmilah and Salah Qaru. The men do 

not know if they will be reunited with their wives in Indonesia, who have been 

thrown into destitution by their absence. Even if they manage to raise the money, 

they may not get permission to travel to Indonesia. Nor will it be easy for them to 

support themselves in Yemen. Even though they were never charged with a terrorist 

offence, they believe that they will remain stigmatized because they were detained 

by the USA. Under suspicion by any potential employers, and harassed by the 

security and intelligence service, they fear they will never be able to lead normal 

lives or take care of their families. All three men have suffered emotional and 

physical trauma ï Salah Qaru and Muhammad Bashmilah have described severe 

torture during their detention in Jordan and are in urgent need of medical attention 

for problems caused or exacerbated by the long months in isolation and secret 

detention.44 

 

III. Laws Condemning Extraordinary Rendition, Torture, and Detention  

A. International Law Violations 

26. Salah Nasir Salim Ali Qaruôs abuse in both Jordanian and American custody violated 

ñone of the most universally recognized human rightsò:45 the prohibition on torture. As a 

peremptory norm, the prohibition on torture is applicable to all statesïïincluding those that have 

not agreed to abide by itïïand in all situationsïïincluding conflict or emergency. 46 Qaruôs 

torture, therefore, cannot be justified by appealing to American intelligence or security concerns. 

27. Furthermore, the United States has gone beyond observing the prohibitionôs status as a 

peremptory norm by ratifying numerous international treaties that also forbid torture. These 

include the Declaration of Human Rights (UDHR), the International Covenant on Civil and 

                                                      
44 Id. 
45 INTERNATIONAL JUSTICE RESOURCE CENTER, Torture, http://www.ijrcenter.org/thematic-research-guides/torture/. 
46 Id. 
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Political Rights (ICCPR), and the Convention Against Torture (CAT). Qaruôs torture violates all 

of them.  

28. Both the UDHR and the ICCPR dictate that ñno one shall be subjected to torture or to 

cruel, inhuman or degrading treatment or punishment.ò47 In addition, the ICCPR states that no 

situationïïnot even public emergencyïïlegitimizes derogation from the prohibition. The torture 

Qaru suffered violated both of these treaties. 

29. Ratified by the U.S. in 1994,48 the CAT also forbids torture, 49 including in ñexceptionalò 

circumstances.50 This provision, which represents the most essential purpose of the CAT, was 

violated by Qaruôs treatment. 

30. The U.S. violated additional provisions of the CAT as well. For example, the CAT states 

that the United States must: 

take effective legislative, administrative, judicial, or other measures to prevent 

acts of torture in any territory under its jurisdiction and that no state that is a party 

to it may expel, return, or extradite a person to another state where there are 

substantial grounds for believing that he would be in danger of being subjected to 

torture.51 

 

31. According to this provision, the United States must not only prohibit torture within its 

borders, but also ensure that no U.S. state or territory extradites someone to a country where they 

may experience torture. 52 

                                                      
47 Universal Declaration of Human Rights, G.A. Res. 217A (III), U.N. Doc. A/810 at 71 (1948), at art. 5. 

[Hereinafter UDHR]; International Covenant on Civil and Political Rights, art. 4, Dec. 16, 1966, S. Treaty Doc. No. 

95-20, 6 I.L.M. 368 (1967), 999 U.N.T.S. 171. [Hereinafter ICCPR]. 
48 UNITED NATIONS, Status of Treaties: Convention Against Torture and Other Cruel, Inhuman or Degrading 

Treatment or Punishment, https://treaties.un.org/Pages/ViewDetails.aspx?src=IND&mtdsg_no=IV-

9&chapter=4&lang=en. 
49 Convention against Torture and Other Cruel, Inhuman or Degrading Treatment or Punishment art. 1, Dec. 10, 

1984, 1465 U.N.T.S. 113 [hereinafter CAT]. 
50 CAT, supra note 18, at art. 2. 
51 CAT, supra note 18, at art. 2, 114. 
52 Deborah M. Weissman et al., Obligations and Obstacles: Holding North Carolina Accountable for Extraordinary 

Rendition and Torture, UNC SCH. L. IMMIGRATION &  HUM. RTS. POL. CLINIC 1, 37 (2013), 

http://www.law.unc.edu/documents/clinicalprograms/obligationsandobstaclesncreport.pdf [hereinafter Weissman et 

al., Obligations and Obstacles]. 
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32. Pursuant to the Supremacy Clause of the U.S. Constitution, individual states must also 

adhere to this requirement. North Carolina is therefore legally obliged to ensure that appropriate 

measures are taken to prevent torture, regardless of where that torture occurs. 

33. The state can and must fulfill that obligation through the ñadministrativeò measures to 

which the CAT refers. 53 In particular, North Carolinaôs political entities and subdivisions must 

revoke or discontinue Aeroôs ñflying permits, licenses, and leases.ò 54 Considering the critical 

contribution Aero Contractors made to the rendition and torture of Qaru and many others, failing 

to do so would be a violation of the CAT.  

34. Qaruôs extraordinary rendition, in addition to his torture, violated international law. 

Specifically, his rendition violated the Protocol to Prevent, Suppress, and Punish Trafficking in 

Persons, Especially Women and Children, Supplementing the United Nations Convention 

Against Transnational Organized Crime, (ñthe Protocolò).55 The Protocol is dedicated to the 

eradication of ñtrafficking in persons,ò which it defines as: 

the recruitment, transportation, transfer, harboring or receipt of persons, by means 

of the threat or use of force or other forms of coercion, of abduction, of fraud, of 

deception, of the abuse of power or of a position of vulnerability or of the giving or 

receiving of payments or benefits to achieve the consent of a person having control 

over another person, for the purpose of exploitation. Exploitation shall include, at 

a minimum, the exploitation of the prostitution of others or other forms of sexual 

exploitation, forced labor or services, slavery or practices similar to slavery, 

servitude or the removal of organs. 56 

 

 35. Qaruôs extraordinary rendition violated the Protocolôs ban on human trafficking. 

                                                      
53 Id. at 38. 
54 Id. 
55 UNITED NATIONS, Status of Treaties: a Protocol to Prevent, Suppress and Punish Trafficking in Persons, 

Especially Women and Children, supplementing the United Nations Convention against Transnational Organized 

Crime. https://treaties.un.org/pages/ViewDetails.aspx?src=TREATY&mtdsg_no=XVIII-12-

a&chapter=18&clang=_en. 
56 U.N.T.S. vol. 2237, Doc. A/55/383, p. 319, https://www.osce.org/odihr/19223?download=true.  

https://www.osce.org/odihr/19223?download=true
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36. Other aspects of his ordeal violated additional provisions of the Protocol, which dictate 

what entitlements are owed to victims of human trafficking. Those entitlements include ñthe 

provision of: (a) Appropriate housing; (b) Counselling and information, in particular as regards 

their legal rights, in a language that the victims of trafficking in persons can understand; (c) 

Medical, psychological and material assistance; and (d) Employment, educational and training 

opportunities.ò57 Qaru has not received any of these forms of assistance, though his status as a 

victim of human trafficking should entitle him to them. This is a violation of international law.  

37. The Protocol also states, ñEach State Party shall ensure that its domestic legal system 

contains measures that offer victims of trafficking in persons the possibility of obtaining 

compensation for damage suffered.ò58 Qaru has never been offered any opportunity to obtain 

compensation for the damage he has suffered, which violates the Protocol. 

B. Federal Law Violations 

38. Pursuant to the Supremacy Clause, treaties ratified by the United States legally bind 

individual states as fully as federal statutes. As a result, the international law violations detailed 

above also constitute federal law violations. 59 

39. Beyond these treaty violations, still more federal laws were violated by Qaruôs treatment. 

The Eighth Amendment of the U.S. Constitution, for example, forbids ñcruel and unusual 

punishments.ò 60 Qaruôs torture violated this clause of the Constitution.  

40. The lack of accountability regarding Qaruôs torture is another violation of federal law. 

The Federal Torture Statute (FTS) states that anyone who ñcommits or attempts to commit 

tortureò outside the United States ñshall be fined under this title or imprisoned not more than 20 

                                                      
57 U.N.T.S. vol. 2237, Doc. A/55/383, supra note 25, at 3-4. 
58 U.N.T.S. vol. 2237, Doc. A/55/383, supra note 25, at 4. 
59 Weissman et al., supra note 52, at 36. 
60 U.S. CONST. amend VIII 
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years, or bothò.61 No American public official has ever been prosecuted for Qaruôs abuse, which 

violates the FTS.  

41. Other federal laws could be used to achieve accountability for Qaruôs torture. One such 

law is the Alien Tort Statute (ATS), which grants non-U.S. citizens who are the victims of 

egregious human rights violations (no matter where those violations occur) the capacity to sue 

government officials and private actors in U.S. courts. In 2010, using the ATS, five former 

detainees sued the United States and Jeppesen Dataplan,62 a company that provided ñflight 

planning and logistical support services to the aircraft and crew on all of the flights transporting 

each of the five plaintiffs among the various locations where they were detained and allegedly 

subjected to torture.ò63 In doing so, they set a precedent for the prosecution of both the United 

States and Aero Contractors under the ATS. 

42. The U.S. and Aero could also be held accountable under the Torture Victims Protection 

Act (TVPA) of 1991. Intended to assist in the fulfillment of the United Statesô responsibilities 

under the UN Charter and other international human rights protection mechanisms, the TVPA 

ñestablish[es] a civil action for recovery of damages from an individual who engages in torture 

or extrajudicial killing.ò 64 Under the TVPA, Qaru has grounds to seek compensation for his 

torture.  

C. North Carolina Law Violations 

43. As a result of the significant contribution North Carolina made to the CIAôs torture and 

extraordinary rendition program, the government of the state is uniquely positioned to uphold 

                                                      
61 18 U.S. Code § 2340A. 
62 The five individuals who stood as the Plaintiffs-Appellants in the 9th Circuit opinion were Binyam Mohamed, 

Abou Elkassim Britel, Ahmed Agiza, Mohamed Farag Ahmad Bashmilah, and Bisher Al-Rawi. Narratives written 

about all of them, with the exception of Agiza, have also been included in this collective report. See Brief of 

Plaintiffs-Appellants, Mohamed et al., v. Jeppesen Dataplan, No. 08-15693 (9th Cir. Sept. 8, 2010).  
63 Id. at 13526.  
64 Torture Victim Protection Act of 1991, Pub. L. No. 102-256, pmbl., 106 Stat. 73, 73 (1992).  
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human rights by holding Aero Contractors, a North Carolina company, accountable for Qaruôs 

rendition. In particular, North Carolina can achieve accountability by penalizing Aero for its 

many violations of state law.   

44. A number of those violations were committed against the North Carolina Constitution. 

For example, under Article I, Ä 19 of the North Carolina Constitution, ñno person shall be taken, 

imprisoned, or disseized of his freehold, liberties or privileges, or outlawed, or exiled, or in any 

manner deprived of his life, liberty, or property . . .ò65 Other provisions of the Constitution 

address kidnapping, involuntary servitude, trafficking, and criminal conspiracy, all of which 

Aero Contractors directly facilitated or participated in by operating planes used for torture and 

extraordinary rendition.66 The North Carolina Constitution was therefore violated. 

45. In addition, section 14-39 of the North Carolina General Statutes criminalizes the act of 

kidnapping67 and further prohibits ñserious bodily harm to or terrorizing the personò who has 

been abducted.68 The North Carolina legislature has also identified the crime of ñfirst-degree 

kidnapping,ò wherein the kidnapped individual is not transported to a safe place, or has been 

ñseriously injured or sexually assaulted.ò69 The extralegal abduction and detention of Qaru 

without his consent constitutes kidnapping, and his torture constitutes serious bodily harm, 

terror, and serious injury. As a result, NGCS § 14-39 has been violated. 

IV. Conclusion 

46. According to international, domestic, and state standards, the rendition, detention, and 

torture of Salah Nasir Salim Ali Qaru was illegal. It is incumbent on the entities responsibleïï

                                                      
65 N.C. CONST. art. 1, § 19. 
66 See N.C. GEN. STAT. § 14-39 (2016) (ñKidnappingò); see also N.C. GEN. STAT. § 14-2.4 (2016) (ñPunishment for 

conspiracy to commit a felonyò). 
67 N.C. GEN. STAT., supra note 36, at § 14-39(a)(2). 
68 N.C. GEN. STAT., supra note 36, at § 14-39(a)(3). 
69 N.C. GEN. STAT., supra note 36, at § 14-39(b). 
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including the U.S. government, the North Carolina state government and its political 

subdivisions, and Aero Contractorsïïto provide recognition and redress.  

47. The current impunity enjoyed by the perpetrators of Qaruôs ordeal conveys that the 

United States endorses torture. Such an attitude runs counter to the countryôs purported 

commitment to human rights and to the many laws described above; it also encourages future 

atrocities. The absence of justice now ensures that future perpetrators will inflict torture with the 

assurance that their crime will go unacknowledged and unpunished.   
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Ramzi bin al-Shibh 

I. Introduction  

1.  Born May 1, 1972, Ramzi bin al-Shibh is a Yemeni national who was detained by Central 

Intelligence Agency (CIA) officials for a period of 1,305 days.1 In 1995, when bin al-Shibh was 

twenty-three years old, he unsuccessfully applied to obtain a U.S. visa in order to escape the civil 

war in Yemen.2 After being denied entry to the United States, bin al-Shibh traveled to Munich, 

Germany and applied for asylum.3 His asylum application in Germany was also denied, which 

led him to seek a student visa at the German embassy in Sanaa, Yemen.4 He traveled back to 

Germany and remained there until 1999. The CIA alleged that bin al-Shibh was involved in 

terrorist activities including planning the attack on September 11, 2001, assertions that have not 

been verified. Moreover, in some instances they have been contested, and undermined by other 

evidence.5 Bin al-Shibh was rendered in Karachi, Pakistan and subjected to inhumane treatment 

torture through the Agencyôs ñenhanced interrogation programò and labeled as a ñhigh-value 

detainee.ò6 As defined by the U.S. Government, a high-value detainee ñ(1) is a senior member of 

al-Qaiôdaé; (2) has knowledge of imminent terrorist threats against the USAé or has had direct 

involvement in planning and preparing terrorist actions against the USAé and (3) if released, 

constitutes a clear and continuing threat to the USA or its allies.ò7 He is currently under military 

custody in Guantanamo Bay facing charges of conspiracy for the September 11th attacks.  

                                                      
1 Ramzi bin al-Shibh profile, The Rendition Project,  

http://www.therenditionproject.org.uk/prisoners/binalshibh.html (last visited June 26, 2017). 
2 Memorandum from the US Navy Rear Admiral to the Commander of the US Southern Command (Dec. 8, 2006), 

https://www.nytimes.com/interactive/projects/guantanamo/detainees/10013-ramzi-bin-al-shibh. 
3 Id. 
4 Id. 
5 Id. at 5.  
6 United States Senate Select Committee on Intelligence, Committee Study of the Central Intelligence Agencyôs 

Detention and Interrogation Program, 101 (2014) [hereinafter USSCI]. 
7 COMMISSIONER FOR HUMAN RIGHTS: ADVANCING ACCOUNTABILITY IN RESPECT OF THE CIA BLACK SITE IN 

ROMANIA (2012).  

http://www.therenditionproject.org.uk/prisoners/binalshibh.html
https://www.nytimes.com/interactive/projects/guantanamo/detainees/10013-ramzi-bin-al-shibh
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II. Extraordinary Rendition from Pakistan  

2.  On September 11, 2002, a full year after the attack on September 11 and a year after the 

CIA claims to have suspected bin al-Shibh as having been a facilitator, Pakistani officials 

captured him while conducting raids in Karachi, Pakistan.8 Within a few days, bin al-Shibh was 

turned over to the U.S. authorities while the media raved about capturing ñthe most prominent al-

Qaeda member é to date.ò9  

3.  Shortly after his capture, Ramzi bin al-Shibh was shackled and blindfolded so that he 

would not know where he was being taken or by whom. The exact whereabouts and rendition 

circuits that he endured cannot be known precisely because of the failure of the CIA to make all 

facts known to him or his counsel.  However, the CIA was in control of his renditions and 

transfers and has been and remains aware of his whereabouts throughout his ordeal. Testimony 

from CIA officials and from other intelligence officers suggests that bin al-Shibh was being held 

either in Morocco or Jordan.10 Flight data and detailed testimony from several fellow detainees 

support the claim that he had been sent to Morocco.11  

4.  In conformity with the testimony of the detainees, it is believed that flight number N379P 

carried bin al-Shibh from Afghanistan to Morocco on September 27, 2002.12  N379P is known to 

be a CIA-owned Gulfstream V jet that is based at the Johnston County Airport in Smithfield, 

North Carolina.13 The aircraft was generally housed and operated by Aero Contractors, Ltd., a 

                                                      
8 Id. 
9 Kelli Arena, ñBinalshibh to go to third country for questioningò, CNN (Sep. 17, 2002) at 

http://www.edition.cnn.com/2002/WORLD/asiapcf/south/09/16/alqaeda.pakistan/    
10 Ramzi bin al-Shibh, supra note 1.  
11 Id. 
12 Known Rendition Circuits, The Rendition Project, 

https://www.therenditionproject.org.uk/flights/aircraft/N379P.html (last visited June 17, 2017). 
13 Id. 

http://www.edition.cnn.com/2002/WORLD/asiapcf/south/09/16/alqaeda.pakistan/
https://www.therenditionproject.org.uk/flights/aircraft/N379P.html
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privately-owned company headquartered in Johnston County. The company acquired permits 

from the North Carolina government to begin operations, was issued a North Carolina state 

identification number, employs residents of the state, and enjoys benefits from state and local 

resources. As a private entity, Aero Contractors, Ltd., necessarily must comply with federal and 

state laws against torture. Aero contractors provided the vehicle and flight crew necessary to 

complete the rendition operation. 

5. Once Aero Contractors, Ltd., had arrived at the location of bin al-Shibh and the CIA had 

him in its possession, his extraordinary rendition ordeal commenced. The procedure for the 

capture and transport of all detainees in CIA custody has been found to be very uniform. Victims 

of the rendition program spoke of their experience which was then summarized by the Red 

Cross: 

The detainee would be photographed, both clothed and naked prior 

to and again after transfer. A body cavity check (rectal examination) 

would be carried out and some detainees alleged that a 

suppositoryé was also administered at that moment.14 

 

6. Ramzi bin al-Shibh was then forced to put on a diaper and a tracksuit, earphones, a 

blindfold, and black goggles.15 He was shackled, hands and feet, and taken to the plane.16 He was 

not allowed to go to the bathroom and was forced to relieve himself in his diaper. The flight 

lasted anywhere from twenty-four to thirty hours and was designed to disorient bin al-Shibh, 

confuse him as to where he was being taken, and instill in him hopelessness and the belief that 

the CIA had complete control over him at all times.17 

                                                      
14 INTERNATIONAL COMMITTEE OF THE RED CROSS: ICRC REPORT ON THE TREATMENT OF FOURTEEN ñHIGH VALUE 

DETAINEESò IN CIA CUSTODY (2007) [hereinafter ICRC]. 
15 Supra, note 14. 
16 Id. at 6. 
17 Id. 
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III. Detention and Torture at CIA Black Sites 

7. While in Morocco, Ramzi bin al-Shibh was detained at a prison run by Moroccan 

intelligence but funded by the CIA.18 His transfer to a Moroccan prison by the CIA occurred 

despite the fact that the United States knew that Morocco regularly abused prisoners.19 He 

remained at this site from late 2002 to early 2003. The torture he suffered in a Moroccan prison 

would not have occurred but for his having been extraordinarily rendered on a plane operated by 

Aero Contractors.   

8. Several years after bin al-Shibh was released from Moroccan custody, two video tapes of 

his interrogations were released to the public.20 Officials assert that both videos reveal a standard 

interrogation session but do not show violence or torturous actions.21 He was presented with 

questions and given the opportunity to answer with explanation. Bin al-Shibh was reported to 

have been very cooperative with this type of interrogation technique, providing information that 

was used in over fifty CIA intelligence reports.22 One CIA official even remarked that ñ[o]verall, 

[Ramzi bin al-Shibh] provided what was needed.ò23 However, the CIA headquarters felt that 

more drastic measures needed to be taken to obtain a greater amount of information from bin al-

Shibh and transferred him to another site to be exposed to more extreme measures.24 

8.  Believing Ramzi bin al-Shibh to have additional information vital to the United Statesô 

war on terror, the CIA transferred him to what was referred to as detention site BLUE in 

                                                      
18 Known Rendition Circuits, supra note 12. 
19 Dana Priest, CIA Holds Terror Suspects in Secret Prisons, Wash. Post, Nov. 2, 2005, 

http://www.washingtonpost.com/wp-dyn/content/article/2005/11/01/AR2005110101644_2.html 
20 See 9/11 Tapes Found Under Interrogation Desk, MSN and NBC News, Aug. 17, 2010 

http://www.nbcnews.com/id/38735351/ns/us_news-security/#.WVZYdlGQyUk. It is worth mentioning that the CIA 

destroyed tapes of interrogation by torture.  See Mark Mazzetti, U.S. Says C.I.A. Destroyed 92 Tapes of 

Interrogations, N.Y. Times, Mar. 3, 2008 at A16. 
21 Id. 
22 USSCI, supra note 6 (2014). 
23 Id. 
24 Id.  
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February of 2003.25 The information has also been corroborated by the Council of Europeôs 

Committee on Legal Affairs and Human Rights. ñPoland housed what the CIAôs 

Counterterrorism Centre considered its ómost sensitive HVDs.ôò26 One CIA official remarked 

that nearly a dozen HVDs were kept in Poland.27 This rendition from Morocco to Poland, where 

detention site BLUE was based, was again performed by Aero Contractors, Ltd. The same North 

Carolina-based N379P plane was used for this transport. However, this rendition was carried out 

with even less transparency. A dummy flight plan was filed under the alias of Jeppesen 

International Trip Planning rather than the companyôs true name in order to conceal Aeroôs 

involvement with the extraordinary rendition program.28  

9. Upon arrival to site BLUE, bin al-Shibh was stripped naked and subjected to sensory 

dislocation which included having his head and face forcibly shaved. His captors exposed him to 

loud noises and bright lights, forced him to withstand unnaturally cold temperatures, and 

shackled him with his hands above his head.29 He was deprived of solid food for nearly 4 weeks 

and was prohibited from wearing any clothing.30 Although the Agencyôs policy was to allow 

each detainee the opportunity to cooperate through non-violent interrogation before subjecting 

him/her to enhanced interrogation, this practice was not afforded to bin al-Shibh. Bin al-Shibhôs 

interrogation plan instructed officials to begin with these inhumane techniques in order to 

ñdiminishò his ñinitial resistance levelò rather than allow him to comply on his own volition. 31 

This torture plan became the framework for all other High-Value Detainees within the program. 

                                                      
25 Id. 
26 Secret detentions and illegal transfers of detainees involving Council of Europe member states: second report, 

Committee on Legal Affairs and Human Rights, Council of Europe, 24 (June 7, 2007). 
27 Id. 
28 Ramzi bin al-Shibh profile, supra note 1. 
29 United States Senate Select Committee on Intelligence, Committee Study of the Central Intelligence Agencyôs 

Detention and Interrogation Program, 77 (2014) [hereinafter USSCI]. 
30 Ramzi bin al-Shibh profile, supra note 1. 
31 USSCI, supra note 29. 
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10. Through June 6, 2003, interrogators at site BLUE continued to perform enhanced 

interrogation techniques on bin al-Shibh including forced sleep deprivation, slaps across the face 

and in the abdomen, and holding him in total darkness to instill a sense of fear of his 

interrogators.32 Bin al-Shibh also testified to being sprayed with a hose during interrogations and 

shackled to a bed for over a month in cold temperatures.33 He further stated that when he was 

forcibly shaved, officers would deliberately leave some patches unshaven to make him feel even 

more undignified.34 

11. After his time at site BLUE, bin al-Shibh was transported back to Morocco where he 

remained another three and a half months. This rendition was also executed by Aero Contractors, 

Ltd., marking the third time that the North Carolina company aided and abetted in the torture of 

Ramzi bin al-Shibh.35 Over the next several years, bin al-Shibh was transferred to a military 

prison in Guantanamo Bay, transferred back to Morocco and then moved to Romania. Each time 

he was transferred, his captors used the same cruel and inhumane techniques described above. 

12. By early 2006, he had been shuffled around the enhanced interrogation program for over 

three years, facing extreme isolation and having no contact with his family who believed him to 

dead. About a year before his final rendition to Guantanamo Bay, Cuba, psychologists assessed 

Ramzi bin al-Shibh and recorded his severe psychological disturbances ï all ramifications as a 

result of his torture. He experienced ñvisions, paranoia, insomnia, and attempts at self-harm.ò36 A 

psychologist on site wrote: ñin [bin al-Shibhôs] case, it is important to keep in mind that he was 

previously a relatively high-functioning individual, making his deterioration over the past several 

                                                      
32 Id. at 80. 
33 ICRC, supra note 14. 
34 Id. 
35 Ramzi bin al-Shibh profile, supra note 1. 
36 USSCI, supra note 29. 
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months more alarming.ò37 Since his release from his initial Moroccan custody in 2002, bin al-

Shibh has provided the CIA with very little useful information, suggesting that the use of 

extreme extraordinary rendition practices and torture for four years of his life was of no benefit 

to assisting with the so-called significance to war on terror.38 Rather than allow him a fair trial, 

the CIA subjected him to years of inhumane treatment in hopes of gaining al-Qaeda intelligence.  

13. On September 5, 2006, Ramzi bin al-Shibh was transferred into U.S. military custody at 

Guantanamo Bay, Cuba, where he was placed on anti-psychotic medications.39 He has since been 

charged with conspiracy for the 9/11 attacks and is awaiting military trial.40 

IV. Violations of Law 

A. International Law 

14. Torture is defined in the Convention Against Torture (CAT) as ñany act by which severe 

pain or suffering, whether physical or mental, is intentionally inflicted on a person for such 

purposes as obtaining from him or a third person information or a confessionéò41 The rendition, 

detention, and enhanced interrogation of Ramzi bin al-Shibh by the United Statesô Central 

Intelligence Agency is a textbook example of the type of action against which the Convention 

Against Torture was meant to protect. As a party to the convention, the United States is bound by 

this document. Although the nation was heartbroken over the events of September 11 and the 

administration was in disarray and desperately seeking answers for the wellbeing of national 

security, the Convention expressly provides that ñno exceptional circumstances whatsoever, 

whether a state of war or a threat of waré may be invoked as a justification of torture.ò42  

                                                      
37 Id. 
38 Id. at 76. 
39 Id. 
40 Ramzi bin al-Shibh profile, supra note 1. 
41 Convention Against Torture and Other Cruel, Inhumane or Degrading Treatment or Punishment, Article 1 (Dec. 

10, 1984). 
42 Id. at Article 2. 
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15.  The document also prohibits the extradition of individuals to foreign governments with 

constructive knowledge that the individual would be subjected to torture. Article 3 states: 

ñ(1) No State Party shall expel, return (ñrefoulerò) or extradite a person to another 

State where there are substantial grounds for believing that he would be in danger 

of being subjected to torture. (2) For the purpose of determining whether there are 

such grounds, the competent authorities shall take into account all relevant 

considerations including, where applicable, the existence in the State concerned of 

a consistent pattern of gross, flagrant or mass violations of human rights.ò43 

 

This provision directly prohibits the extraordinary rendition program that the CIA had 

established and operated throughout the first decade of the century.  

17.  Similar to the Convention Against Torture, the United States is an active member of the 

UN and was a party to the United Nationsô Universal Declaration of Human Rights (UDHR). 

Therefore, the U.S. is bound to its provisions. Article 5 of the UDHR states that ñ[n]o one shall 

be subject to torture or to cruel, inhumane, or degrading treatment or punishment.ò44 In addition, 

the Declaration also contains a clause implemented into Article 8 that grants individuals ñthe 

right to an effective remedy by the competent national tribunals for acts violating the 

fundamental rights granted him by the constitution or by law.ò45 From 2002-2006, bin al-Shibh 

was not given the opportunity to be heard or a fair trial. He was subjected to torture tactics for 

four years before he was transferred to Guantanamo Bay, Cuba, where he still awaits a proper 

hearing today. 

16. Article 7 of the International Covenant on Civil and Political Rights also lays out a 

prohibition on torture: ñNo one shall be subjected to torture or to cruel, inhumane, or degrading 

treatment or punishment.ò46 This treaty is of particular importance because it was ratified less 

                                                      
43 Id. at Article 3.  
44 Universal Declaration of Human Rights, art. 5, G.A. Red. 217(III), U.N. GAOR, 3d Sess., 1st Plen. Mtg. U.N. 

Doc. A/810 (Dec. 12, 1948). 
45 Id. 
46 International Covenant on Civil and Political Rights, art. 7 (Dec. 16, 1966). 
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than ten years before the rendition program was established. The treaty went into effect on 

September 8, 1992.47 

B. United States Federal Law 

17.  In addition to the Eighth Amendment to the U.S. Constitution which prohibits cruel and 

unusual punishment, 18 U.S.C. Ä 2304 defines torture as ñan act committed by a person acting 

under the color of law specifically intended to inflict severe physical or mental pain or suffering . 

. . upon another person within his custody or physical control.ò Accordingly, the Code provides 

that anyone who ñcommits or attempts to commit torture shall be fined under this title or 

imprisoned not more than 20 years, or both, and if death results to any person from conduct 

prohibited by this subsection, shall be punished by death or imprisoned for any term of years for 

life.ò 18 U.S.C. Ä 2304A(a) (2004). Considering that the aforementioned provision has been 

enacted within the criminal code, violation of this law would create severe consequences for the 

offender.  

C. North Carolina State Law 

18. North Carolina Constitution states that ñ[n]o person shall be taken, imprisoned, or 

disseized of his freehold, liberties, or privileges, or outlawed, or exiled, or in any manner 

deprived of his life, liberty, or property, but by the law of the land.ò48 The Constitution also 

requires that if anyone be facing criminal charges, they must be formally indicted, presented, or 

impeached.49 Throughout the entirety of the rendition program, Ramzi bin al-Shibh was not 

given a proper trial and was not presented with any charges.  

V. Conclusion 

                                                      
47 Id. 
48 N.C. Const. art. 1, § 19. 
49 N.C. Const. § 17. 
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 In conclusion, Ramzi bin al-Shibh was treated inhumanely with an extreme disregard for 

his life and liberty. He was shuffled around the CIA rendition program for four years, being 

shackled, stripped, screamed at, slapped, and deprived of food and social interaction. He will 

suffer the emotional ramification of this period for the rest of his life. Bin al-Shibh experienced 

years of physical and emotional torture and it is the responsibility of North Carolina, Aero 

Contractors, and federal officials to take responsibility for this terrible set of events. 
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Mustafa Salim Ali el-Madaghi 

I. Introduction  

1.  Mustafa Salim Ali el-Madaghi was born in Libya and spent his entire adolescent life in 

the country.  He was a devout Muslim throughout his childhood and into his young-adult years. 

Reflecting on his memories throughout the 1980s and early 1990s, el-Madaghi remarked that he 

had been stigmatized and ostracized for his religion.1 Specifically, under the Muammar 

Gaddafiôs reign in Libya, el-Madaghi feared for his well-being as a Muslim. He stated, ñI had a 

beard when I was at the university and it was obvious I used to pray.ò2 He continued on to admit 

that he ñwas afraid to show anything like that because such an appearance was considered an act 

of outright oppositionò to the Gaddafi regime.3 As time passed and the number of arrests under 

Gaddafi escalated, el-Madaghi fled Libya in 1990.4 Of el-Madaghiôs friends and relatives that 

chose to stay in the country, many were imprisoned or killed.5 

2. Upon fleeing Libya from religious persecution, el-Madaghi traveled to Afghanistan 

where he would eventually join the LIFG.6 The LIFG, or the Libyan Islamic Fighting Group, was 

established in order to overthrow Muammar Gaddafiôs government in Libya. Gaddafiôs 

government was seen by many Libyan nationals as oppressive and anti-Muslim.  

3. After joining the group, el-Madaghi traveled to Sudan where he spent a brief period of 

time, and then continued on to Mauritania, usually alternating between two aliases, Mustafa 

Salim Ali Moderi Tarabulsi or Shaykh Musa, for his personal protection.7 Throughout his time in 

                                                      
1 HUMAN RIGHTS WATCH: DELIVERED INTO ENEMY HANDS: US-LED ABUSE AND RENDITION OF OPPONENTS TO 

GADDAFIôS L IBYA  (Sep. 5, 2012)  
2 Human Rights Watch, supra note 1. 
3 Id. 
4 Id. 
5 Id. 
6 Id. 
7 Id.  
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Mauritania, el-Madaghi served as the deputy to Saleh Hadiyah Abu Abdullah Diôiki, another 

LIFG member who was forcibly rendered and detained by the Central Intelligence Agency 

(CIA).8 

II.  Extraordinary Rendition from Mauritani a 

4. On February 5, 2004, while living with his wife and children in Mauritania, Mustafa 

Salim Ali el-Madaghi was arrested by the Mauritanian intelligence, just four months after the 

rendition of Diôiki.9 Madaghi was blindfolded and taken to a secret detention facility where he 

remained in isolation for two days before he was questioned.10 For the first two days that he was 

in isolation, no Mauritanian intelligence official questioned him. He was not presented with 

charges, not given the opportunity to be heard, and was not told where he was being held.  

III.  Detention and Torture 

5. After the first two days of solitary confinement, el-Madaghi was introduced to his 

interrogators. A group of foreigners had arrived at the detention center and the interrogations 

were conducted by a foreigner who spoke Arabic with a Lebanese accent.11 Two other men were 

present for one interrogation session ï the head of the Mauritanian intelligence and a 

Mauritanian interrogator.12 Madaghi told Human Rights Watch that he believes the foreign 

interrogator was American because ñhe asked about threats to the United States, talked on the 

phone in English, and sent text messages in English on his cell phone.ò13  

6. The interrogations lasted ten days.14 When the interrogator questioned el-Madaghi, he 

was determined to obtain confessions about involvement with Al-Qaeda. When el-Madaghi 

                                                      
8 Id. 
9 Id. 
10 Id. 
11 Id. 
12 Id. 
13 Id. 
14 Id.  
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insisted that he was not affiliated with Al-Qaeda and was only a member of the Libyan Islamic 

Fighting Group, the interrogation did not cease. The official threatened to hurt his wife and 

children.15 The interrogator brought his wife to the detention facility and made el-Madaghi look 

at her through the key hole.16 He was told that she would be raped and hurt if he did not provide 

the information that they requested.17 The officials even went to his home, recorded his 

childrenôs voices, and played it back for el-Madaghi to hear. All of these tactics were intended to 

make el-Madaghi confess to his involvement with Al-Qaeda, which he had been insisting he was 

not affiliated with. El-Madaghi was detained in Mauritania for nearly two months ï from 

February 5, 2004, through the end of March 2004. 18 

7. In March of 2004, el-Madaghi was woken up in the middle of the night, blindfolded and 

shackled.19 He was placed on a bus and sent to the airport.20 The officials on the bus with el-

Madaghi, men he believed to be Americans, stripped him naked, took pictures of him exposed, 

put him in a diaper, forced him to wear headphones, and kept his hands and feet bound with a 

blindfold over his eyes.21 He was also given a routine health inspection by getting his ears and 

eyes checked. These actions are consistent with other CIA rendition victims.  

8. He was taken to a detention facility in Morocco where his interrogations continued. They 

housed him in a freezing room, dumped ice-cold water on him, and threatened him with 

violence. El-Madaghi claimed that the interrogations were nearly identical to the interrogations 

led by the foreign official in Mauritania. He was kept in a room underground with a small 

window near the top of the wall that allowed some light exposure. He could hear the daily call to 

                                                      
15 Id. at 79. 
16 Id. 
17 Id. 
18 Id. 
19 Id. 
20 Id. 
21 Id. at 80. 
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prayer and could hear the intelligence officials bringing in other prisoners.22 Altogether, el-

Madaghi was detained here for forty days.  

9. On April 14, 2004, the CIA notified Libyan authorities that they were willing to negotiate 

a transfer of el-Madaghi back into Libyan custody.23 On May 5, 2004, he was moved again and, 

not knowing where he was to be sent, he begged not to be sent back to Libya out of fear of the 

religious persecution and potential physical harm that could await him upon his return. He was 

put through the same CIA extraordinary rendition program to which he was subjected to on his 

way out of Mauritania. He was blindfolded, constrained with headphones and shackled. This 

time, he was able to loosen his headphones slightly to try to figure out where they were taking 

him, and he was beaten for it.24 He was transferred from one car to another and then to a plane 

where he was chained to a chair.25 

10. Against his protests, el-Madaghi was taken to Libya. About two weeks after his arrival, 

Musa Kusa, then Libyan foreign intelligence chief, came to visit him.26 El-Madaghi recounted 

the experience with Human Rights Watch: 

He asked me: óDo you know who brought you here?ô I didnôt want 

to say anything. He said óThe Americans brought you here. Itôs all 

over now. There is cooperation between us and the Americans.ô I 

was sure that was the case, but then he just confirmed it for me.27 

 

11.  El-Madaghiôs story is corroborated by Eurocontrol flight data filed with Human Rights 

Watch. There is record of a CIA-affiliated plane, N379P, traveling from Washington, DC, to 

                                                      
22 Id.  
23 Id. 
24 Id. 
25 Id. 
26 Id. 
27 Id. 
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Nouakchott, Mauritania. On March 25, 2004, that was believed to have captured Mustafa Salim 

Ali el-Madaghi and rendered him to Morocco.28  

12. Plane number N379P is generally housed and operated by Aero Contractors, Ltd., a 

privately-owned company headquartered in Johnston County, North Carolina. This North 

Carolina-based company is a fixture of the small town of Smithfield, North Carolina, because it 

employs many of the residents. Aero Contractors, Ltd., is registered in the state, was issued state 

permits for its airportôs constructions, and receives benefits from the local government. It this 

North Carolina company that is believed to have conducted many extraordinary rendition flights 

including that of el-Madaghi. 

13. Once in Libyan custody, el-Madaghi was placed into solitary confinement. He was 

housed in a room that contained no bed and had no windows. He was given a blanket and a 

concrete floor to sleep on.29 For the first two years of his detention in Libya, he was not formally 

charged, and he was not given a trial. But for the CIAôs voluntary transfer of el-Madaghi to the 

Libyan intelligence, el-Madaghi would not have been subjected to such inhumane treatment. The 

CIA had knowledge of the conditions that el-Madaghi would be subjected to under Libyan 

control. After his first two year in custody, el-Madaghi was charged with trying to overthrow the 

Libyan government and given a life sentence. He was not released from Libyan control until 

February 16, 2011, when Gaddafi was overthrown from power.  

IV.  Violations of Law 

A. International Law 

14. The United Nationsô Universal Declaration of Human Rights (UDHR) is a document that 

was written and signed by the member states of the United Nations (UN). As an active 

                                                      
28 Id. at 82. 
29 Id. 
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participant of the UN, the United States is legally bound to the UDHR provisions. Article 5 states 

that ñ[n]o one shall be subject to torture or to cruel, inhumane, or degrading treatment or 

punishment.ò30 Article 8 also contains a clause that guarantees an individual the right to ñan 

effective remedy by the competent national tribunals for acts violating the fundamental rights 

granted him by the constitution or by law.ò31 During the CIAôs custody of el-Madaghi, he was 

placed in confinement and not given a fair trial. Though he continuously told his interrogators 

that he was a member of the LIFG and not of Al-Qaeda, they continued to detain him against 

international law. 

15. Second, the International Covenant on Civil and Political Rights states that ñNo one shall 

be subjected to torture or to cruel, inhumane, or degrading treatment or punishment.ò32 This 

Covenant was entered into on September 8, 1992, just 9 years before the rendition program went 

into effect.33 It is also important to note that the preamble to this Covenant also states that the 

ratifying nations recognize the ñinherent dignityò and ñinalienable rights of all members of the 

human family,ò calling those values the ñfoundation of freedom, justice and peace in the 

world.ò34 

16. Third, the Convention Against Torture (CAT) defines torture as ñany act by which severe 

pain or suffering, whether physical or mental, is intentionally inflicted on a person for such 

purposes as obtaining from him or a third person information or a confessionéò35 Mustafa Salim 

Ali el-Madaghiôs treatment under CIA control was in direct violation of the United Statesô 

                                                      
30 Universal Declaration of Human Rights, art. 5, G.A. Red. 217(III), U.N. GAOR, 3d Sess., 1st Plen. Mtg. U.N. 

Doc. A/810 (Dec. 12, 1948). 
31 Id. 
32 International Covenant on Civil and Political Rights, art. 7, Sept. 8, 1992. 
33 Id. 
34 Id. at Preamble. 
35 Convention Against Torture and Other Cruel, Inhumane or Degrading Treatment or Punishment, Article 1 (Dec. 

10, 1984). 
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promise to refrain from using torture as a means to obtain information from suspected enemies. 

El-Madaghi was blindfolded, stripped naked, and threatened in order to gain insight into Al-

Qaedaôs operations. El-Madaghiôs family was terrorized by being taken to the detention facility 

where el-Madaghi was being held and also by being subjected to video-taping in order to use it 

as leverage against el-Madaghi.  

17. The CAT also prohibits extradition of individuals in Article 3: 

ñ(1) No State Party shall expel, return (ñrefoulerò) or extradite a person to another 

State where there are substantial grounds for believing that he would be in danger 

of being subjected to torture. (2) For the purpose of determining whether there are 

such grounds, the competent authorities shall take into account all relevant 

considerations including, where applicable, the existence in the State concerned of 

a consistent pattern of gross, flagrant or mass violations of human rights.ò36 

 

The CIA knowingly violated this provision that is contained in Article 3 of the Convention 

Against Torture. When the CIA negotiated a deal with Libya that allowed for the transfer of el-

Madaghi back into Libyan custody, the United States had constructive knowledge that el-

Madaghi would not be afforded humane treatment and would not be given a proper trial. The 

U.S. was aware of the Gaddafi regime and its mistreatment of those who did not comply, yet 

they allowed for his release to Libyan intelligence and the retention of el-Madaghi in detention 

centers for years before his release. 

B. United States Federal Law 

18.  In addition to the U.S. Constitution, Eighth Amendment which prohibits cruel and 

unusual punishment, 18 U.S.C. Ä 2304 defines torture as ñan act committed by a person acting 

under the color of law specifically intended to inflict severe physical or mental pain or suffering . 

. . upon another person within his custody or physical control.ò Additionally, the Code provides 

                                                      
36 Id. at Article 3.  
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that anyone who ñcommits or attempts to commit torture shall be fined under this title or 

imprisoned not more than 20 years, or both, and if death results to any person from conduct 

prohibited by this subsection, shall be punished by death or imprisoned for any term of years for 

life.ò 18 U.S.C. Ä 2304A(a) (2004). Considering that the aforementioned provision has been 

enacted within the criminal code, violation of this law would create severe consequences for the 

offender. 

C. North Carolina State Law 

19. North Carolina Constitution states that ñ[n]o person shall be taken, imprisoned, or 

disseized of his freehold, liberties, or privileges, or outlawed, or exiled, or in any manner 

deprived of his life, liberty, or property, but by the law of the land.ò37 The Constitution also 

requires that if anyone be facing criminal charges, they must be formally indicted, presented, or 

impeached.38 Throughout the entirety of the rendition program, Mustafa Salim Ali el-Madaghi 

was not given a proper trial and was not presented with any charges. He was also transferred into 

Libyan custody where he was further restricted from obtaining a proper trial. This transfer was 

made possible by Aero Contractors, Ltd., a North Carolina business that must be held 

accountable to North Carolina state law. 

V. Conclusion  

20. Mustafa Salim Ali el-Madaghi was extraordinarily rendered in Mauritania and subjected 

the United Statesô CIA extraordinary rendition program for months. During his time in the 

program, he was starved, sleep-deprived, shackled, and subjected to psychological distress. His 

family was threatened, along with himself, without affording him a chance at a trial. He was 

transported by Aero Contractors, Ltd., a North Carolina company, and treated as though his life 

                                                      
37 N.C. Const. art. 1, § 19. 
38 N.C. Const. § 17. 
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was worth nothing. It is time for Aero Contractors, North Carolina, and federal officials to take 

responsibility for their part in this program. 
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Mohammed Saad Iqbal Madni 

I. Introduction  

1. Mohammed Saad Iqbal Madni was born on October 17, 1977, in Lahore.1 He is a citizen 

of Pakistan.2 Madni moved to Indonesia with his family when he was young but had moved back 

to Lahore by 1993.3 When in Pakistan, Madni told U.S. officials that he worked for a mosque 

where he taught Islamic Studies.4 According to a Department of Defense memo, as early as the 

age of 21, Iqbal taught at a university in Lahore.5 Madni moved once again to Indonesia in 

November of 2001. 

2. Throughout his short time in Indonesia, Madni worked for an Islamic radio station where 

he read the Koran over a live broadcast.6 Madni began spending time with an organization 

monitored by the Indonesian government although the group was a legal organization. 

Indonesian officials heard Madniôs off-hand comment about explosions in shoes and notified the 

Central Intelligence Agency (CIA) of the potential threat.7 The United States then instructed the 

Indonesian government to hold him until U.S. officials arrived. As a result of the investigations, 

the CIA also classified Madni as a member of Al-Qaeda with close familial ties to existing Al-

Qaeda extremists.8  

 

 

                                                      
1 Memorandum from the Major General to the Commander of the US Southern Command (Aug. 26, 2005), 

https://www.nytimes.com/interactive/projects/guantanamo/detainees/743-muhammad-saad-iqbal 
2 Mohammed Saad Iqbal Madni, The Rendition Project, 

https://www.therenditionproject.org.uk/prisoners/madni.html  
3 Memorandum, supra note 1. 
4 Id. 
5 Id. 
6 Madni Profile, supra note 2. 
7 Id. 
8 Memorandum, supra note 1.  

https://www.nytimes.com/interactive/projects/guantanamo/detainees/743-muhammad-saad-iqbal
https://www.therenditionproject.org.uk/prisoners/madni.html
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II. Extraordinary Rendition  

3. Mohammed Saad Iqbal Madni was arrested in Jakarta, Indonesia, by Indonesian police on 

January 9, 2002.9 He testified that nearly twenty Indonesian officers raided his home, captured 

him, and took him to the Jakarta airport.10 He was held and interrogated for two days by 

Indonesian and Egyptian officials, waiting for U.S. officials to arrive and take Madni into their 

custody.11 The Egyptian intelligence stripped Madni down until he was not wearing any clothes, 

placed him in shackles around his neck and his feet while naked, and even kicked him while he 

was on the ground.12At the end of the two days, his captors prepared to move him. Madni later 

recalled in a BB Radio 4 interview: 

One person from Egyptian intelligence, he come and he punched me 

in my chest and he grabbed me with one hand and he threw me 

against the wall, and at that time I got a perforation in my eardrum 

and start bleeding from my ear and my nose, my throat, my mouth 

also. And they put me in handcuffs and leg shackles they threw me 

inside a car and then they take me to plane, the CIA aircraft. Inside 

aircraft they put me inside a box, was like a wood box, and the top 

was with a plastic sheet. I was, canôt move my body because the 

shackle was very tight and very painful.13 

 

4.  The CIA aircraft that Madni referenced was the Gulfstream V jet that is commonly 

referred to as flight N379P. This aircraft has been used in dozens of other renditions throughout 

the Bush administration. The plane is regularly housed at a small airport in Smithfield, North 

Carolina, and is owned and operated by a North Carolina company ï Aero Contractors, Ltd.14 

Aero Contractors, Ltd., is a privately held business headquartered in Johnston County. Its 

                                                      
9 Memorandum, supra note 1. 
10 Witness Statement of the Claimant, The Rendition Project, ¶ 1, 

https://www.therenditionproject.org.uk/documents/RDI/090818-Madni-v-BIOT-Witness-Statement-of-Claimant.pdf  
11 Madni Profile, supra note 2. 
12 Witness Statement, supra note 10. 
13 Id. 
14 Rendition Circuit: 9-15 January 2002, The Rendition Project, 

https://www.therenditionproject.org.uk/flights/renditions/N379P-020109.html  

https://www.therenditionproject.org.uk/documents/RDI/090818-Madni-v-BIOT-Witness-Statement-of-Claimant.pdf
https://www.therenditionproject.org.uk/flights/renditions/N379P-020109.html
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purpose is to supply aircraft and a flight team to meet its clientsô needs. Throughout the first 

decade of the century, it has been contracted out by the CIA in order to aid in the extraordinary 

rendition program the CIA developed. Aero would provide the vessel and the crew necessary in 

order to transport government officials from Washington Dulles Airport to wherever the targeted 

individual was located. Aero would then transport the captive to one of dozens of CIA black sites 

located around the world. Although Aero is a private company, it has significant ties to the local 

community and has continued to operate despite its black stain on the community. The company 

is registered in North Carolina, obtained construction and operational permits from the local 

government, and employs many Johnston County residents. 

5. Flight data from N379P shows that the plane left from Johnston County Airport on 

January 9, 2002, and stopped at Washington Dulles International Airport, most likely to pick up 

the CIA rendition team.15 From Washington, the plane flew directly to Cairo to pick up Egyptian 

officials.16 For the next six days, no record of the plane was found.17  

6. When U.S. officials took custody of Madni at the Jakarta airport, they put clothes on him, 

put a hood over his head, and forced him into N379P.18 When he walked onto the plane, 

intelligence officials forced him to lay down in a coffin in the back of the aircraft.19 Inside the 

coffin was shackles that wrapped all around Madniôs body and fastened tight enough so that he 

could not move.20 After several hours of flight, officials lifted the lid off the box so that Madni 

could urinate in a bottle.21 After several more hours, Mohammed Saad Iqbal Mandi landed in 

Cairo, Egypt. 

                                                      
15 Rendition Circuit, supra note 14. 
16 Id. 
17 Id. 
18 Witness Statement, supra note 10. 
19 Id. 
20 Id. 
21 Witness Statement, supra note 10. 
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III. Detention in Egypt, Afghanistan, and Guantanamo 

7. Madni was extraordinarily rendered on January 11, 2002, and was taken to Cairo where 

he was detained for 92 days.22 Upon his arrival, he was placed into a car and driven to an 

Egyptian Intelligence office about thirty minutes from the airport.23 He was given a medical 

examination where he was told that he was ñbleeding from [his] nose, ears and mouth, and that 

there was blood in [his] urine. Although examined [he] was not treated.ò24 He was placed in an 

underground cell that resembled a grave ï measuring six feet by four feet.25 He was interrogated 

for up to 15 hours at a time by Egyptian personnel.26 Madni recalled that most of the 

interrogations revolved around his involvement with Al-Qaeda, questions about Afghanistan and 

bin Laden.27  

8. Like several of the other captives, Madni was subjected to shock torture when he was 

thought to be lying or uncooperative.28 The shock instruments were attached to his head and his 

knees.29 Madni was also forced to drink something that he was instructed was tea but he believed 

to contain drugs.30 His interrogators would force him to drink, leave the room, and ask him 

questions over a microphone. This severely disoriented him and left him confused. He was also 

hung from the ceiling and beaten to the point of bleeding.31 

9.  On April 11, 2002, Madni was forced to sign a document that stated that he was never 

tortured during his time in Cairo.32 With the signing of this document, Madniôs time in Cairo 

                                                      
22 Madni Profile, supra note 2. 
23 Witness Statement, supra note 10. 
24 Id. 
25 Madni Profile, supra note 2. 
26 Id. 
27 Id. 
28 Id. 
29 Witness Statement, supra note 10. 
30 Id. at ¶ 9. 
31 Id. at ¶ 10. 
32 Id. at ¶ 11. 
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came to an end. The torture he experienced in Egypt would not have occurred had he not been 

extraordinarily rendered on an Aero plane operated out of Johnston Co., NC.  

10. Madni was then passed along to U.S. officials who transferred him to Bagram, 

Afghanistan.33 This extraordinary rendition was again carried out through the use of N379P and 

Aero Contractors, Ltd.34 This marks the second time that Mohammed Saad Iqbal Madniôs illegal 

rendition and torture was aided by the employees at Aero. On board the plane, intelligence 

officials taped his mouth, shackled him in a fetal position, and routinely administered electric 

shocks.35 Madni remained in Afghanistan for over seven months.36 He was routinely beaten and 

kept in solitary confinement the entire time. Madni told New York Times that one of the reasons 

he kept receiving beatings was because he denied knowing Osama bin Laden, a denial that was 

supported by his polygraph tests.37 This time, the interrogations were conducted directly by 

American officials.38  

11. On March 22, 2003, Madni was rendered to Guantanamo Bay, Cuba.39 Upon his arrival, 

he was given a routine medical examination. He was diagnosed with psychological disorder, 

placed on medication, and was required to be followed by a psychiatrist.40 Other prisoners at the 

camp also reported that Madniôs physical and mental health was failing.41 During his time in 

U.S. custody, he attempted to hang himself twice and went on three hunger strikes.42 Despite his 

ill health, Madni was put through the ñfrequent flyer programmeò where ñthe detainee is moved 

                                                      
33 Madni Profile, supra note 2. 
34 The Rendition Circuit: 8-15 April 2002, The Rendition Project, 

https://www.therenditionproject.org.uk/flights/renditions/N379P-020408.html  
35 Id. 
36 Id. at ¶ 13. 
37 An Ex-Detainee of the U.S. Describes a 6-Year Ordeal, The New York Times. 
38 Madni Profile, supra note 2. 
39 Id. at ¶ 15. 
40 Memorandum, supra note 1. 
41 Madni Profile, supra note 2. 
42 An Ex-Detainee of the U.S. Describes a 6-Year Ordeal, The New York Times. 

https://www.therenditionproject.org.uk/flights/renditions/N379P-020408.html
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from cell to cell every 20-30 minutes and refused any sleep.43 He remained in Guantanamo Bay 

until August 31, 2008, surviving nearly 7 years in the U.S. CIA rendition program.44 On August 

31, he was taken to Islamabad to be hospitalized and he reconnected with his family upon 

discharge.45 His injuries were so severe that he required surgery on his ear, physical therapy 

treatment on his back, and he sought out a team of psychiatrists to help him drop his addiction to 

the drugs that he had been ingesting for seven years.46 

12. For seven years Madni was shuffled around the rendition program and was never given a 

trial. He was not even charged with a crime. Upon his release, officials merely remarked that he 

was ñno longer considered an enemy combatant.ò47  

IV. Violations of Law 

A. International Law 

13. Torture is defined in the Convention Against Torture (CAT) as ñany act by which severe 

pain or suffering, whether physical or mental, is intentionally inflicted on a person for such 

purposes as obtaining from him or a third person information or a confessionéò48 The rendition, 

detention, and enhanced interrogation of Mohammed Saad Iqbal Madni by the United Statesô 

Central Intelligence Agency is expressly prohibited by this document. Madni was released from 

the United Statesô custody with depression, drug addiction, a ruptured ear drum, and pain 

throughout his left side. The only tangible reason for his capture was an off-hand comment about 

a shoe bomb that led intelligence agents to believe that he may have information regarding larger 

terrorist groups. The U.S. could point to no acts that amounted to a crime and merely detained 

                                                      
43 Id. 
44 Witness Statement, supra note 10. 
45 Madni Profile, supra note 2. 
46 An Ex-Detainee of the U.S. Describes a 6-Year Ordeal, supra note 37. 
47 Id. 
48 Convention Against Torture and Other Cruel, Inhumane or Degrading Treatment or Punishment, Article 1 (Dec. 

10, 1984). 
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him for the information that they believed he had. He faced no criminal indictment, was not 

given a trial, and was never told why he was being held captive. When he told them repeatedly 

that he had never met bin Laden, they beat him for lying. He was used as an instrument to obtain 

terrorist information which he did not have. As a party to the Convention, the United States is 

bound by this document. The Convention also provides that ñno exceptional circumstances 

whatsoever, whether a state of war or a threat of waré may be invoked as a justification of 

torture.ò49  

14.  The document also prohibits the extradition of individuals to foreign governments with 

constructive knowledge that the individual would be subjected to torture. Article 3 states: 

ñ(1) No State Party shall expel, return (ñrefoulerò) or extradite a person to another 

State where there are substantial grounds for believing that he would be in danger 

of being subjected to torture. (2) For the purpose of determining whether there are 

such grounds, the competent authorities shall take into account all relevant 

considerations including, where applicable, the existence in the State concerned of 

a consistent pattern of gross, flagrant or mass violations of human rights.ò50 

 

United States officials transferred Madni into the custody of Egyptian intelligence 

knowing the techniques and procedures they utilize throughout their interrogation 

process. Both U.S. and Egyptian officials were present for the rendition from Indonesia 

and subsequent transfer to Afghanistan. The CAT has clearly been violated in this regard.   

15.  The Universal Declaration of Human Rights (UDHR) provides that, ñNo one shall be 

subject to torture or to cruel, inhumane, or degrading punishment.ò51 The United States has 

horrifically violated this provision by stripping him naked, making him sleep in chains, beating 

him and making him bleed. 

                                                      
49 Id. at Article 2. 
50 Id. at Article 3.  
51 Universal Declaration of Human Rights, art. 5, G.A. Res. 217A(III), U.N. GAOR, 3d Sess., 1st Plen. Mtg. U.N. 

Doc. A/810 (Dec. 12, 1948). 
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16. Article 7 of the International Covenant on Civil and Political Rights also lays out the 

same prohibition on torture: ñNo one shall be subjected to torture or to cruel, inhumane, or 

degrading treatment or punishment.ò52 In both of these documents, the United States was a party 

to the convention and are legally required to comply with its standards. If the standards are not 

met, the United States should and must face the consequences of their actions. 

B. United States Federal Law 

17.  In addition to the U.S. Constitution, Eighth Amendment which prohibits cruel and 

unusual punishment, 18 U.S.C. Ä 2304 defines torture as ñan act committed by a person acting 

under the color of law specifically intended to inflict severe physical or mental pain or suffering . 

. . upon another person within his custody or physical control.ò Accordingly, the Code provides 

that anyone who ñcommits or attempts to commit torture shall be fined under this title or 

imprisoned not more than 20 years, or both, and if death results to any person from conduct 

prohibited by this subsection, shall be punished by death or imprisoned for any term of years for 

life.ò 18 U.S.C. Ä 2304A(a) (2004). Considering that the aforementioned provision has been 

enacted within the criminal code, violation of this law would create severe consequences for the 

offender.  

C. North Carolina State Law 

18. North Carolina Constitution states that ñ[n]o person shall be taken, imprisoned, or 

disseized of his freehold, liberties, or privileges, or outlawed, or exiled, or in any manner 

deprived of his life, liberty, or property, but by the law of the land.ò53 The Constitution also 

requires that if anyone be facing criminal charges, they must be formally indicted, presented, or 

                                                      
52 International Covenant on Civil and Political Rights, art. 7, (Dec. 16, 1966). 
53 N.C. Const. art. 1, § 19. 
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impeached.54 As mentioned before, Mohammed Saad Iqbal Madni was never charged with a 

crime, was never given a trial, and was not allowed to speak with anyone regarding his situation. 

He was unaware of the reason that he was being held captive at the CIA black sites.  

V. Conclusion 

19. The CIAôs inhumane and horrific treatment of Mohammed Saad Iqbal Madni, as well as 

all of the other detainees that were involved in the rendition program, has not gone unnoticed. As 

a party to multiple international covenant prohibiting torture, the United States has no excuse for 

its treatment of these detainees and there should be legal recourse taken in order to ensure that 

something like this does not happen again. It is up to both the North Carolina state government 

as well as the citizens of North Carolina to see that both Aero Contractors, Ltd., and the United 

States government understand the immorality of their actions and take responsibility for the pain 

and suffering they have inflicted on these individuals. 

 

  

                                                      
54 N.C. Const. § 17. 
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Mohammed El-Zari  

I. Introduction  

1. Mohammed El Zari was born on September 23, 1968.1 El Zari, along with his companion 

Ahmed Agiza, is an Egyptian national who was a victim of the extraordinary rendition program 

run by the U.S. Central Intelligence Agency (CIA). Both men were illegally captured by U.S. 

officials in Sweden in December of 2001.2 El Zari remained in detention until October 27, 2003, 

nearly two years after his initial capture.3 He had left Egypt in the 1990s, fleeing persecution and 

torture by Egyptian officials who has accused him of involvement with violent Islamist 

organizations. He feared that his only relief was to escape from Egypt and eventually settled in 

Sweden and filed for asylum.4  El Zariôs attorney has stated that the accusations against El-Zari 

were unsubstantiated and amounted to a ñmiscarriage of justice.ò5 

2. El Zari remained in Sweden while his asylum claim was pending. He was awaiting the 

verdict on his asylum when he was notified that the Swedish Foreign Affairs Ministry would not 

be making a decision before December 20, 2001.6 However, on December 18 of that year, based 

on information submitted by the United States, El Zariôs asylum was abruptly rejected. The 

ministry then revoked El Zariôs permit to remain in Sweden on security grounds and denied him 

protection against any forcible return to Egypt, effectively exiling El Zari from the country.7 The 

Swedish Foreign Affairs Ministry did not notify El Zariôs lawyers of this decision and denied El 

                                                      
1 Ahmed Agiza and Mohamed El-Zery, The Rendition Project, 

https://www.therenditionproject.org.uk/prisoners/agiza_elzery.html 
2 Sweden: The Case of Mohammed El Zari and Ahmed Agiza: Violations of Fundamental Human Rights by Sweden 

Confirmed, Amnesty International, Nov. 27, 2006. 
3 Id. 
4 El-Zery Profile, supra note 1.  
5 Broken Promise (Transcript) (2014) 

https://www.therenditionproject.org.uk/pdf/PDF%20410%20[Transcript%20of%20TV4,%20Kalla%20Fakta,%20Th

e%20Broken%20Promise,%2017%20May%202004].pdf.  
6 El Zery Profile, supra note 4. 
7 Id. 

https://www.therenditionproject.org.uk/prisoners/agiza_elzery.html
https://www.therenditionproject.org.uk/pdf/PDF%20410%20%5bTranscript%20of%20TV4,%20Kalla%20Fakta,%20The%20Broken%20Promise,%2017%20May%202004%5d.pdf
https://www.therenditionproject.org.uk/pdf/PDF%20410%20%5bTranscript%20of%20TV4,%20Kalla%20Fakta,%20The%20Broken%20Promise,%2017%20May%202004%5d.pdf
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Zari the right to contact him about it. Upon his denial of asylum, Swedish officials began 

communicating with Egyptian officials in order to return El Zari back to his country of birth. 

During the negotiations, Sweden obtained several so-called ñdiplomatic assurancesò from the 

Egyptian government that El Zari would be treated humanely and Sweden reserved the right to 

monitor their detention and investigation of him. This, of course, did not happen and Egypt 

tortured and mistreated El Zari for years through their interrogation program and their 

collaboration with the United States.8 

II. Rendition from Sweden 

3. The same day that his asylum was rejected, El Zari was captured by Swedish Security 

Police in order to return him to his home nation. He was brought to the Bromma airport in 

Stockholm, Sweden, where he was passed off to U.S. and Egyptian officials. Egyptian authorities 

assured the Swedish police that El Zari would be treated justly and humanely and would be given 

a proper trial. Neither of these promises were upheld.  

4. When El Zari arrived at the airport, he was met by a group of about seven hooded CIA 

officials along with a doctor and two Egyptian nationals.9 Upon meeting El Zari, the CIA 

officers conducted a full physical intrusive bodily search. His CIA captors cut his clothes off and 

threw them into bags. He was handcuffed and shackled, dressed in an adult diaper, and had a 

suppository inserted into his anus.10 He recalls feeling every muscle relax and he lost control of 

his body. He was then dressed in a track suit and his shoes were taken from him, leaving him 

barefoot in freezing temperatures. The entire process was photographed by officials. El Zari was 

escorted onto a plane and handcuffed to a mattress in the rear. He was unable to move for hours 

                                                      
8 Id. 
9 El-Zery Profile, supra note 4. 
10 Id. at 4. 
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at a time and was forced to keep his hood on throughout the flight. United States and Egyptian 

officials remained on the flight with El Zari and took him to Cairo, Egypt.11 

5. It has been confirmed that the plane that transported El Zari from Stockholm to Egypt 

was the Gulfstream V, otherwise known as N379P.12 This plane has been reported to have 

conducted over fifty illegal renditions during the CIA enhanced interrogation program.  The 

plane is owned and operated by Aero Contractors, Ltd., a North Carolina-based company 

headquartered in Johnston county. The company is privately held and is registered with the state 

of North Carolina. The company also acquired construction permits from the state and employs 

residents of Johnston County. As a North Carolina company, Aero Contractors, Ltd., is subject to 

North Carolina law as well as United States Federal Law. The allegation that Aero Contractors, 

Ltd., was the company that performed the illegal rendition of El Zari has also been corroborated 

by the Rendition Project which obtained European flight records and North Carolina Stop 

Torture Now.13  

6. The plane left from Johnston County, North Carolina, on December 18, 2001, just after 

midnight. It flew to Washington Dulles International Airport to pick up the CIA rendition team.14 

From there, the plane traveled to Cairo where two Egyptian officials joined the CIA team and the 

Aero Contractors, Ltd., flight crew.15 N379P continued on to Stockholm where the two victims 

were obtained and transported to Cairo.16 N379P is generally housed in Smithfield, North 

Carolina, where Aero has its headquarters.  

                                                      
11 EU: Rendition, Revelation of 800 Secret CIA Flights in European Airspace, Amnesty International UK, Dec. 5, 

2005, https://www.amnesty.org.uk/press-releases/eu-rendition-revelation-800-secret-cia-flights-european-airspace  
12 El-Zery Profile, supra note 4. 
13 Plane Spotting, North Carolina Stop Torture Now, http://ncstn.org/content/planespotting/  
14 Rendition Circuit: 18-20 December 2001, The Rendition Project, 

https://www.therenditionproject.org.uk/flights/renditions/N379P-011218.html  
15 Id. 
16 Id. 

https://www.amnesty.org.uk/press-releases/eu-rendition-revelation-800-secret-cia-flights-european-airspace
http://ncstn.org/content/planespotting/
https://www.therenditionproject.org.uk/flights/renditions/N379P-011218.html
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II I. Detention and Torture in Cairo 

7. While in Cairo, El Zari was not given the opportunity for a trial but was instead subjected 

to torture techniques in order to obtain more information about his alleged involvement with 

terrorist organizations. He remained blindfolded for over two months - from December 18, 2001, 

to February 20, 2002.17 The only time his blindfold was removed was during his meetings with 

the Swedish Ambassador during which his ability to speak freely was thoroughly impaired. 

These meetings were held in order to ensure that the prisoners were afforded just treatment, 

though El Zariôs continuous complaints, however limited due to his fear of retaliation, made no 

impact.18 Swedenôs lack of due diligence in understanding the reality of what was occurring at 

this detention center in Egypt has since resulted in several investigations.19 

8. During his time in Cairo, El Zari was repeatedly tortured. He suffered electric shocks to 

his genitals, ears, and nipples.20 When his interrogators believed him to be lying or withholding 

information, they would release a shock to force him into compliance. As time continued, El 

Zariôs interrogators began to wear him down. El Zari recalls admitting to crimes and other 

terrorist involvement that were untrue and inaccurate, hoping to make the torture stop. He also 

stated that his ñtorture was monitored by doctors who made sure that it would not leave him with 

visible scars.ò21 Both the United States and Egypt understood that their treatment of El Zari was 

against international law and also contrary to their promises to Sweden. Therefore, they were 

very careful to keep El Zari healthy. 

                                                      
17 El-Zery Profile, supra note 4. 
18 Id. 
19 Sweden, supra note 2. 
20 Id. at 5. 
21 Id. 
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9. El Zari was detained until October 27, 2003 for a total of twenty-two months. He was 

never charged with any crime and never given a trial. It was not until his law few months that he 

learned the reason for his detention. U.S. and Egyptian officials had believed him to be a part of 

a terrorist organization composing over 250 members. Many of the others accused alongside El 

Zari had already been executed.22 

IV. Violations of Law 

A. International Law 

10. The Convention Against Torture (CAT) defines torture as ñany act by which severe pain 

or suffering, whether physical or mental, is intentionally inflicted on a person for such purposes 

as obtaining from him or a third person information or a confessionéò23 When a nation signs a 

treaty, they are legally bound to comply with its provisions. Because the United States was a 

party to this agreement and was one of the ratifying members, they must face international 

ramifications when they violate the CAT. Amnesty International has already stated that 

Swedenôs involvement with the rendition and torture of Mohammed El Zari was enough to 

constitute a violation of the treaty under Article 3: 

ñ(1) No State Party shall expel, return (ñrefoulerò) or extradite a person to another 

State where there are substantial grounds for believing that he would be in danger 

of being subjected to torture. (2) For the purpose of determining whether there are 

such grounds, the competent authorities shall take into account all relevant 

considerations including, where applicable, the existence in the State concerned of 

a consistent pattern of gross, flagrant or mass violations of human rights.ò24 

 

Because Sweden had reason to believe that the U.S. and Egypt were torturing the detainees in 

Cairo, Sweden should take partial responsibility for the sufferings of the Cairo detainees.  

                                                      
22 El-Zery Profile, supra note 4. 
23 Convention Against Torture and Other Cruel, Inhumane or Degrading Treatment or Punishment, Article 1 (Dec. 

10, 1984). 
24 Id. at Article 3.  
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11. Sweden was merely complicit with the rendition and torture of the Cairo detainees. In 

contrast, Aero Contractors, Ltd., and the United States were both the principal actor in the 

detention of Mohammed El Zari. Therefore, it is safe to say that the CIA rendition program 

violates the international Covenant Against Torture. 

12. The Universal Declaration of Human Rights (UDHR) Article 5 states that ñ[n]o one shall 

be subject to torture or to cruel, inhumane, or degrading treatment or punishment.ò25 

Additionally, Article 8 grants individuals ñthe right to an effective remedy by the competent 

national tribunals for acts violating the fundamental rights granted him by the constitution or by 

law.ò26 Throughout El Zariôs detention in Cairo he was not afforded a just trial. Even more, he 

was not told why he was being detained until he had been there nearly two years. He was even 

prohibited from contacting his attorney and all legal remedies were denied to him. 

13. Finally, the International Covenant on Civil and Political Rights, Article 7, states that 

ñNo one shall be subjected to torture or to cruel, inhumane, or degrading treatment or 

punishment.ò27 This provision was clearly violated by the mistreatment of Mohammed El Zagi 

throughout his two years at the CIA black site. 

B. United States Federal Law 

17.  In addition to the U.S. Constitution, Eighth Amendment which prohibits cruel and 

unusual treatment, 18 U.S.C. Ä 2304 defines torture as ñan act committed by a person acting 

under the color of law specifically intended to inflict severe physical or mental pain or suffering . 

. . upon another person within his custody or physical control.ò Accordingly, the Code provides 

that anyone who ñcommits or attempts to commit torture shall be fined under this title or 

                                                      
25 Universal Declaration of Human Rights, art. 5, G.A. Red. 217(III), U.N. GAOR, 3d Sess., 1st Plen. Mtg. U.N. 

Doc. A/810 (Dec. 12, 1948). 
26 Id. 
27 International Covenant on Civil and Political Rights, art. 7 (Dec. 16, 1966). 
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imprisoned not more than 20 years, or both, and if death results to any person from conduct 

prohibited by this subsection, shall be punished by death or imprisoned for any term of years for 

life.ò 18 U.S.C. Ä 2304A(a) (2004). Considering that the aforementioned provision has been 

enacted within the criminal code, violation of this law would create severe consequences for the 

offender.  

C. North Carolina State Law 

18. North Carolina Constitution states that ñ[n]o person shall be taken, imprisoned, or 

disseized of his freehold, liberties, or privileges, or outlawed, or exiled, or in any manner 

deprived of his life, liberty, or property, but by the law of the land.ò28 The Constitution also 

requires that if anyone be facing criminal charges, they must be formally indicted, presented, or 

impeached.29 Throughout the entirety of the rendition program, Mohammed El Zagi was not 

given a proper trial and was not presented with any charges.  

V. Conclusion 

 Mohammed El Zagi was subjected to years of torture through shock punishment, 

psychological warfare, solitary confinement, and forced nudity. He ripped from his home in 

Sweden and placed in a detention center with no explanation and no legal remedy. He was 

denied a fair trial, treated as less than human, and forced to wear blindfolds and shackles 

throughout his time in the rendition program. This treatment of another human being is 

inexcusable and it is time that North Carolina take action against the injustice. As the home of 

Aero Contractors, Ltd., it is North Carolinaôs responsibility to see that actions such as these do 

not go unpunished.  

 

                                                      
28 N.C. Const. art. 1, § 19. 
29 N.C. Const. § 17. 
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Omar Ghramesh 

I. Introduction  

1. Omar Ghramesh was captured by the CIA in Pakistan in March 2002. He was 

subsequently extraordinarily rendered to a brutal prison in Syria, likely on an Aero Contractors-

operated plane. His fate and whereabouts are unknown, and the United States has never publicly 

acknowledged his rendition. 

II. Detention 

A. Capture & Detention in Pakistan 

2. The CIA seized Ghramesh in Faisalabad, Pakistan, on 28 March 2002.1 His capture was 

part of an operation targeting Abu Zubaydah.2 

3. In Pakistan, U.S. operatives showed Ghramesh photos of Abu Zubaydah looking 

ñbattered and bruisedò and told him, ñIf you donôt talk, this is what will happen to you.ò3 

B. Rendition 

4. Ghramesh was rendered from Pakistan to Syria on 14 May 2002.4 At that time, flight 

records demonstrate that the Gulfstream V jet N379P, which is known to have carried out CIA 

renditions, was traveling in the same region. The jet was operated by Aero Contractors, 

headquartered in Johnston County, North Carolina. Because the dates of its travel in this region 

match the dates of his rendition, N379P may have transported Ghramesh. At least two others, 

Abdul Halim Dalak and an unnamed teenager (likely Noor Al-Deen),5 may also have been 

                                                      
1 OPEN SOCIETY JUSTICE INITIATIVE , Globalizing Torture: CIA Detention and Extraordinary Rendition 40 (2013). 
2 Andy Worthington, Lost in Guantanamo: The Faisalabad 16 (2008). 

http://www.andyworthington.co.uk/2008/12/09/lost-in-guantanamo-the-faisalabad-16/. 
3 Id. 
4 OPEN SOCIETY JUSTICE INITIATIVE , supra note 1. 
5 Id. at 38. 
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rendered on this flight.6 For the involvement of N379P to be confirmed, the U.S. government 

must release evidence in CIA records that it is currently refusing to disclose.  

C. Detention at the ñPalestine Branchò 

5. In Syria, Ghramesh was detained at a facility called the ñPalestine Branch.ò7 The 

Palestine Branch is notorious for its brutality; several detainees formerly imprisoned there 

described it as ñone of the most feared detention facilities.ò8 Human Rights Watch has reported 

that torture techniques such as stress positions, sleep deprivation, electrocution, and severe 

beatingsïïincluding with cables and other objectsïïwere habitually used there.9 

D. Disappearance 

6. After his rendition to the Palestine Branch, there is no publicly available information 

regarding Ghrameshôs location or circumstances. It is incumbent on the CIA and the U.S. 

government, which had control over his whereabouts and his extraordinary rendition to Syria, to 

provide full disclosure as to his condition and fate. 

E. Torture 

7. The UN has confirmed that Ghramesh was subjected to torture during his detention.10 

The CIA has refused to release further details. However, based on both the agencyôs practices 

throughout the Rendition, Detention, and Interrogation (RDI) program and the techniques 

utilized at the Palestine Branch, it is justifiable to assume that Ghramesh suffered stress 

                                                      
6 UNITED NATIONS, Joint Study on Global Practices in Relation to Secret Detention in the Context of Countering 

Terrorism 75 (2010). http://hrlibrary.umn.edu/instree/A-HRC-13-42.pdf. 
7 Andy Worthington, supra note 2. 
8 HUMAN RIGHTS WATCH, Torture Archipelago: Arbitrary Arrests, Torture, and Enforced Disappearances in 

Syriaôs Underground Prisons since March 2011 (2012). https://www.hrw.org/report/2012/07/03/torture-

archipelago/arbitrary-arrests-torture-and-enforced-disappearances-syrias. 
9 Id. 
10 UNITED NATIONS, supra note 6. 



 

108 
  

positions, sleep deprivation, walling, extremes of temperature, isolation, beatings, and 

electrocution. 

III. Laws Condemning Extraordinary Rendition, Torture, and Detention  

A. International Law Violations 

8. Ghrameshôs abuse violated ñone of the most universally recognized human rightsò: the 

prohibition on torture. 11 The prohibition on torture is a peremptory norm. As such, all states are 

required to uphold it, irrespective of any official commitment to do so, and no situation can 

justify derogating from it. 12 Thus, the United Statesô intelligence and security aims do not 

legitimize its complicity in the acts of torture to which Ghramesh was subject. 

9. The United States has, moreover, explicitly committed to adhere to the prohibition on 

torture in several treaties. These include the Declaration of Human Rights (UDHR), the 

International Covenant on Civil and Political Rights (ICCPR), and the Convention Against 

Torture (CAT). Through the torture of Ghramesh, all of these three treaties have been violated.  

10. Both the UDHR and the ICCPR state that ñno one shall be subjected to torture or to cruel, 

inhuman or degrading treatment or punishment.ò13 Furthermore, the ICCPR explicitly requires 

that states uphold the prohibition on torture at all times, even during times of public emergency. 

The torture inflicted on detainees at the Palestine Branch, including Ghramesh, violated both of 

these treaties. 

                                                      
11 INTERNATIONAL JUSTICE RESOURCE CENTER, Torture, http://www.ijrcenter.org/thematic-research-guides/torture/. 
12 Id. 
13 Universal Declaration of Human Rights, G.A. Res. 217A (III), U.N. Doc. A/810 at 71 (1948), at art. 5. 

[Hereinafter UDHR]; International Covenant on Civil and Political Rights, art. 4, Dec. 16, 1966, S. Treaty Doc. No. 

95-20, 6 I.L.M. 368 (1967), 999 U.N.T.S. 171. [Hereinafter ICCPR]. 
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11. Ratified in 1994, 14 the CAT forbids torture in all circumstances, 15 even in ñexceptionalò 

ones.16 Ghrameshôs torture violated this fundamental provision of the CAT. 

12. In rendering Ghramesh to Syria, the United States violated additional provisions of the 

CAT. Under the CAT, the United States must  

take effective legislative, administrative, judicial, or other measures to prevent 

acts of torture in any territory under its jurisdiction and that no state that is a party 

to it may expel, return, or extradite a person to another state where there are 

substantial grounds for believing that he would be in danger of being subjected to 

torture.17 

 

13. Torture was frequently used at the Palestine Branch. Thus, at the time of Ghrameshôs 

rendition, there were ñsubstantial grounds for believingò that he ñwould be in danger of being 

subjected to tortureò at the prison. For this reason, sending Ghramesh to the Palestine Branch 

violated this provision of the CAT. 

14. The same provision will be violated by the state of North Carolina if it does not take 

action to fulfill its responsibilities under the CAT. Pursuant to the Supremacy Clause of the U.S. 

Constitution, states must obey international treaties ratified by the United States. North Carolina 

is thus obliged to ñtake effectiveémeasures to prevent acts of tortureò both inside and outside of 

the United States. 18 

15. North Carolina can and must take administrative measures to fulfill that obligation. More 

specifically, the state and its political entities and subdivisions must revoke or discontinue Aero 

                                                      
14 UNITED NATIONS, Status of Treaties: Convention Against Torture and Other Cruel, Inhuman or Degrading 

Treatment or Punishment, https://treaties.un.org/Pages/ViewDetails.aspx?src=IND&mtdsg_no=IV-

9&chapter=4&lang=en. 
15 Convention against Torture and Other Cruel, Inhuman or Degrading Treatment or Punishment art. 1, Dec. 10, 

1984, 1465 U.N.T.S. 113 [hereinafter CAT]. 
16 CAT, supra note 18, at art. 2. 
17 CAT, supra note 18, at art. 2. 
18 Deborah M. Weissman et al., Obligations and Obstacles: Holding North Carolina Accountable for Extraordinary 

Rendition and Torture, UNC SCH. L. IMMIGRATION &  HUM. RTS. POL. CLINIC 1, 36 (2013), 

http://www.law.unc.edu/documents/clinicalprograms/obligationsandobstaclesncreport.pdf [hereinafter Weissman et 

al., Obligations and Obstacles]. 
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Contractorsô ñflying permits, licenses, and leases.ò19 Aeroôs critical contribution to the RDI 

program, which may have included the rendition of Ghramesh to be tortured, demands such 

action from North Carolina pursuant to the CAT. 

16. In addition to torture, Ghramesh was subjected to extraordinary rendition. This aspect of 

his ordeal violated another treaty ratified by the United States, the Protocol to Prevent, Suppress, 

and Punish Trafficking in Persons, Especially Women and Children, Supplementing the United 

Nations Convention Against Transnational Organized Crime, (ñthe Protocolò).20 The Protocol 

forbids ñtrafficking in persons,ò which it defines as: 

the recruitment, transportation, transfer, harboring or receipt of persons, by means 

of the threat or use of force or other forms of coercion, of abduction, of fraud, of 

deception, of the abuse of power or of a position of vulnerability or of the giving or 

receiving of payments or benefits to achieve the consent of a person having control 

over another person, for the purpose of exploitation. Exploitation shall include, at 

a minimum, the exploitation of the prostitution of others or other forms of sexual 

exploitation, forced labor or services, slavery or practices similar to slavery, 

servitude or the removal of organs. 21 

 

17. The extralegal capture and transport of Ghramesh was a violation of the Protocolôs ban 

on human trafficking. 

18. Other provisions of the Protocol were also violated; these provisions concern entitlements 

owed to victims of human trafficking. The entitlements include ñthe provision of: (a) 

Appropriate housing; (b) Counselling and information, in particular as regards their legal rights, 

in a language that the victims of trafficking in persons can understand; (c) Medical, 

psychological and material assistance; and (d) Employment, educational and training 

                                                      
19 Id. 
20 UNITED NATIONS, Status of Treaties: a Protocol to Prevent, Suppress and Punish Trafficking in Persons, 

Especially Women and Children, supplementing the United Nations Convention against Transnational Organized 

Crime. https://treaties.un.org/pages/ViewDetails.aspx?src=TREATY&mtdsg_no=XVIII-12-

a&chapter=18&clang=_en. 
21 U.N.T.S. vol. 2237, Doc. A/55/383, p. 319, https://www.osce.org/odihr/19223?download=true.  

https://www.osce.org/odihr/19223?download=true


 

111 
  

opportunities.ò22 Ghramesh has not received these forms of assistance, despite his entitlement to 

them as a victim of human trafficking. 

19. The Protocol also dictates, ñEach State Party shall ensure that its domestic legal system 

contains measures that offer victims of trafficking in persons the possibility of obtaining 

compensation for damage suffered.ò23 Ghramesh has been offered no path to obtaining 

compensation for the violation of his rights, which is against international law.  

B. Federal Law Violations 

20. Pursuant to the Supremacy Clause, U.S. states must adhere to treaties ratified by the 

country as if they were federal statutes. The international law violations described above are also 

federal law violations.24 

21. Furthermore, the United Statesïïand likely Aero Contractorsïïbreached a number of 

federal laws beyond the treaties above. For example, the Eighth Amendment prohibits ñcruel and 

unusual punishments.ò25 By rendering Ghramesh to Syria, the United States subjected him to the 

cruel and unusual punishments inflicted on detainees at the Palestine Branch, thereby violating 

its own Constitution. 

22. The lack of accountability for Ghrameshôs torture also violates the Federal Torture 

Statute (FTS). The FTS states that anyone who ñcommits or attempts to commit tortureò outside 

the United States ñshall be fined under this title or imprisoned not more than 20 years, or bothò.26 

The fact that no American public official has been prosecuted for Ghrameshôs torture violates the 

FTS. 

                                                      
22 U.N.T.S. vol. 2237, Doc. A/55/383, supra note 25, at 3-4. 
23 U.N.T.S. vol. 2237, Doc. A/55/383, supra note 25, at 4. 
24 Weissman et al., supra note 18, at 36. 
25 U.S. CONST. amend VIII 
26 18 U.S. Code § 2340A. 
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23. Additional federal laws present opportunities to achieve accountability for Ghrameshôs 

abuse. For instance, the Alien Tort Statute (ATS) offers non-U.S. citizens who are the victims of 

egregious human rights violations (irrespective of whether the violations occur inside or outside 

of the United States) the capacity to sue government officials and private actors in U.S. courts.27 

In 2010, five former detainees used the ATS as grounds to sue the United States and Jeppesen 

Dataplan,28 a company that provided ñflight planning and logistical support services to the 

aircraft and crew on all of the flights transporting each of the five plaintiffs among the various 

locations where they were detained and allegedly subjected to torture.ò29 The ATS thus provides 

a precedent for the prosecution of both the United States and Aero Contractors. 

24. The Torture Victims Protection Act (TVPA) of 1991 could also be used to hold the U.S. 

and Aero accountable for Ghrameshôs rendition and torture. The TVPA was instituted to help 

fulfill the United Statesô obligations under the UN Charter and other international human rights 

protection mechanisms ñby establishing a civil action for recovery of damages from an 

individual who engages in torture or extrajudicial killing.ò30 The TVPA provides Ghramesh with 

grounds to seek compensation for his torture. 

C. North Carolina Law Violations 

25. Aero Contractors violated several state laws by operating the planes used for CIA 

renditions, possibly including Ghrameshôs. North Carolina thus has the unique capacity and, 

                                                      
27 CTR. CONST. RTS. The Alien Tort Statute: Protecting the Law that Protects Human Rights, para. 1 (2013), 

https://ccrjustice.org/home/get-involved/tools-resources/fact-sheets-and-faqs/alien-tort-statute-protecting-law-

protects [https://perma.cc/2P93-APSH]. 
28 The five individuals who stood as the Plaintiffs-Appellants in the 9th Circuit opinion were Binyam Mohamed, 

Abou Elkassim Britel, Ahmed Agiza, Mohamed Farag Ahmad Bashmilah, and Bisher Al-Rawi. Narratives written 

about all of them, with the exception of Agiza, have also been included in this collective report. See Brief of 

Plaintiffs-Appellants, Mohamed et al., v. Jeppesen Dataplan, No. 08-15693 (9th Cir. Sept. 8, 2010).  
29 Id. at 13526.  
30 Torture Victim Protection Act of 1991, Pub. L. No. 102-256, pmbl., 106 Stat. 73, 73 (1992).  
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moreover, the legal obligation to hold the company accountable for its violation of Ghrameshôs 

human rights. 

26. Aero Contractors violated numerous provisions of the North Carolina Constitution. For 

example, Article I, Ä 19, states, ñno person shall be taken, imprisoned, or disseized of his 

freehold, liberties or privileges, or outlawed, or exiled, or in any manner deprived of his life, 

liberty, or property . . .ò31 Kidnapping, involuntary servitude, trafficking, and criminal 

conspiracy are prohibited in other provisions. Aero Contractors directly participated in or 

facilitated all of those crimes through its contribution to the RDI program.32  

27. Section 14-39 of the North Carolina General Statutes also criminalizes kidnapping.33 

Furthermore, it determines that ñserious bodily harm to or terrorizing the personò who has been 

kidnapped is a crime.34 The North Carolina legislature has also defined the particularly serious 

crime of ñfirst-degree kidnapping,ò wherein the abducted individual is not transported to a safe 

place or has been ñseriously injured or sexually assaulted.ò35 Ghrameshôs extralegal capture and 

forced disappearance constitutes kidnapping, and his torture constitutes ñterrorizingò him. 

Furthermore, transporting Ghramesh to the Palestine Branch constitutes transporting him to an 

unsafe place, as torture was habitually used on the people detained there. NCGS § 14-39 has thus 

been violated. 

IV. Conclusion 

27. Omar Ghramesh suffered extralegal capture and extraordinary rendition. He was 

imprisoned in a notoriously abusive detention facility despite the fact that he was never charged 

                                                      
31 N.C. CONST. art. 1, § 19. 
32 See N.C. GEN. STAT. § 14-39 (2016) (ñKidnappingò); see also N.C. GEN. STAT. § 14-2.4 (2016) (ñPunishment for 

conspiracy to commit a felonyò). 
33 N.C. GEN. STAT., supra note 36, at § 14-39(a)(2). 
34 N.C. GEN. STAT., supra note 36, at § 14-39(a)(3). 
35 N.C. GEN. STAT., supra note 36, at § 14-39(b). 
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for any crime. He was subjected to torture, which is widely recognized as an exceptionally 

severe human rights violation. Pursuant to the international, federal, and state laws outlined 

above, these acts against him were not merely morally indefensible, but also illegal. 

28. The United Statesô refusal to acknowledge their abuse of Ghramesh is unacceptable; its 

silence is a tacit endorsement of impunity for torture. Such an attitude both seriously undermines 

the United Statesô international reputation and, more troublingly, encourages future perpetrators 

to believe that their crimes will go unpunished. The entities responsible for Ghrameshôs ordealïï

including the United States of America and possibly North Carolina and its political subdivisions 

and Aero Contractorsïïmust recognize the damage they have inflicted and provide redress. 

Failing to do so is a profound injustice both for Ghramesh and for the many other people, present 

and future, who are victims of torture. 
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Jamil Qasim Saeed Mohammed 

I. Introduction  

1. Jamil Qasim Saeed Mohammed, a student living in Pakistan, was arrested by Pakistani 

authorities and transferred to U.S. custody1 in October 2001.2 He was then rendered to Jordan, 

where the CIA often sent prisoners to facilitate abusive interrogations.3 Since his rendition, 

Mohammed has disappeared.4 Despite repeated requests from NGOs, no information on his 

location or condition has been made publicly available.5 

II. Rendition & Det ention 

A. Background 

2. At the time of his capture, Mohammed was studying microbiology at Karachi University 

in Pakistan.6 A Yemeni citizen from the city of Taiz, he reportedly arrived in Karachi from 

Yemenôs capital, Sanaôa, in 1993.7 

B. Capture 

3. In late September or early October 2001, the Pakistan Ministry of Interior requested 

information on Mohammed from Karachi University.8 Shortly afterward, Mohammed was 

                                                      
1 OPEN SOCIETY JUSTICE INITIATIVE , Globalizing Torture: CIA Detention and Extraordinary Rendition 49 (2013). 
2 Masood Anwar, ñMystery Man Handed Over to U.S. Troops in Karachi,ò THE NEWS INTERNATIONAL, PAKISTAN 

(26 October, 2001). freerepublic.com/focus/news/556778/posts. 
3 HUMAN RIGHTS WATCH, Double Jeopardy: CIA Renditions to Jordan (2008). 

https://www.hrw.org/reports/2008/jordan0408/. 
4 Craig Whitlock, ñJordanôs Spy Agency: Holding Cell for the CIA,ò WASHINGTON POST 2 (1 December, 2007). 

http://www.washingtonpost.com/wp-

dyn/content/article/2007/11/30/AR2007113002484.html?sid=ST2007120100473. 
5 AMNESTY INTERNATIONAL, UK:CIA Rendition Flights Used UK Airfields (2005). 

https://www.amnesty.org/download/Documents/84000/eur450592005en.pdf. 
6 OPEN SOCIETY JUSTICE INITIATIVE , supra note 1. 
7 Masood Anwar, supra note 2. 
8 Id. 
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arrested by Pakistani security forces.9 No information is publicly available on the period of 

detention immediately following his arrest. 

C. Rendition 

4. Mohammed was rendered to Jordan on 23 October 2001. Witnesses saw U.S. operatives 

force him, shackled and blindfolded, onto the plane.10 One source described the operation as ñso 

mysterious that all persons involved in the operation, including U.S. troops, were wearing 

masks.ò11 He also reported that a masked U.S. agent filmed the operation.12 According to the 

source, the plane arrived at the Karachi airport from Amman and departed, returning to Amman, 

at 2:40 AM.13 

5. As reported by Amnesty International and two news outlets, including the Washington 

Post,14 witnesses also observed that the tail number of the plane was N379P, thereby identifying 

it as a Gulfstream V jet operated by Aero Contractors, a company headquartered in Johnston 

County, North Carolina.15 In addition, although there are gaps in the flight data for these dates, 

documentation does place N379P in Amman on the date of Mohammedôs rendition and suggest 

that it may have been in Karachi on that date as well. Thus, strong evidence indicates that Aero 

Contractors transported Mohammed. It is the responsibility of the U.S. government to further 

investigate and confirm the companyôs involvement in the rendition. 

D. Disappearance 

                                                      
9 OPEN SOCIETY JUSTICE INITIATIVE , supra note 1. 
10 HUMAN RIGHTS WATCH, supra note 3.  
11 Masood Anwar, supra note 2. 
12 Id.  
13 HUMAN RIGHTS WATCH, supra note 3. 
14 Id.; Dana Priest, ñJet Is an Open Secret in Terror War,ò WASHINGTON POST 2 (27 December, 2004). 

http://www.washingtonpost.com/wp-dyn/content/article/2004/12/27/AR2005033104932.html. 
15 Id. 
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6. Mohammed has not been seen or heard from since witnesses observed him boarding 

N379P.16 Amnesty International has requested information on his whereabouts and fate from 

both the American and Jordanian governments, but the organization has received no reply.17 

E. Likelihood of Torture 

7. The CIA has refused to reveal the details of Mohammedôs treatment and the human rights 

violations he suffered.  Assuming he is alive, it is reasonable to assume he has not been able to 

disclose or publicly discuss the details of the horrors he suffered.  As psychologists with 

expertise in the consequences of torture have noted, the extreme psychological trauma he 

suffered is likely to have hindered his ability to discuss his rendition, detention, and torture with 

media, representatives, and other advocates or even family members.   

8. However, given the public documentation that exists, it is evident that the extraordinary 

rendition protocols in each and every situation resulted in torture, abuse, humiliation, and 

suffering.  

9. In addition, detainees rendered to Jordan by the CIA were systematically tortured.18 CIA 

prisoners who have been held in Jordan describe being threatened, deprived of sleep, beaten, and 

having their feet whipped.19 

10. Based on the pervasive use of torture at Jordanian detention facilities and in the 

Rendition, Detention, and Interrogation (RDI) program as a whole, it is reasonable to assume 

that Mohammed was subjected to torture. Based on the typical practices of the United States and 

                                                      
16 Craig Whitlock, supra note 4. 
17 AMNESTY INTERNATIONAL, supra note 5; 

Craig Whitlock, supra note 4. 
18 HUMAN RIGHTS WATCH, supra note 3. 
19 Id.  
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Jordan, one must further conclude that Mohammed suffered walling, isolation, stress positions, 

extremes of temperature, sleep deprivation, beatings, and foot whippings. 

III. Laws Condemning Extraordinary Rendition, Torture, and Detention  

11. As noted above, the failure of the CIA to properly disclose the details of Mohammedôs 

detainment and interrogation nonetheless does not preclude a judicious and justifiable conclusion 

that he suffered egregious rights violations, including torture.  Based on the pattern and practices 

of the CIAôs extraordinary rendition program, the brutality of Jordanian interrogation processes, 

and the information gathered about Mohammedôs circumstances, the following legal claims on 

behalf of Mohammed are asserted. 

A. International Law Violations 

12. Mohammedôs ordeal violated the prohibition on torture, which is considered ñone of the 

most universally recognized human rights.ò 20 As a peremptory norm, the prohibition on torture 

applies to all states, even those who have not officially agreed to uphold it, and in all situations, 

even emergencies. 21 The United Statesô security concerns, therefore, do not justify the rendition 

of Mohammed to be tortured in Jordan. 

13. The U.S. has furthermore expressly committed to uphold the prohibition on torture. The 

country has ratified a number of treaties, including the Declaration of Human Rights (UDHR), 

the International Covenant on Civil and Political Rights (ICCPR), and the Convention Against 

Torture (CAT), all of which it has violated through its complicity in Mohammedôs torture.  

                                                      
20 INTERNATIONAL JUSTICE RESOURCE CENTER, Torture, http://www.ijrcenter.org/thematic-research-guides/torture/. 
21 Id. 
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14. The UDHR and the ICCPR both require that ñno one shall be subjected to torture or to 

cruel, inhuman or degrading treatment or punishment.ò22 The ICCPR further mandates that states 

uphold the prohibition on torture at all times, even during public emergency. Mohammedôs 

torture in Jordan violated both of these treaties. 

15. Pursuant to the CAT, ratified by the U.S. in 1994, 23 torture is always forbidden, 24 

including in ñexceptionalò circumstances.25 As a result of Mohammedôs torture, this provisionïï

the fundamental purpose of the CATïïwas violated. 

16. Mohammedôs torture also violated other provisions of the CAT, which mandate that 

states take preventative measures to ensure that torture does not occur. For example, under the 

CAT, the United States is required to  

take effective legislative, administrative, judicial, or other measures to prevent 

acts of torture in any territory under its jurisdiction and that no state that is a party 

to it may expel, return, or extradite a person to another state where there are 

substantial grounds for believing that he would be in danger of being subjected to 

torture.26 

 

17. This provision obliges the United States to go beyond ending torture within its borders; it 

must also ascertain that none of its states or territories engages in the extradition of individuals to 

states where they could be tortured.27 

                                                      
22 Universal Declaration of Human Rights, G.A. Res. 217A (III), U.N. Doc. A/810 at 71 (1948), at art. 5. 

[Hereinafter UDHR]; International Covenant on Civil and Political Rights, art. 4, Dec. 16, 1966, S. Treaty Doc. No. 

95-20, 6 I.L.M. 368 (1967), 999 U.N.T.S. 171. [Hereinafter ICCPR]. 
23 UNITED NATIONS, Status of Treaties: Convention Against Torture and Other Cruel, Inhuman or Degrading 

Treatment or Punishment, https://treaties.un.org/Pages/ViewDetails.aspx?src=IND&mtdsg_no=IV-

9&chapter=4&lang=en. 
24 Convention against Torture and Other Cruel, Inhuman or Degrading Treatment or Punishment art. 1, Dec. 10, 

1984, 1465 U.N.T.S. 113 [hereinafter CAT]. 
25 CAT, supra note 18, at art. 2. 
26 CAT, supra note 18, at art. 2. 
27 Deborah M. Weissman et al., Obligations and Obstacles: Holding North Carolina Accountable for Extraordinary 

Rendition and Torture, UNC SCH. L. IMMIGRATION &  HUM. RTS. POL. CLINIC 1, 37 (2013), 

http://www.law.unc.edu/documents/clinicalprograms/obligationsandobstaclesncreport.pdf [hereinafter Weissman et 

al., Obligations and Obstacles]. 
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18. The Supremacy Clause of the U.S. Constitution requires each state to follow treaties 

ratified by the United States. Therefore, North Carolina must also ensure that adequate 

preventative measures are taken to stop both torture within the United States and the extradition 

of individuals to be tortured elsewhere. 28 

19. The ñadministrativeò measures discussed in the CAT are particularly significant to this 

effort. To fulfill its obligations under the CAT, North Carolinaôs political entities and 

subdivisions can and must take administrative steps, namely, revoking or discontinuing Aero 

Contractorsô ñflying permits, licenses, and leases.ò 29 Failure to do so, given the critical role Aero 

played in the extradition of detainees, including Mohammed, to be tortured, is a violation of 

international law.  

20. In addition to the torture Mohammed suffered, he was subjected to extraordinary 

rendition; as such, he was captured and transported without his consent or any legal proceedings. 

This aspect of his ordeal violated another treaty ratified by the United States: the Protocol to 

Prevent, Suppress, and Punish Trafficking in Persons, Especially Women and Children, 

Supplementing the United Nations Convention Against Transnational Organized Crime, (ñthe 

Protocolò).30 The Protocol prohibits ñtrafficking in persons,ò which it defines as: 

the recruitment, transportation, transfer, harboring or receipt of persons, by means 

of the threat or use of force or other forms of coercion, of abduction, of fraud, of 

deception, of the abuse of power or of a position of vulnerability or of the giving or 

receiving of payments or benefits to achieve the consent of a person having control 

over another person, for the purpose of exploitation. Exploitation shall include, at 

a minimum, the exploitation of the prostitution of others or other forms of sexual 

exploitation, forced labor or services, slavery or practices similar to slavery, 

servitude or the removal of organs. 31 

                                                      
28 Id. at 36. 
29 Id. 
30 UNITED NATIONS, Status of Treaties: a Protocol to Prevent, Suppress and Punish Trafficking in Persons, 

Especially Women and Children, supplementing the United Nations Convention against Transnational Organized 

Crime. https://treaties.un.org/pages/ViewDetails.aspx?src=TREATY&mtdsg_no=XVIII-12-

a&chapter=18&clang=_en. 
31 U.N.T.S. vol. 2237, Doc. A/55/383, p. 319, https://www.osce.org/odihr/19223?download=true.  

https://www.osce.org/odihr/19223?download=true


 

121 
  

 

21. Through its extraordinary rendition of Mohammed, the United States violated the 

Protocolôs prohibition of human trafficking. 

22. Mohammedôs experience was in violation of several other provisions of the Protocol, 

which concern the entitlements owed to victims of human trafficking. These entitlements include 

ñthe provision of: (a) Appropriate housing; (b) Counselling and information, in particular as 

regards their legal rights, in a language that the victims of trafficking in persons can understand; 

(c) Medical, psychological and material assistance; and (d) Employment, educational and 

training opportunities.ò32 As a victim of human trafficking, Mohammed is entitled to these forms 

of assistance; however, he has not received them.  

23. The Protocol further dictates, ñEach State Party shall ensure that its domestic legal 

system contains measures that offer victims of trafficking in persons the possibility of obtaining 

compensation for damage suffered.ò33 Mohammed has not had the opportunity to obtain 

compensation for his suffering, which is a violation of international law. 

B. Federal Law Violations 

24. International treaties ratified by the United States are equivalent to federal statutes 

pursuant to the Supremacy Clause of the U.S. Constitution. Thus, in violating the international 

laws described above, the United States also violated its own federal law.34 

25. Furthermore, both the United States and Aero Contractors violated federal laws as well as 

the treaties described above. For example, ñcruel and unusual punishmentsò are prohibited by the 

Eighth Amendment of the U.S. Constitution. 35 The torture methods used in the RDI program and 

                                                      
32 U.N.T.S. vol. 2237, Doc. A/55/383, supra note 25, at 3-4. 
33 U.N.T.S. vol. 2237, Doc. A/55/383, supra note 25, at 4. 
34 Weissman et al., supra note 21, at 36. 
35 U.S. CONST. amend VIII 
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at Jordanian detention facilities are both cruel and unusual; Mohammedôs ordeal thus violated 

the Constitution. 

26. The complete lack of accountability regarding Mohammedôs torture is a violation of the 

Federal Torture Statute (FTS), which states that anyone who ñcommits or attempts to commit 

tortureò outside the United States ñshall be fined under this title or imprisoned not more than 20 

years, or bothò.36 No American official has been prosecuted for Mohammedôs torture; this failure 

violates the FTS. 

27. Additional federal laws present opportunities for accountability for Mohammedôs torture, 

which is critical to achieve but currently nonexistent. For instance, the Alien Tort Statute (ATS) 

provides grounds for victims of egregious human rights violations who do not have U.S. 

citizenship to sue government officials and private actors in U.S. courts. They may do so 

regardless of whether the rights violation occurred in the United States.37 In 2010, five former 

detainees used the ATS to sue the United States and Jeppesen Dataplan,38 a company that 

provided ñflight planning and logistical support services to the aircraft and crew on all of the 

flights transporting each of the five plaintiffs among the various locations where they were 

detained and allegedly subjected to torture.ò39 There is, therefore, a precedent for the prosecution 

of the United States and Aero Contractors using the ATS.40 

                                                      
36 18 U.S. Code § 2340A. 
37 CTR. CONST. RTS. The Alien Tort Statute: Protecting the Law that Protects Human Rights, para. 1 (2013), 

https://ccrjustice.org/home/get-involved/tools-resources/fact-sheets-and-faqs/alien-tort-statute-protecting-law-

protects [https://perma.cc/2P93-APSH]. 
38 The five individuals who stood as the Plaintiffs-Appellants in the 9th Circuit opinion were Binyam Mohamed, 

Abou Elkassim Britel, Ahmed Agiza, Mohamed Farag Ahmad Bashmilah, and Bisher Al-Rawi. Narratives written 

about all of them, with the exception of Agiza, have also been included in this collective report. See Brief of 

Plaintiffs-Appellants, Mohamed et al., v. Jeppesen Dataplan, No. 08-15693 (9th Cir. Sept. 8, 2010).  
39 Id. at 13526.  
40 It should be noted that although the Jeppesen Dataplan case was dismissed on the basis of the ñState Secrets 

Doctrine,ò such legal defense is likely no longer available to the government given the ongoing declassification of 

documents related to the CIAs Extraordinary Rendition and Torture program. See e.g., Irving. Figueroa, et al., 

Assessing Recent Developments: Achieving Accountability for Torture (2016) 

http://www.law.unc.edu/documents/academics/humanrights/tortureaccountability.pdf,  

http://www.law.unc.edu/documents/academics/humanrights/tortureaccountability.pdf
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28. The 1991 Torture Victims Protection Act (TVPA) is another potential path to 

accountability for Mohammedôs abuse. Created to help fulfill the United Statesô obligations 

under the UN Charter and other international mechanisms for the protection of human rights, the 

TVPA established ña civil action for recovery of damages from an individual who engages in 

torture or extrajudicial killing.ò The law thus provides grounds for Mohammed to seek 

compensation for his torture. 

C. North Carolina Law Violations 

29. By operating the plane that rendered Mohammed to Jordan, Aero Contractors violated 

myriad state laws. As a result of these violations, North Carolina has the unique capacity and 

responsibility to hold the perpetrators of egregious international human rights violations 

accountable on a state level. 

30. Aero Contractors violated several provisions of the North Carolina Constitution through 

its contribution to the RDI program. Article I, Ä 19, dictates, ñno person shall be taken, 

imprisoned, or disseized of his freehold, liberties or privileges, or outlawed, or exiled, or in any 

manner deprived of his life, liberty, or property . . .ò41 Other provisions prohibit kidnapping, 

involuntary servitude, trafficking, and criminal conspiracy. Aero Contractors directly 

participated in or facilitated all of these crimes in its role relative to the RDI program.42  

31. Section 14-39 of the North Carolina General Statutes also criminalizes kidnapping.43 It 

further determines that ñserious bodily harm to or terrorizing the personò who has been 

kidnapped is a crime.44 In addition, the North Carolina legislature has defined the crime of ñfirst-

                                                      
41 N.C. CONST. art. 1, § 19. 
42 See N.C. GEN. STAT. § 14-39 (2016) (ñKidnappingò); see also N.C. GEN. STAT. § 14-2.4 (2016) (ñPunishment for 

conspiracy to commit a felonyò). 
43 N.C. GEN. STAT., supra note 36, at § 14-39(a)(2). 
44 N.C. GEN. STAT., supra note 36, at § 14-39(a)(3). 
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degree kidnapping,ò wherein the abducted individual is not transported to a safe place or has 

been ñseriously injured or sexually assaulted,ò as a particularly serious legal violation.45 

Extrajudicially seizing and ñdisappearingò Mohammed constitutes kidnapping, and torturing him 

constitutes ñterrorizingò and ñserious bodily harm.ò Furthermore, rendering Mohammed to 

Jordan, where torture is used extensively on detainees, constitutes transporting him to an unsafe 

place. NCGS § 14-39 has thus been violated. 

IV. Conclusion 

32. Jamil Qasim Saeed Mohammed, a young man attempting to pursue his education, was 

robbed of his future when he was seized and extralegally detained. He was extraordinarily 

rendered to Jordanian custody, where prisoners are habitually subjected to brutal abuse. It must 

be assumed that he was severely tortured. Each of these aspects of his ordeal was illegal. 

33. The United Statesô silence surrounding these criminal acts is unacceptable. By refusing to 

acknowledge the wrongs inflicted on Mohammed, the U.S. government fosters a culture of 

impunity. Accepting impunity amounts to endorsing torture. Thus, silence does not merely 

profoundly damage the United Statesô reputation; it also encourages future perpetrators to use 

torture with the knowledge that their acts will go unpunished. The entities responsible for 

Mohammedôs maltreatmentïïincluding the United States of America, North Carolina and its 

political subdivisions, and Aero Contractorsïïmust acknowledge and make amends for the 

harms they have inflicted. Only through recognition and redress can justice be achieved. 

 

 

  

                                                      
45 N.C. GEN. STAT., supra note 36, at § 14-39(b). 
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Mohamedou Ould Slahi 

I. Introduction  

1. Mohamedou Slahi was one of many innocent Muslim men of Middle Eastern descent 

who was captured during the U.S. ñWar on Terror.ò  Like others, he was detained in 

Guantanamo Bay, and like others was deprived of sleep for weeks. He was kidnapped by the 

United States after government officials claimed he was a national security threat and was then 

tortured. However, one incident stands out to Slahi. One day, after Slahi had been brought back 

to his cell after enduring harsh interrogations and beatings and having gone without food the 

entire day, his guard exited the cell and perhaps unknowingly inflicted upon Slahi what he has 

described as most painful, dehumanizing act of the day. She said to him ñYou see, people in 

Yemen donôt know about this stuff.ò 1  Slahi is not from Yemen. At that moment, he realized that 

his guards do not know who he is, or what, if anything, he had been accused of. He had to endure 

this Kafkaesque nightmare for nearly 15 years, as documented in his book Guantanamo Diary, 

which he wrote during his detention.  

 

II. Before Detention 

2. Mohamedou Ould Slahi was born on December 31, 1970, in the town of Rosso, 

Mauritania. His family was large; Slahi had 11 siblings. Slahiôs father taught him to read the 

Koran at an early age. He studied mathematics during high school, and then earned a scholarship 

to attend the Carl Duisberg Society in Germany.2 Slahi was the first member of his family to 

attend college. He began to study engineering in Germany. In 1990, he traveled to Afghanistan to 

                                                      
1 UNC Human Rights Policy Lab interview with Mohamedou Slahi. March 1, 2017.  
2 SPIEGEL Staff, ñThe Career of Prisoner No. 760ò, Der Spiegel, 2008, 

http://www.spiegel.de/international/world/from-germany-to-guantanamo-the-career-of-prisoner-no-760-a-583193-

2.html.  

http://www.spiegel.de/international/world/from-germany-to-guantanamo-the-career-of-prisoner-no-760-a-583193-2.html
http://www.spiegel.de/international/world/from-germany-to-guantanamo-the-career-of-prisoner-no-760-a-583193-2.html
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oppose the Communist regime in Kabul. He trained for several weeks in Khost before returning 

to Germany. Slahi would return to Afghanistan in late 1991 for the same reasons, and left for 

good after the Communists were ousted in early 1992. 

3. Slahi then returned to Germany where he completed his degree. He lived and worked in 

Duisburg for most of the 1990s. Slahi kept in touch with some of the people he met in 

Afghanistan as well. He was unable to earn permanent residency status in Germany. Thus, he 

applied for immigrant status in Canada, on advice of a friend. In November 1999, Slahi moved to 

Montreal. He attended and briefly lived at a mosque in the city. Shortly after, an al-Qaeda 

member named Ahmed Ressam was arrested trying to cross the Canadian border into the United 

States. Ressamôs car was loaded with explosives. He was planning to bomb the Los Angeles 

International Airport in what became known as the ñMillennium Plotò. Ressam had attended the 

same mosque in Montreal as Slahi, which sparked a large investigation into the Muslim 

community. Even though Ressam left the city before Slahi had arrived, Slahi was still questioned 

about his involvement in the plot.  

III. Return to Mauritania  

4. In January 2000, Slahi left for his home country of Mauritania. He planned to meet his 

brothers in Dakar, Senegal, then drive to their home in Mauritania. When he arrived in Dakar, 

Slahi and his brothers were arrested by American agents in the airport.3 They were loaded into a 

truck and taken to local police station.  

5. Slahi was interrogated by an American and Senegalese official. The Senegalese official 

detained Slahi, but released his brothers who were allowed to go back home. After questioning 

Slahi for multiple days and taking his picture and fingerprints, the American captor elected to 

                                                      
3 Mohamedou Ould Slahi, Guantanamo Diary, 76, (Larry Siems ed. 2015).  
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release him as well. The official drove Slahi back to the airport. He accompanied Slahi on a 

small, private plane back to Mauritania. After arriving in Mauritania, Slahi was then held by 

Mauritanian authorities and questioned about the Millennium Plot. Around February 15, 2000, 

while still held in Mauritanian custody, the FBI arrived to question Slahi about his trips to 

Afghanistan and the Millennium plot. He was released from Mauritanian custody on February 

19, 2000.4 On September 29, 2001, the Director of Mauritanian Intelligence Service called Slahi 

to inform him he was being arrested at the behest of the American government.5 Slahi drove to 

the house of the Director of Mauritanian Intelligence Service. He was then taken to the police 

station and again questioned by the FBI about the Millennium plot. He was released, then called 

back by Mauritanian officials in November of 2001. The Mauritanian government then turned 

him over to the United States.  

6. The Mauritanian secret service drove Slahi to the airport at which point the Americans 

took over. Slahiôs kidnappers forced him onto a CIA rendition flight to Jordan for further 

interrogation. He was blindfolded and earmuffed, although allowed to remove the blindfold to 

eat during the flight.6  Slahi arrived in Jordan around November 29, 2001.  

7. Slahi describes his ordeal once he was detained in Jordan as a result of his extraordinary 

rendition at the hands of his American captors.  He was beaten, starved, and threatened with 

more severe beatings unless he confessed to being involved in the Millennium Plot to attack Los 

Angeles. As part of his torture, the Jordanians put another detainee in the interrogation room next 

to Slahi, and beat the man until he cried.7 They would often walk Slahi through the ñtorture rowò 

                                                      
4 Id., at 104. 
5 Id., at 114. 
6 Id., at 143. 
7 Id., at 182. 
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so he would hear the cries of prisoners. On July 19, 2002, U.S. officials forced Slahi onto a plane 

that traveled from Jordan to Afghanistan.  

8. The plane was likely a CIA-leased Gulfstream jet with the tail number N379P, which was 

operated by North Carolina-registered Aero Contractors and is based at Smithfield, North 

Carolina. N379Pôs involvement in CIA renditions is well-known,8 and, at the time of Slahiôs 

rendition, flight logs demonstrate that the plane flew from Jordan to Afghanistan, which strongly 

suggests that it may have transported Slahi. It is incumbent on the U.S. government, however, to 

investigate and confirm whether N379P and Aero Contractors were involved in Slahiôs rendition.  

IV. Taken to Guantanamo 

9. Slahi arrived in Bagram, Afghanistan on or around July 20, 2002.9 American forces 

interrogated Slahi during this time. Slahi was kept in isolation for the first few days.  He was 

shackled 24 hours per day, and kept in a narrow corridor between other cells.10 He was 

interrogated by a man he called ñWilliam the Torturerò. William told Slahi that he would be sent 

to an American prison and raped by multiple men. He also threatened torture if Slahi did not ñtell 

him what he wanted to hearò.11 He forced Slahi into painful positions that aggravated Slahiôs 

sciatic nerve problem.  

10. ñOn Aug. 4, 2002, Slahi was again hooded, shackled, diapered, and drugged, and put on a 

flight with 30 other Bagram Air Base detainees for a 36-hour journey to Guantánamo. He arrived 

depleted from his nine-month ordeal in Jordan and Afghanistan; official Defense Department 

                                                      
8 Rendition Project, N379P-N8068V-N44982. https://www.therenditionproject.org.uk/flights/aircraft/N379P.html. 
9 Id., at 12. 
10 Id., at 15. 
11 Id., at 18. 



 

130 
  

documents record that Slahi, who stands 5-foot-7, weighed just a little over 109 pounds when he 

was ñinprocessedò on August 5.ò12 

11. When Slahi arrived at Guantánamo Bay, he believed the worst of his treatment was over. 

In his memoir, he recalls telling his fellow detainees ñSince you guys are not involved in crimes 

you need to fear nothing. I personally am going to cooperate, since nobody is going to torture 

me. I donôt want any of you to suffer what I suffered in Jordanò.13 One of Slahiôs first 

interrogators even offered sympathy for his previous treatment in Jordan, remarking ñ[t]hose 

countries donôt respect human rights. They even torture peopleò. 14 This sentiment would 

become darkly ironic as Slahiôs time continued in Guantanamo.  

12. Still sick and suffering from his treatment in Jordan, Slahi collapsed in his cell within 

three days of arriving at Guantanamo. He was severely dehydrated from constant vomiting. He 

was so weak that he slept on the floor in his cell for a month, unable to even climb onto his bed. 

Slahi was questioned by officials using conventional methods during this time. However, in 

January of 2003, interrogators formulated ñspecial interrogation techniquesò to question him. 

They drafted a memo which included numerous unique techniques: using dogs during 

interrogations, exploitation of religious taboos, a mock prison transfer via watercraft.15 On July 

1, 2013, this interrogation plan was approved by Guantánamo Gen. Geoffrey Miller. Secretary of 

Defense Donald Rumsfeld personally approved the plan on August 13, 2003.16  

                                                      
12ñThe Guant§namo Memoirs of Mohamedou Ould Slahiò Slate. (April 30, 2013) 

http://www.slate.com/articles/news_and_politics/foreigners/2013/04/mohamedou_ould_slahi_s_guantanamo_memo

irs_part_1_the_endless_interrogations.html.  
13 Slahi, supra note 3, at 41. 
14 Id., at 44. 
15 Committee on Armed Service ï United States Senate, Inquiry into the treatment of detainees in US Custody, 136-

7 (Nov 20, 2008), 
16 Id., at 138.  

http://www.slate.com/articles/news_and_politics/foreigners/2013/04/mohamedou_ould_slahi_s_guantanamo_memoirs_part_1_the_endless_interrogations.html
http://www.slate.com/articles/news_and_politics/foreigners/2013/04/mohamedou_ould_slahi_s_guantanamo_memoirs_part_1_the_endless_interrogations.html
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13. The special interrogation plan implemented by the CIA actually began before approval 

was received from higher command.17 The plan started by placing Slahi in a cell where he was 

kept in nearly complete isolation. Slahi describes the sparse conditions in his diary:  

In the block the recipe started. I was deprived of my comfort items, except for a 

thin iso-mat and a very thin, small, and worn-out blanket. I was deprived of my 

books, which I owned. I was deprived of my Quran. I was deprived of my soap. I 

was deprived of my toothpaste. I was deprived of the roll of toilet paper I had. 

The cellðbetter, the boxðwas cooled down so that I was shaking most of the 

time. I was forbidden from seeing the light of the day. Every once in a while they 

gave me a rec time in the night to keep me from seeing or interacting with any 

detainees. I was living literally in terror. I donôt remember having slept one night 

quietly; for the next 70 days to come I wouldnôt know the sweetness of sleeping. 

Interrogation for 24 hours, three and sometimes four shifts a day. I rarely got a 

day off.18 

 

14. One practice involved turning the air conditioner down as low as possible in his room to 

make it nearly freezing. This would sometimes last more than 12 hours. Slahi only had a thin 

uniform for warmth, while his interrogators would be dressed ñlike somebody entering a meat 

lockerò during their brief time in the room.19  Some interrogators doused him with ice water to 

make the torment worse.20 Others shackled his arms to prevent him from rubbing his hands 

together to generate any warmth. 

15. His interrogators also used speakers to loudly play music to keep him awake and 

uncomfortable. The song ñBodiesò was a common one that played as strobe lights flashed at 

Slahi.21  

16. Slahiôs interrogators also used sexual abuse to degrade and humiliate him. Slahi describes 

the torture method in his book: 

                                                      
17 Id., at 139. 
18 Slahi, supra note 3, at 218. 
19 Id., at 243. 
20 Id., at 244. 
21 Id., at 235. 
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 As soon as I stood up, the two [redacted] took off their blouses, and started to 

talk all kind of dirty stuff you can imagine, which I minded less. What hurt me 

most was them forcing me to take part in a sexual threesome in the most 

degrading manner. . . . Both [redacted] stuck on me, literally one on the front and 

the other older [redacted] stuck on my back rubbing [redacted] whole body on 

mine. At the same time they were talking dirty to me, and playing with my sexual 

parts.22 

 

17. One of the notable incidents of torture involved interrogators taking Slahi out on a boat, 

similar to a tactic detailed in the special interrogation plan sent to Secretary Rumsfeld.23 Around 

August 25, 2003, Slahi was eating his dinner when three soldiers and a dogða German 

shepherd--burst into his cell. While a masked man beat Slahi in his face and ribs, another man 

ñstayed at the door holding the dogôs collar, ready to release it on [Slahi].ò24 Slahi was 

blindfolded, chained, and dragged to a truck. During the ride, two men continued to beat him. 

When he started to pray, Slahi was threatened, and was continually punched. His mouth and nose 

were bleeding and began to swell. The guards sprayed Ammonia in his nose to keep him awake.  

18. The guards then forced Slahi onto a boat, where the beatings continued. As part of the 

torture, his guards forced him to drink salt water. Slahi vomited, but they continued to pour the 

water into his mouth.25 At some point during the trip, a new team took over the interrogation. 

They stuffed Slahiôs clothes with ice cubes, from his neck down to his ankles. Whenever the ice 

melted, they replaced it with more cubes. They continued to punch Slahi at random intervals so 

he would not know when to expect it. Slahi described the fear this created: ñThere is nothing 

more terrorizing than making somebody expect a smash every single heartbeatò.26 

                                                      
22 Id., at 230. 
23 See supra note 15. 
24 Slahi, supra note 3, at 250. 
25 Id., at 253. 
26 Id., at 259. 
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19. At various points, Slahi undertook a hunger strike to stop his tortuous treatment. He 

wrote in his book: ñI was just wishing to pass out so I didnôt have to suffer, that was really the 

main reason for my hunger strike.ò However, this just led to more threats by his interrogator. The 

unnamed figure warned: ñYouôre not gonna die, Weôre gonna feed you up your ass.ò27  

20. Slahi was often unable to freely practice his religion. He was threatened with beatings for 

attempting to pray. He was also unable to take part in tradition religious practices either. He 

recalls: ñI was also forbidden to fast during the sacred month of Ramadan October 2003, and fed 

by forceò.28 

21. During the course of his torture, Slahi was constantly threatened. The threats werenôt just 

about torture either; they often referenced his death. One guard told him: ñIf you donôt cooperate, 

weôre going to put you in a hole and wipe your name out of our database.ò29 

22. Slahi was forced to interact with ñMr. Xò, the masked interrogator who was mentioned 

by the Senate Committee on Armed Service: ñOn July 17, 2003, the masked interrogator told 

Slahi about a dream he had had where he saw "four detainees that were chained together at the 

feet. They dug a hole that was six feet long, six feet deep, and four feet wide. Then he observed 

the detainees throw a plain, unpainted, pine casket with the number 760 [Slahi's internment serial 

number (lSN)] painted on it in orange on the ground.ò30 He describes the incredible terror that all 

of these threats caused in his diary:  

ñWhen [redacted] informed me about the intentions of his team, I was terrified. 

My mouth dried up, I started to sweat, my heart started to pound . . . I started to 

get nausea, a head-ache, a stomach-ache. . . . You donôt know how terrorizing it is 

for a human being to be threatened with torture. One literally becomes a child.ò31  

 

                                                      
27 Id., at 231. 
28 Id. 
29 Id., at 220-221. 
30 Committee on Armed Service, supra note 15, at 139. 
31 Slahi, supra note 3, at 216-217. 
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23. Slahiôs captors also threatened his family. His interrogators threatened to arrest his 

mother, and imprison her at Guantanamo as well.32 Slahi was even presented with forged letters 

from the Department of Defense ñannouncingò that this would happen.  

24. The ongoing torture Slahi suffered caused extreme mental stress. Slahi began to 

hallucinate. He heard the voices of his family, Koran readings, and even music from his home. 

This was corroborated by government documents as well. An October 17, 2003 email from a 

JTF-GTMO interrogator to LTC Diane Zierhoffer, a ITF-GTMO Behavioral Science 

Consultation Team (BSCT) Psychologist, stated that ñóSlahi told me he is "hearing voices' now... 

He is worried as he knows this is not normal.... By the way ... is this something that happens to 

people who have little external stimulus such as daylight, human interaction etc???? Seems a 

little creepy.ôò LTC Zierhoffer responded "sensory deprivation can cause hallucinations, usually 

visual rather than auditory, but you never know... In the dark you create things out of what little 

you have.ò Notwithstanding his U.S. captorôs understanding that Slahi was experiencing severe 

mental health problems as a result of the conditions of his confinement, his isolation and torture 

continued. 

25. In order to escape his torment, Slahi began to falsely confess to a number of crimes in the 

hopes that he might be spared additional torture. He describes his desperation in his diary: 

Now, thanks to the unbearable pain I was suffering, I had nothing to lose, and I 

allowed myself to say anything to satisfy my assailants. . . I answered all the 

questions [the interrogator] asked me with incriminating answers. I tried my best 

to make myself look as bad as I could, which is exactly the way you can make 

your interrogator happy. I made my mind up to spend the rest of my life in jail. 

You see most people can put up with being imprisoned unjustly, but nobody can 

bear agony day in and day out for the rest of his life.33  

 

                                                      
32 Id., at 249, 
33 Id., at 278. 
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Slahi wrote over one thousand pages of false material, both about himself and implicating others 

in terrorist activities. This effectively ended the worst of his torture.  

26. His treatment appalled even those assigned by the United States to work on his case. 

Marine Lt. Col. Stuart Couch was the officer assigned to prosecute Mohamedou Ould Slahi. 

Couch ñwithdr[ew] from the case when he uncovered information about Slahiôs treatment at the 

hands of his interrogators.ò34 

27. Despite enduring torture, and nearly fourteen years of incarceration at Guantanamo Bay, 

and notwithstanding his so-called confession, Mohamedou Slahi was never actually charged with 

a crime. U.S. Air Force Col. Morris Davis was the Chief Prosecutor for Military Commissions at 

Guantanamo. In a media interview, Col. Davis described the lack of any real evidence against 

Slahi: ñI remember a while after I got there, in early 2007, we had a big meeting with the CIA, 

the FBI, the Department of Defense, and the Department of Justice, and we got a briefing from 

the investigators who worked on the Slahi case, and their conclusion was thereôs a lot of smoke 

and no fire . . . They could never directly link him to any attempt to cause any real harm.ò35  

V. Legal Process 

28. In 2009, the ACLU joined Mr. Slahiôs legal team of Nancy Hollander, Theresa Duncan, 

and Linda Moreno in a habeas corpus petition arguing against his indefinite detention. In March 

2010, a federal judge ruled that the United States could not continue to detain Mr. Slahi. The 

judge found that allegations that Mr. Slahi participated in the so-called Millennium Plot to attack 

the Los Angeles airport and that he recruited two of the 9/11 hijackers were not supported by any 

credible evidence. The judge ultimately concluded that there was no basis for the governmentôs 

                                                      
34Larry Siems, ñHe Reminded Me of Forrest Gumpò, Slate (May 1, 2013) at 

http://www.slate.com/articles/news_and_politics/foreigners/2013/04/mohamedou_ould_slahi_s_guant_namo_memo

irs_an_interview_with_colonel_morris.html. 
35 Siems, supra note 34. 
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contention that Mr. Slahi was part of al Qaeda and thus ruled that he could not be detained 

indefinitely.36  

29. However, this ruling was appealed by the Obama administration. With his habeas case 

sitting in limbo, Slahi had to wait until he could appear before the Periodic Review Board to get 

another chance at release. One of his former guards actually submitted a letter of support to the 

Periodic Review Board advocating for Slahiôs release. He wrote glowingly of Slahi, going as far 

as to say he ñwould be pleased to welcome [Slahi] into his home.ò37 The letter is attached as 

Exhibit A. [for now itôs A, that will probably change] In July 2016, the Periodic Review Board 

granted his release, after determining that he poses no significant threat to the United States.  

30. Mohamedou Slahi hand-wrote a 466-page manuscript detailing his treatment in 2005. He 

wrote it in English, his fourth language. After a prolonged legal battle, it was finally declassified 

in 2012. ñGuantanamo Diaryò was published on January 20, 2015. Despite the heavy redaction 

in parts, it received widespread critical acclaim.  

31. Slahi was released to his home country of Mauritania in October 2016. His resilience in 

the face of the adversity of his situation is remarkable. His ability to travel outside the county has 

been limited.38 The return of his documents has been delayed by the Mauritian government, 

reportedly because of pressure by the United States. Despite this, he has been invited to 

conferences around Europe, and plans to travel in the future. 

VI. Violations of Law 

A. International Law 

                                                      
36 ñSlahi V. Obama - Habeas Challenge To Guant§namo Detentionò, ACLU (Oct 25, 2016)  at 

https://www.aclu.org/cases/slahi-v-obama-habeas-challenge-guantanamo-detention.  
37 [Redacted], Periodic Review Board letter. April 16, 2016. Exhibit A. 
38 UNC Human Rights Policy Lab interview with Mohamedou Slahi. March 1, 2017.  

https://www.aclu.org/cases/slahi-v-obama-habeas-challenge-guantanamo-detention
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32. Slahiôs treatment violates article 5 of the Universal Declaration of Human Rights, which 

states: ñNo one shall be subjected to torture or to cruel, inhuman or degrading treatment or 

punishment.ò39 

33. Slahiôs treatment violates article 7 of the International Covenant on Civil and Political 

Rights (ICCPR), which states: ñNo one shall be subjected to torture or to cruel, inhuman or 

degrading treatment or punishment.ò40 

34. Slahiôs treatment violates multiple sections of the Convention against Torture (CAT). 

Article 2 requires that: ñEach State Party shall take effective legislative, administrative, judicial 

or other measures to prevent acts of torture in any territory under its jurisdiction.ò And further, 

article 3(1), which states: ñNo State Party shall expel, return ("refouler") or extradite a person to 

another State where there are substantial grounds for believing that he would be in danger of 

being subjected to torture.ò41 The United States violated these provisions by the acts of torture 

committed by and under their supervision, and by rendering Slahi without any semblance of 

process to Jordan for torture.  

35. The practice of forced feeding also violates international law. In a document titled 

ñ"Legal Authority and Policy for Enteral Feeding at JTF-GTMO", an attorney from the 

Department of Defense admitted that ñinternational law and certain medical ethical standards 

holds that the 'forced feeding' of a mentally competent person capable of making an informed 

decision is never acceptableò.42  

                                                      
39 Universal Declaration of Human Rights, G.A. Res. 217 (III) A, U.N. Doc. A/RES/217(III) (Dec. 10, 1948). 
40 International Covenant on Civil and Political Rights, Dec. 16, 1966, S. Treaty Doc. No. 95-20, 6 I.L.M. 368 

(1967), 999 U.N.T.S. 171. 
41 Convention against Torture and Other Cruel, Inhuman or Degrading Treatment or Punishment, Dec. 10, 1984, 

1465 U.N.T.S. 85. 
42 Jason Leopold, ñThe Military Admitted Force-Feeding Gitmo Detainees Violates International Law and Medical 

Ethicsò, Vice (Jan 29, 2015) https://news.vice.com/article/how-a-military-memo-could-save-the-nurse-who-refused-

to-force-feed-guantanamo-detainees. 
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B. United States Federal Law 

36. In addition to the U.S. Constitution, Eighth Amendment which prohibits cruel and 

unusual punishment, Slahiôs treatment was in violation of the Torture Victims Protection Act of 

1991, which states ñAn individual who, under actual or apparent authority, or color of law, of 

any foreign nationð subjects an individual to torture shall, in a civil action, be liable for 

damages to that individual.ò43  

37. Slahiôs treatment also violates the federal law against torture, which states ñWhoever 

outside the United States commits or attempts to commit torture shall be fined under this title or 

imprisoned not more than 20 years.ò44 This statute defines torture as ñmeans an act committed by 

a person acting under the color of law specifically intended to inflict severe physical or mental 

pain or suffering (other than pain or suffering incidental to lawful sanctions) upon another person 

within his custody or physical controlò. 

38. Slahiôs treatment violated the War Crimes Act of 1996. This act prohibits torture, defined 

as:   

An act specifically intended to inflict severe physical or mental pain or suffering 

(other than pain or suffering incidental to lawful sanctions) upon another person 

within his custody or physical control for the purpose of obtaining information or 

a confession, punishment, intimidation, coercion, or any reason based on 

discrimination of any kind.45 

 

C. North Carolina State Law 

39. The rendition process, and detention of Slahi violated the North Carolina Constitution, 

which states ñNo person shall be taken, imprisoned, or disseized of his freehold, liberties, or 

                                                      
43 TORTURE VICTIM PROTECTION ACT OF 1991, 1992 Enacted H.R. 2092, 102 Enacted H.R. 2092, 106 Stat. 

73. 
44 18 U.S. Code § 2340A. 
45 18 U.S. Code § 2441. 
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privileges, or outlawed, or exiled, or in any manner deprived of his life, liberty, or property, but 

by the law of the land.ò46  

40. The rendition process, and detention of Slahi violated a North Carolina statute regarding 

kidnapping and abduction, which states: ñAny person who shall unlawfully confine, restrain, or 

remove from one place to another, any other person 16 years of age or over without the consent 

of such person, . . . shall be guilty of kidnapping.ò47 This statute extends liability to private 

companies in violation as well and includes conspiracy to commit such acts.  

VII.  Conclusion 

41. The United States, North Carolina and its political subdivisions, and Aero Contractors 

committed many violations of international, federal, and state law. 

42. These violations have harmed the reputation of the United States and have likely created 

greater threats to the national security of the country. The United States is foreclosed from 

assuming a global leadership position on matters pertaining to human rights. 

43. Perhaps most importantly, the human rights violations perpetrated against Mohamedou 

Slahi and his family have severely and permanently impacted their lives.  Slahi is owed 

accountability and repair for the harm he has suffered. 

 

                                                      
46 N.C. Const. art. 1, §19. 
47 N.C. Gen. Stat. § 14-39. 
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